



Dissertation

THE POTENTIAL OF ECOSYSTEM-BASED ADAPTATION:

Integration into Urban Planning and Effectiveness for Heat and Flood Mitigation

Teresa Maria Zölch

Technische Universität München

Lehrstuhl für Strategie und Management der Landschaftsentwicklung



Wissenschaftszentrum Weihenstephan für Ernährung, Landnutzung und Umwelt

Lehrstuhl für Strategie und Management der Landschaftsentwicklung

The potential of ecosystem-based adaptation: Integration into urban planning and effectiveness for heat and flood mitigation

Teresa Maria Zölch

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der Fakultät Wissenschaftszentrum Weihenstephan für Ernährung, Landnutzung und Umwelt der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines

Doktors der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitzender:	PrivDoz. Dr. Thomas Rötzer	
Prüfer der Dissertation:	1. Prof. DrIng. Stephan Pauleit	
	2. Prof. Dr. Christine Wamsler	
	3. Prof. DrIng. Werner Lang	

Die Dissertation wurde am 16.08.2017 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die Fakultät Wissenschaftszentrum Weihenstephan für Ernährung, Landnutzung und Umwelt am 30.11.2017angenommen.

"I took a walk in the woods and came out taller than the trees."

Henry David Thoreau

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Ein herzliches Dankeschön...

...möchte ich allen sagen, die mich bei der Erstellung meiner Doktorarbeit unterstützt und gefördert haben und so zu ihrem Gelingen beigetragen haben:

- Prof. Dr. Stephan Pauleit für die Möglichkeit, dieses Thema zu bearbeiten, die fachliche Förderung und die vielen konstruktiven Diskussionen, die diese Dissertation geformt haben,
- Prof. Dr. Christine Wamsler f
 ür die intensive inhaltliche Auseinandersetzung, die fruchtbare Zusammenarbeit und ihr offenes Ohr f
 ür alle Themen, die w
 ährend der Bearbeitungszeit aufgekommen sind,
- Dem Bayerischen Staatsministerium f
 ür Umwelt und Verbraucherschutz, insbesondere Prof. Dr. Tanja Gschlö
 ßl. Ohne die F
 örderung des Zentrum Stadtnatur und Klimaanpassung mit seinem Teilprojekt "Klimaschutz und gr
 üne Infrastruktur in der Stadt" w
 äre diese Doktorarbeit nicht m
 öglich geworden,
- Meinen Kollegen und Kolleginnen vom Zentrum Stadtnatur und Klimaanpassung für die spannende und lehrreiche Zusammenarbeit, die schönen gemeinsamen Erlebnisse und Erfolge, und vor allem Julia Brasche und Johannes Maderspacher für die produktiven Besprechungen auf der Dachterrasse,
- Meinen Kollegen und Kolleginnen vom Lehrstuhl für Strategie und Management der Landschaftsentwicklung für die gute und kollegiale Stimmung am Lehrstuhl und die schönen gemeinsamen Ausflüge,
- Meinen Weihenstephanern Mitstreitern und Mitstreiterinnen um die Promotion für den fachlichen Austausch, die gegenseitige Motivation und die vielen lustigen Momente bei unseren Treffen,
- Den Modellierungsexperten Helge Simon und Patrick Keilholz für ihre Unterstützung und geduldige Beantwortung all meiner Fragen zu ENVI-met und MIKE SHE,
- Meinen Co-Autoren und Co-Autorinnen für die fruchtbare und unkomplizierte Zusammenarbeit,
- Den Studenten und Studentinnen für ihre inhaltliche Zuarbeit und Unterstützung bei der Erstellung von Graphiken, insbesondere Farzan Banihashemi, Timo Limmer, Lisa Henze und Nora Fensch,
- Den Mitarbeitern und Mitarbeiterinnen der Landeshauptstadt München für die Bereitstellung von Daten und den Einblick in die Planungspraxis.

Und zum Schluss möchte ich meiner Familie und meinen Freunden ein großes Dankeschön sagen, denn ohne eure aufmunternde Unterstützung und euren Zuspruch hätte ich meine Doktorarbeit nicht fertigstellen können!

CONTENTS

Acknowledgementsiii
Abstractvii
Kurzfassungix
List of figures xi
List of tables xii
List of abbreviations xiii
List of publicationsxv
 Paper 1: Zölch, T., Wamsler, C., Pauleit, S. (2018). Integrating the ecosystem-based approach into municipal climate change adaptation strategies: The case of Germany. Journal of Cleaner Production, 170, 966-977. DOI: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.09.146
urban climate-proofing: An evaluation of heat mitigation measures at the micro-scale. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 20, 305-316. DOI: 10.1016/j.ufug.2016.09.011
Paper 3: Zölch, T., Henze, L., Keilholz, P., Pauleit, S. (2017). Regulating urban surface runoff through nature-based solutions - an assessment at the micro-scale. Environmental Research, 157, 135-144. DOI: 10.1016/j.envres.2017.05.023xvii
1. Introduction1
1.1 Background and problem definition1
1.2 Objectives of the thesis
1.3 Structure of the thesis
2. Key concepts and analytical framework
2.1 Urban adaptation to climate change
2.1.1 Adapting to heat
2.1.2 Adapting to heavy rain
2.2 Concepts for climate change adaptation by urban greening
2.2.1 Ecosystem-based adaptation (EbA)14
2.2.2 Ecosystem services (ES)14
2.2.3 Urban green infrastructure (UGI)

	2.2.4	Nature-based solutions (NBS)	16
2	.3	Analytical framework	17
3.	Meth	odology	19
3	.1	Overall research approach	19
3	.2	Geographical focus	19
3	.3	Analysis of municipal adaptation strategies	20
	3.3.1	Data collection	21
	3.3.2	Data analysis	21
3	.4	Modelling approaches	23
	3.4.1	Study area	23
	3.4.2	Analysis of extreme weather events	25
	3.4.3	Microclimatic modelling with ENVI-met	28
	3.4.4	Hydrological modelling with MIKE SHE	30
	3.4.5	Comparability of approaches	35
3	.5	Developing greening scenarios	36
	3.5.1	Selected types of urban green infrastructure	36
	3.5.2	Development of scenarios	38
	3.5.3	Definition of vegetation profiles	42
3	.6	Assessment of multiple ecosystem services	43
4.	Resu	lts	44
4	.1	Integration of EbA into urban adaptation strategies	44
4	.2	EbA potential to regulate heat events	47
4	.3	EbA potential to regulate heavy rain events	49
4	.4	Synergetic effects for heat and flood mitigation	51
5.	Discu	ission	54
5	.1	Current status of EbA in strategic urban planning	54
5	.2	The regulating potential of EbA	56
5	.3	Multifunctionality of EbA	59
5	.4	Limitations of the modelling approach	60

	5.5	Implications for urban planning	62
6.	Conc	lusion	67
	6.1	Summary of key results	67
	6.2	Outlook and future research	68
R	eference	S	70

ABSTRACT

Future climate change is expected to increase the frequency and intensity of extreme events such as heat and heavy rain. Cities are especially vulnerable to those climatic impacts due to their structural characteristics – the density of the urban environment, surface sealing and lack of greening –, population density, and their important role in the economy. Consequently, climate adaptation is a focus of urban planning and, especially, ecosystem-based approaches are gaining increasing attention. These approaches use ecosystem services, provided by urban green infrastructure elements, to support society's adaptation to climate change. However, the role of ecosystem-based adaptation and related measures in municipal adaptation activities remains unclear. Moreover, there is little comparative information available to support planners in the selection of effective ecosystem-based adaptation measures.

Against this background, this dissertation aims to increase the understanding of the current state of integration of ecosystem-based adaptation in Germany, and provide evidence-based knowledge of the potential of different types of green infrastructure to regulate climatic extreme events. This information can be used to support the implementation of ecosystem-based adaptation measures for the development of climate-resilient cities.

First, this thesis provides insights into the integration of ecosystem-based approaches and measures in current municipal adaptation strategies in Germany. It concludes that while the term itself is not referred to directly, references to the underlying components (i.e. ecosystem services, biodiversity and green infrastructure) can be identified. Greening measures of various types are included in many of the assessed adaptation strategies, which also acknowledge their multiple benefits for urban planning. At the same time, the results confirm that more studies are needed to provide evidence of these multiple benefits.

Second, a scenario modelling approach is developed to quantify the potential of ecosystem-based adaptation measures to regulate extreme climatic events. A set of scenarios based on various types and quantities of green infrastructure are developed, to provide comparable information on their potential to regulate heat and heavy rain events. A dense urban area in Munich, Germany is taken as a case study. The models show that under future climate conditions heat stress reaches extreme levels, and nearly all rainfall is discharged as surface runoff. It is shown that mitigating these effects is a function of the type of green infrastructure, and the quantity of its implementation. For heat mitigation, the quality of vegetation has the largest effect. Trees prove to be the most effective measure, as they provide both shading and evapotranspiration. With respect to runoff mitigation, increasing the quantity of green spaces, and consequently water storage capacities, is most influential. More specifically, trees can intercept, evapotranspire and infiltrate rain water, while green roof substrates increase retention

capacities. While all types of urban green infrastructure contribute to climate change adaptation, their role differs as a function of their ability to provide one of two functions: shading of open spaces and building surfaces (for heat mitigation), and infiltration capacities (for runoff mitigation).

These results have practical implications for urban planners who are seeking to enhance the integration of ecosystem-based adaptation into their work, and who must select the best ecosystem-based adaptation measures to reduce both heat stress and the volume of surface runoff. Hence, the results provide decision-makers with a sound base of evidence that they can draw upon when arguing for effective climate change adaptation using ecosystem-based approaches.

KURZFASSUNG

Durch den Klimawandel häufen und intensivieren sich aller Voraussicht nach extreme Hitze- und Starkregenereignisse. Von diesen Klimawandelauswirkungen sind Städte besonders betroffen aufgrund ihrer strukturellen Charakteristika: dichte Bebauungsstruktur, ausgedehnte Oberflächenversiegelung, geringer Grünanteil und hohe Bevölkerungsdichte. Klimaanpassung ist daher ein wichtiges Thema in der Stadtplanung und ins Zentrum des Interesses rücken dabei in zunehmendem Maße ökosystembasierte Ansätze. Diese nutzen Ökosystemleistungen, welche von urbanen grünen Infrastrukturen bereitgestellt werden, um die Anpassung an klimatische Veränderungen zu unterstützen. Unklar ist noch, welche Rolle das Konzept der ökosystem-basierten Klimaanpassung und die daraus resultierenden Maßnahmen derzeit in städtischen Klimaanpassungsaktivitäten spielen. Weiterhin sind wenig vergleichbare Informationen verfügbar, die Planer bei der Auswahl effektiver ökosystembasierter Klimaanpassungsmaßnahmen unterstützen.

Vor diesem Hintergrund ist es das Ziel der vorliegenden Dissertation, das Verständnis für die derzeitige Integration der ökosystem-basierten Klimaanpassung in Deutschland zu wecken sowie evidenzbasiertes Wissen über das Regulationspotential verschiedener grüner Infrastruktur-Typen zu generieren. Damit kann die Umsetzung ökosystem-basierter Anpassungsmaßnahmen zur Entwicklung klimaresilienter Städte unterstützt werden.

Zunächst vermittelt diese Thesis Einblick in die Integration von ökosystem-basierten Ansätzen und Maßnahmen in städtische Klimaanpassungsstrategien in Deutschland. Aus dieser Untersuchung ergibt sich, dass, obwohl dieser Terminus nicht explizit verwendet wird, Referenzen zu verwandten Konzepten (wie Ökosytemleistungen, Biodiversität und grüne Infrastruktur) identifiziert werden konnten. Begrünungsmaßnahmen verschiedenen Typs waren in vielen der untersuchten Anpassungsstrategien berücksichtigt, besonders in Zusammenhang mit ihren multiplen Nutzen für die Stadtplanung. Allerdings lassen die Ergebnisse deutlich werden, dass weitere Studien nötig sind, um diese Nutzen umfassend aufzuzeigen.

In einem zweiten Schritt wird daraufhin ein Ansatz zur Szenarienmodellierung entwickelt, um die Leistungen ökosystem-basierter Klimaanpassungsmaßnahmen zur Regulation von klimatischen Extremereignissen zu quantifizieren. Durch das Testen von Szenarien zu verschiedenen grünen Infrastruktur-Typen und deren Quantität werden vergleichbare Informationen zu ihrem Regulationspotential von Hitze- und Starkregenereignissen bereitgestellt. Unter zukünftigen Klimabedingungen zeigt sich, dass der Hitzestress im Außenraum eines dicht bebauten Innenstadtviertels in München extreme Belastungsstufen erreicht und fast der gesamte Niederschlag oberflächlich abfließt. Der Beitrag der Szenarien zur Verminderung dieser Effekte hängt vom Typ der grünen Infrastruktur und der Quantität ihrer Umsetzung ab. Für die Hitzeregulierung hat die Qualität

der Vegetation den größten Einfluss. Dabei sind Bäume durch die gleichzeitige Bereitstellung von Verschattung und Evapotranspiration die effektivste Maßnahme. Für die Abflussregulation sind das Erhöhen der Quantität des Grüns und die damit einhergehende Erhöhung der Wasserspeicherkapazität am einflussreichsten. Bäume ermöglichen hier Interzeption, Evapotranspiration und Infiltration von Regenwasser, während Gründächer die Retentionskapazitäten in ihren Substraten erhöhen. Folglich sind alle untersuchten Typen grüner Infrastruktur komplementär für das Erreichen von Klimaanpassung an extreme Hitze- und Starkregenereignisse, auch wenn ihr Beitrag dazu in Abhängigkeit von der Bereitstellung zweier verschiedener Funktionen variiert, zum einen der Verschattung von Freiflächen sowie Gebäudeoberflächen zur Hitzeregulation, zum anderen der Infiltration zur Abflussregulation.

Für die Stadtplanung haben die vorgestellten Ergebnisse praktische Auswirkungen, um die Integration von ökosystem-basierter Klimaanpassung in die Planung auszuweiten und die strategische Auswahl und Platzierung von Maßnahmen zu unterstützen, so dass Hitzestress und Abflussvolumen reduziert werden. Entscheidungsträger erhalten also eine Argumentationsgrundlage, um sich für eine effektive Klimaanpassung mithilfe ökosystem-basierter Ansätze einzusetzen.

LIST OF FIGURES

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Classes of thermal stress of the thermal comfort index Physiological Equivalent Temperature
(PET)11
Table 2: The two heavy rain events selected for the analysis
Table 3: Meteorological input data for ENVI-met V4 29
Table 4: Vegetation classes used for the representation of current vegetation in the ENVI-met model
Table 5: Parameter setup for the MIKE SHE model.
Table 6: Green share and permeable surfaces of all scenarios calculated by the two models40
Table 7: Characteristics of the selected vegetation profiles used in greening scenarios
Table 8: Hydrological processes in m ³ and % for the Baseline scenario under current and future climate
conditions
Table 9: The potential for heat and runoff regulation expressed as relative change compared to the
Baseline scenario under current climate for each greening scenario under current and future climate
conditions
Table 10: Vegetation characteristics for optimising heat and/or runoff mitigation

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ADI	Alternating directly implicit solution technique		
BMBF	German Federal Ministry of Education and Research		
CFD	Computational fluid dynamics		
DEM	Digital elevation model		
DWD	German Weather Service (Deutscher Wetterdienst)		
EbA	Ecosystem-based adaptation		
EC	European Commission		
ES	Ecosystem services		
ET ₀	Reference evapotranspiration		
FLL	Research Society for Landscape Development and Construction (Forschungsgesellschaft Landschaftsentwicklung Landschaftsbau e. V.)		
GALK	Heads of the German Parks Departments Conference (Deutsche Gartenamtsleiter- konferenz)		
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change		
IUCN	International Union for Conservation of Nature		
KLAM	Climate species matrix (Klimaartenmatrix)		
LAD	Leaf area density		
LAI	Leaf area index		
LCZ	Local climate zone		
LID	Low impact development		
LMU	Ludwig-Maximilians Universität München		
MA	Millennium ecosystem assessment		
NBS	Nature-based solutions		
NDVI	Normalized difference vegetation index		
OUTSET	Outdoor standard effective temperature		
PET	Physiologically equivalent temperature		
PMV	Predicted mean vote		

SUDS	Sustainable urban drainage systems
Ta	Air temperature
TEEB	The economics of ecosystems and biodiversity
T _{max}	Maximum air temperature
T_{min}	Minimum air temperature
T _{mrt}	Mean radiant temperature
UGI	Urban green infrastructure
UHI	Urban heat island
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention for Climate Change
USA	United States of America
UTCI	Universal thermal climate index
WSUD	Water sensitive urban design

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

This cumulative thesis is based on the work published and submitted in the following three original articles. At the time of thesis submission two articles have already been published and one article was still under review.

Paper 1: Zölch, T., Wamsler, C., Pauleit, S. (2018). Integrating the ecosystem-based approach into municipal climate change adaptation strategies: The case of Germany. Journal of Cleaner Production, 170, 966-977. DOI: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.09.146.

Summary

Climate change impacts are a key challenge for sustainable urban development. To address this challenge, ecosystem-based adaptation (EbA), i.e., the use of ecosystem services and biodiversity to help people adapt to climate change, is increasingly being considered as an alternative or complement to traditional, engineering-based approaches. However, little research on ecosystem-based adaptation has been carried out in urban areas, and empirical evidence of its effectiveness and uptake in strategic adaptation planning is particularly lacking. Against this background, this study investigates the implementation of urban EbA in strategic adaptation planning. Based on a comparative analysis of all German municipalities with more than 100,000 inhabitants, it examines the integration of EbA into municipal adaptation strategies. The results show that there is, so far, no comprehensive uptake of the EbA concept. While current strategies differ significantly in their type, structure, scope, maturity and content, overall the EbA concept remains implicit. 76 % of the assessed strategies include some kind of ecosystem-based adaptation measures, which focus on enhancing the conservation, restoration, creation or sustainable management of ecosystems, but comprehensive approaches are missing, and only 25 % of all strategies highlight the multiple benefits of EbA measures. We conclude that better promotion and comprehensive mainstreaming of EbA (e.g., through more distributed urban governance and enhancing research, top-down policies and bottom-up activities) is urgently needed to foster sustainable urban development.

Author's contribution

The first author T. Zölch developed the research design and theoretical framework, compiled the desk work and composed and wrote the manuscript under the supervision of the co-authors. Both co-authors contributed to the manuscript by scientific advice and language editing.

Paper 2: Zölch, T., Maderspacher, J., Wamsler, C., Pauleit, S. (2016). Using green infrastructure for urban climate-proofing: An evaluation of heat mitigation measures at the micro-scale. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 20, 305-316. DOI: 10.1016/j.ufug.2016.09.011.

Summary

Urban green infrastructure (UGI) has been increasingly promoted as a key measure to mitigate heat stress in cities caused by the urban heat island effect and climate change impacts, including climate variability and extremes. However, comparable information concerning the performance of different UGI types to moderate such impacts is mostly lacking. This creates serious challenges for urban planners who need to decide on the most effective measures while considering spatial and administrative constraints. This study investigates how different types and quantities of UGI, i.e. trees, green roofs, and green facades, affect pedestrian thermal comfort. The study was applied to high-density residential areas under current and future climatic conditions. Climate change will on average increase afternoon Physiological Equivalent Temperature (PET) values by 2.4 K; however, this could be vastly reduced by different UGI scenarios. Planting trees had the strongest impact with an average PET reduction of 13 % compared with existing vegetation. Trees shade open spaces and provide evapotranspirative cooling. Another valuable adaptation option is green facades, which have mitigating effects of 5 %–10 %. In contrast, the effects of green roofs were negligible. Our results indicate that increasing the share of green cover did not directly correspond to the magnitude of the PET reduction. Placing vegetation strategically in heat-exposed areas is more effective than just aiming at a high percentage of green cover. We conclude that our extensive comparative analysis provides empirical evidence to support UGI on the micro-scale and assists planners and decision-makers to effectively select and prioritise concrete measures to adapt to climate change.

Author's contribution

The first author developed the methodological framework and scenario set-up in discussion with the co-authors. All modelling work, data analysis and writing of the manuscript was done by T. Zölch. J. Maderspacher supported the data analysis methodologically and all co-authors contributed to the manuscript by scientific advice and language editing.

Paper 3: Zölch, T., Henze, L., Keilholz, P., Pauleit, S. (2017). Regulating urban surface runoff through nature-based solutions - an assessment at the micro-scale. Environmental Research, 157, 135-144. DOI: 10.1016/j.envres.2017.05.023.

Summary

Urban development leads to changes of surface cover that disrupt the hydrological cycle in cities. In particular, impermeable surfaces and the removal of vegetation reduce the ability to intercept, store and infiltrate rainwater. Consequently, the volume of stormwater runoff and the risk of local flooding rises. This is further amplified by the anticipated effects of climate change leading to an increased frequency and intensity of heavy rain events. Hence, urban adaptation strategies are required to mitigate those impacts. A nature-based solution, more and more promoted in politics and academia, is urban green infrastructure as it contributes to the resilience of urban ecosystems by providing services to maintain or restore hydrological functions. However, this poses a challenge to urban planners in deciding upon effective adaptation measures as they often lack information on the performance of green infrastructure to moderate surface runoff. It remains unclear what type of green infrastructure (e.g. trees, green roofs) offers the highest potential to reduce discharge volumes and to what extent. Against this background, this study provides an approach to gather quantitative evidence on green infrastructure's regulation potential. We use a micro-scale scenario modelling approach of different variations of green cover under current and future climatic conditions. The scenarios are modelled with MIKE SHE, an integrated hydrological simulation tool, and applied to a high density residential area of perimeter blocks in Munich, Germany. The results reveal that both trees and green roofs increase water storage capacities and hence reduce surface runoff, although the main contribution of trees lies in increasing interception and evapotranspiration, whereas green roofs allow for more retention through water storage in their substrate. With increasing precipitation intensities as projected under climate change their regulating potential decreases due to limited water storage capacities. The performance of both types stays limited to a maximum reduction of 2.4 % compared to the baseline scenario, unless the coverage of vegetation and permeable surfaces is significantly increased as a 14.8 % reduction is achieved by greening all roof surfaces. We conclude that the study provides empirical support for the effectiveness of urban green infrastructure as nature-based solution to stormwater regulation and assists planners and operators of sewage systems in selecting the most effective measures for implementation and estimation of their effects.

Author's contribution

The first author developed the methodological framework and research design of the manuscript supervised by S. Pauleit, and carried out the computational modelling as well as the composition and writing of the paper. L. Henze and P. Keilholz assisted in setting up and calibrating the modelling software. All co-authors contributed to the manuscript by discussing the work progress, giving scientific advice and language editing.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background and problem definition

Climate change is expected to increase climatic variability and extremes such as heat waves and heavy rain (IPCC, 2014). Recent weather records confirm a worldwide trend: the years 2014, 2015 and 2016 successively broke the record for the highest annual mean temperature globally, with an air temperature 1.1 °C higher than pre-industrial levels in 2016 (WMO, 2017). The situation in Germany followed this worldwide trend: warmer conditions were accompanied by severe heat waves with a maximum temperature of 37.8 °C in summer, and exceptionally low annual precipitation. When it did rain, it was exceptionally intense, with maximum daily volumes of up to 150.7 l/m² (DWD, 2016a). The German Weather Service (DWD) defines days with maximum air temperature exceeding 30 °C as heat days, while heavy rain is defined as precipitation that exceeds 10 mm/hour (DWD, 2015, 2016b). Over the course of the past century, almost all weather stations in Germany have registered an increasing number of heat waves in July and August, and extremely hot summers (notably 2003) are increasingly frequent. Similarly, heavy rain events have become more frequent and more intense over the past 50 years (Zebisch et al., 2005).

Vulnerability to climate change is commonly defined as a function of exposure, sensitivity and adaptive capacity (Solomon et al., 2007). It varies as a function of the spatial setting, population group and infrastructure type and the ecological, social and technical systems of cities are generally thought to be particularly exposed (Revi et al., 2014; Wamsler, 2014). The reasons for this situation include high population density, the number of built structures, the extent of sealed surfaces, and the lack of green space compared to rural areas (EEA, 2012; Kuttler, 2010; Wamsler et al., 2013).

On the one hand, built structures and human activities create an urban climate that shows specific characteristics compared to the regional climate (Oke, 1980). It is especially represented by higher air and surface temperatures, reduced wind speeds and a lack of air exchange and evapotranspiration due to altered energy exchanges (Kuttler, 2010; Oke, 1980). The thermal load found in cities is described as the urban heat island (UHI) effect. Artificial surfaces absorb incoming solar radiation and heat up more than natural surfaces due to higher albedo and thermal storage capacities (Oke, 1982). Built structures reduce wind speed and air exchange, and contribute to the problem of warmer air within the city boundaries (Oke, 2011). The UHI effect is both seasonal and diurnal (Scherer & Endlicher, 2013).

Artificial surfaces store heat during the day, and release it during the evening and night, which counterbalances nocturnal cooling. In Berlin, for example, the recorded difference has reached a maximum of 11 K (and an average of 4–5 K). The UHI effect is more intense in summer (Fenner et al., 2014; Oke, 2011).

For the urban inhabitants the UHI effect increases the risk of heat stress, a condition where the body is unable to release sufficient energy to prevent its temperature rising (Kovats & Hajat, 2008). The consequences can be severe. For example, the summer of 2003 is estimated to have led to over 70,000 deaths in Europe (Robine et al., 2008). It can also reduce productivity (Daanen et al., 2013) and increase demand for energy in order to cool the indoor climate (Akbari et al., 2001).

On the other hand, changes to surface cover disrupt the hydrological cycle, and reduce the capacity to intercept, evapotranspire, store and infiltrate rainwater (Bridgman et al., 1995; Douglas, 1983). High rainfall is transformed into surface runoff, and the urban hydrological system discharges water outside the city boundaries (Endreny, 2006). Other characteristics of the urban water balance are base flow losses, reduced groundwater recharge and higher concentrations of water-borne pollutants (Endreny, 2006; Fletcher et al., 2013; Miller et al., 2014; Oke, 1987). During a heavy rain event, the volume of runoff, especially peak runoff, increases (Loftus et al., 2011), as does the risk of overloading the sewage system. Sewage overflow can have severe impacts with negative consequences for health and infrastructure, especially when combined with the supply system (Endreny, 2006; Loftus et al., 2011). For example, in 2011, the Danish capital of Copenhagen experienced a severe cloudburst – over 150 mm of precipitation fell within three hours. Many of the city's streets and cellars were flooded. Citizens were put at risk, infrastructure was disrupted and high insurance claims followed (City of Copenhagen, 2011; Kruse, 2016).

In addition, climate change contributes to the degradation of the climatic and hydrological situation in cities (Coumou & Robinson, 2013). For example, in the German city of Munich, the regional climate model REMO indicates that the frequency and magnitude of both heat days and heavy rain events will increase (Jacob, 2009). Figure 1 illustrates the projected increase in heat days (left) and heavy rain events (right) under different Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) emission scenarios, compared to the reference period of 1970 to 2000 (Nakicenovic et al., 2000). C20 represents the reference period, B1 an integrated and ecologically-friendly future world, A1B a balanced use of all energy sources, and A2 represents a growing population and economy (Nakicenovic et al., 2000). For the period 1970–2000, temperatures reach a maximum (T_{max}) of 37.6 °C, compared to 43.2 °C for the period 2060–2090 in scenario A1B. In the Munich region, the current average magnitude of a heavy rain event in the reference period is 14.6 mm/hour, with a return period of 0.5 years. In the climate change scenario A2, this is expected to increase to 17.8 mm/hour, with a return period of one year, for the period 2060–2090 (KOSTRA-DWD, 2000).



Figure 1: Projected increase in the number of heat days (left, $T_{max} > 30$ °C) and heavy rain events (right, precipitation > 10 mm/h) for IPCC Special Report on Emissions Scenarios (SRES) until 2090, compared to the reference period (C20, 1970–2000) for Munich, based on the REMO model.

Climate change impacts express themselves differently within a city, which makes a small-scale assessment beyond the cities' boundaries indispensable. Heterogeneous structures interact distinctively with the urban atmosphere. They can be classified into urban areas of similar size (e.g. a street block) that share the same morphological characteristics (Gill et al., 2008; Roth, 1980). These urban morphology types have also been called urban structural types, or urban fabric types (e.g. Pauleit & Breuste, 2011; Pauleit & Duhme, 2000; Stiles et al., 2014b). The typology is used to assess intra-urban variance due to the roughness of elements, building materials, surface sealing and evapotranspiration rates, which determine environmental performance and exposure to climate change impacts (Mathey et al., 2011; Pauleit & Duhme, 2000; Stewart & Oke, 2012). Scherer et al. (1999) showed how the concept of climatopes, representing areas with similar combinations of climatic factors could be used by urban planners to differentiate the effects of urban morphology on the urban climate. Stewart and Oke (2012) used the idea of climatopes to develop the concept of local climate zones (LCZ) to refer to areas that have a uniform surface cover, structure, materials, human activity and characterise a temperature regime. Their standardised approach to site selection and description is increasingly adopted in urban climate studies (Stewart et al., 2014). Similarly, several studies have assessed differences in the hydrological behaviour of urban morphologies (e.g. Gill et al., 2007; Pauleit & Duhme, 2000; Sjöman & Gill, 2014).

Cities need to adapt to climate change, and effective adaptation strategies are indispensable to achieve this (EEA, 2012; Perks, 2011; Revi et al., 2014). Climate change adaptation refers to adjustments that are made in response to actual or expected climate effects that aim to reduce the vulnerability of an ecological, social, economic or technical system, either by reducing exposure or sensitivity, or by increasing adaptive capacity (Noble et al., 2014). It enhances a system's resilience in the face of current or future impacts of climate change. Resilience describes the ability of urban systems to rebound, resist and recover from climate change impacts (IPCC, 2012). Adapting a system is an active process that

includes the planning and implementation of measures to prevent, moderate, cope with and take advantage of climatic stimuli and their effects (Adger et al., 2005). Measures are included in municipal adaptation strategies that cities are gradually developing. The development passes through different phases and several guidelines describe this process (e.g. Hallegatte et al., 2011; ICLEI, 2010; Lehmann et al., 2015; Prutsch et al., 2014; Wamsler, 2017). For instance, ICLEI (2010) distinguishes five milestones:

- 1) Initiation of the process, including the identification of the problem and stakeholders;
- 2) Research on the problem, including risk and vulnerability assessments;
- 3) Plan of action, including strategy development and selection of measures;
- 4) Implementation of measures, including the evaluation of site conditions;
- 5) Monitoring of effectivity, including revisions of adaptation strategies.

It is important, in all phases, to sustainably mainstream adaptation activities into urban planning practices. Mainstreaming refers to the integration of considerations into all affected sectors, and is designed to holistically reduce climate change impacts and include all relevant stakeholders in the process (Wamsler, 2017; Wamsler & Pauleit, 2016).

Climate adaptation takes various forms of applied actions (Noble et al., 2014). Hard approaches (grey infrastructure) refer to engineering measures designed to withstand climatic variability and extremes (e.g. levees, technical shading, irrigation systems), while soft measures encourage adaptive behaviour by, for example, providing information and incentives (EEA, 2012; Noble et al., 2014). Green approaches increase urban resilience, as ecosystem services are provided by green and blue urban spaces (EC, 2009; Noble et al., 2014). Benedict and McMahon (2002) define this urban green infrastructure (UGI) as "an interconnected network of green space that conserves natural ecosystem values and functions and provides associated benefits to human populations", which embraces the ecosystem services approach (Daily, 1997; Doswald & Estrella, 2015; Hansen & Pauleit, 2014; MA, 2005). UGI can constitute of various types at different scales. For instance, parks are found at city scale, while trees are found at local scale (Gaffin et al., 2012).

Academia has adopted the term ecosystem-based adaptation (EbA) to refer to ecosystem services and biodiversity that help society to adapt to climate change impacts (CBD, 2009). Several authors have claimed that it provides a more flexible, cost-effective, participatory and broadly-applicable approach to climate change adaptation than conventional approaches (Chong, 2014; Girot et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2012; Revi et al., 2014; Vignola et al., 2009). In the context of urban climate change adaptation, it can provide services that regulate the urban climate and hydrology, for example by cooling the environment through shading and evapotranspiration, and reducing runoff rates (e.g. Akbari et al., 2001; Armson et al., 2013; Lafortezza et al., 2009; Rahman et al., 2011; Vanuytrecht et al., 2014). Moreover, the adoption of EbA has many potential co-benefits for urban planning (Doswald et al., 2014; Jones et

INTRODUCTION

al., 2012; Noble et al., 2014; Ojea, 2015; Wamsler et al., 2014). For instance, vegetation can sequester carbon and contribute to climate change mitigation; it can also filter noise and pollutants to enhance air quality, provide recreation opportunities by offering aesthetic values, improve quality of life, and increase biodiversity (e.g. Bolund & Hunhammar, 1999; Davies et al., 2011; Strohbach & Haase, 2012; Strohbach et al., 2013). Because of its multifunctionality EbA is gaining attention as a so-called 'no-regret' option, reflecting the uncertainties inherent in climate projections and the difficulty of effectively tailoring adaptation measures (Füssel, 2007; Hallegatte, 2009; Naumann et al., 2014).

Recent reviews of research into the potential contribution of EbA to effective climate change adaptation have concluded that a lack of knowledge of governance structures and the effectiveness of current applications have hindered its practical implementation (Brink et al., 2016; Doswald et al., 2014; Munroe et al., 2012; Naumann et al., 2011; Ojea, 2015). Both research and the integration of EbA into local adaptation planning, particularly urban planning, is still in its infancy (Brink et al., 2016), although there is increased political support and recognition as adaptation option (Wamsler, 2015; Wamsler et al., 2016). For that reason, Geneletti and Zardo (2016) carried out an initial, qualitative analysis of the impact of EbA measures on adaptation planning in pioneering European cities. At the same time, pathways for mainstreaming EbA in municipal governance, and at project level, have been investigated in case studies in South Africa, Sweden and Germany (Pasquini & Cowling, 2014; Wamsler, 2015; Wamsler et al., 2014; Wamsler et al., 2016; Wamsler & Pauleit, 2016). However, there is still a lack of systematic and quantitative analyses of how EbA and derived measures are integrated into municipal adaptation strategies in a single country (compare Geneletti & Zardo, 2016). The role of the EbA concept and related adaptation measures in municipal adaptation activities remains unclear (Wamsler et al., 2014).

At the same time, there is an increasing demand for knowledge and information about the climate adaptation benefits of EbA, notably whether EbA measures are actually effective when implemented. So far, most benefits have been shown by empirical and modelling studies that focus on single types of measures provided by UGI. For instance, many studies of heat stress have highlighted the importance of urban trees in providing shade and evapotranspiration. Hall et al. (2012) and Skelhorn et al. (2014) found a reduction in maximum air and surface temperatures from planting additional trees, while Moser et al. (2015) and Fahmy et al. (2010) found a relation between the magnitude of climatic benefits and tree dimension and leaf area. Other studies have shown that green facades can lower mean radiant temperatures (Jänicke et al., 2014) and that green roofs contribute to improving thermal comfort, although the effects are smaller than of street-level vegetation (Lobaccaro & Acero, 2015; Ng et al., 2012; Perini & Magliocco, 2014). In the context of regulating surface runoff, studies have found that the single types of UGI have positive effects (e.g. Armson et al., 2013; Czemiel Berndtsson, 2010; Gregoire & Clausen, 2011; Nagase & Dunnett, 2012; Schroll et al., 2011; Vanuytrecht et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2008). The potential of trees to reduce surface runoff through interception and infiltration

INTRODUCTION

was for instance assessed by Armson et al. (2013) who compared plots covered by asphalt with those planted with trees, while Wang et al. (2008) looked at complete catchments. The review carried out by Czemiel Berndtsson (2010) assessed the performance of green roofs and identified various influential factors, including the type of green roof and the selection of vegetation. Gregoire and Clausen (2011) found that extensive green roofs retained 50 % of rainfall, and Nagase and Dunnett (2012) found that grass is more effective than other vegetation. The performance of a single UGI type has only rarely been assessed under projected climate conditions (Hiemstra et al., 2017)

There is therefore little comparative information available to support planners in the selection of appropriate adaptation measures. Decision-makers need to identify the type and quantity of EbA measure that is most effective in moderating extreme events, while at the same time considering spatial and administrative constraints and balancing other sustainable urban planning priorities (Bowler et al., 2010). Planners often lack information on the performance of different types of UGI, while the regulating functions of EbA measures are not taken into account in urban planning (Ahiablame et al., 2012; Gill et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2012; Matthews et al., 2015). Norton et al. (2015) were the first to attempt to advise urban planners on how to prioritise greening interventions for a particular location. They argued that heat-stressed open spaces need to be planted with UGI types that maximally reduce solar exposure. However, their study did not assess the effectiveness of different interventions, or the regulating effects on surface runoff, or changes in climatic conditions. Hence, it remains unclear what type of UGI is best able to counteract the climate change impacts of both heat and heavy rain events, under current and future climate conditions, and to what extent.

1.2 Objectives of the thesis

The overall aim of this thesis is to increase knowledge on the effectiveness of different EbA measures, in order to support decision-making in the context of urban climate adaptation planning. It focuses on Germany, which is a leader in climate change governance (Wamsler, 2017). A comprehensive, tailored knowledge base that can be used by municipal administrations must begin with an understanding of the current state of knowledge and application of EbA in urban planning, and what information is lacking. Therefore, it is indispensable to assess the current status of EbA and its integration into the municipal adaptation strategies of selected German cities (Paper 1). This initial assessment confirmed the hypothesis that there is a lack of evidence of the adaptation potential of different types of UGI that could guide urban adaptation planning (Paper 2 and 3). Hence, the specific objectives of this thesis are:

- Objective 1:

Assess the uptake of the EbA concept and EbA measures in the municipal adaptation strategies of selected German cities. The aim is to identify knowledge gaps in urban planning, and ways to improve the integration of EbA into strategic adaptation planning.

INTRODUCTION

- Objective 2:

Quantify the potential of different types of UGI for heat mitigation and, consequently, increased outdoor thermal comfort given current and future climate conditions.

- Objective 3:

Quantify the potential of different types of UGI for runoff mitigation and, consequently, reduced discharge volumes given current and future climate conditions.

- Objective 4:

Evaluate the potential of EbA to generate synergies for heat and runoff mitigation by comparing regulating effects and specific functions.

Finally, in order to translate the scientific results of this thesis into recommendations that can be used in decision-making and to prioritise the use of different types of UGI to mitigate climate change by EbA, the practical implications for urban planning are discussed.

Objectives 1, 2 and 3 relate directly to the research questions posed in Papers 1, 2 and 3, while Objective 4 is only addressed in the present thesis. The objectives of Papers 1, 2 and 3 are given below:

- Paper 1: How, and where, is the EbA concept integrated into municipal adaptation strategies?
 What types of EbA measures are considered? Why are these specific measures considered?
 What are their expected benefits?
- Paper 2: How does climate change affect the urban microclimate and pedestrians' thermal comfort? To what extent can the type and quantity of UGI improve pedestrian thermal comfort under current and future climate conditions?
- Paper 3: How does the intensity of summer rain events influence urban surface runoff? To what extent can the type and quantity of UGI regulate urban surface runoff after heavy rain events of varying intensities?

1.3 Structure of the thesis

To improve the decision-making for EbA in urban adaptation planning, Paper 1 develops an analytical framework to assess the current level of integration of the EbA concept, and EbA measures, into the adaptation strategies of large German cities. The findings support the hypothesis that integration could be more extensive, as they provide evidence of the effectiveness of EbA measures in the German context. Based on these results, Papers 2 and 3 examine the potential of different types of UGI that can be implemented as EbA measures to provide regulating ecosystem services, and to help in adapting to the impacts of either extreme heat (Paper 2) or heavy rain events (Paper 3). These Papers support the argument that EbA measures can contribute to improved adaptation. A set of greening scenarios is developed that distinguish different types and quantities of UGI. The results of Papers 2 and 3 are then

discussed in terms of the synergies and multifunctional benefits of EbA for climate adaptation. Finally, practical implications for the implementation of EbA in urban planning are derived. Figure 2 illustrates the approach.



Figure 2: Structure and overview of the thesis and the related publications

The thesis is structured into the following, overall, sections: Section 2 reviews relevant concepts on climate adaptation in cities, and formulates the analytical framework that provides the background for this research. Section 3 presents the approaches and methods, and the results are summarized in Section 4. Section 5 discusses the results and the urban planning guidelines that are derived. Finally, Section 6 draws some conclusions regarding the adaptation potential of ecosystem-based approaches.

2. KEY CONCEPTS AND ANALYTICAL FRAMEWORK

This section begins with a presentation of the background needed to understand the concepts of adaptation to climatic extreme events in cities. It is followed by a presentation of the specific concepts found in the academic and political discourse related to climate adaptation by urban greening, i.e. with the help of urban ecosystems. The most relevant concepts, namely: ecosystem-based adaptation (EbA), ecosystem services (ES), urban green infrastructure (UGI), and nature-based solutions (NBS) are introduced, and finally an integrated analytical framework that draws upon these concepts is formulated.

2.1 Urban adaptation to climate change

Climate change adaptation is defined as "the process of adjustment to actual or expected climate and its effects" (Noble et al., 2014). It aims to reduce the vulnerability of a system to climate change impacts (Noble et al., 2014; Wamsler, 2014). To achieve this, either the exposure of the system to climate impacts, or its sensitivity, or its adaptive capacity need to be addressed (Solomon et al., 2007). As cities are composed of different systems that each have specific vulnerabilities to climate change, adaptation activities need to be tailored to the system and the expected climate change impact (Revi et al., 2014). The following sections thus introduce the characteristics of two urban systems – population and drainage – and show how they can adapt to two climate change impacts – extreme heat and heavy rain.

2.1.1 Adapting to heat

During heat events urban inhabitants suffer from heat stress, which can have severe consequences (Kovats & Hajat, 2008). The most dramatic impact is an increase in the mortality rate (Gabriel & Endlicher, 2011). Several studies have shown a relation between heat events and the number of fatalities. For example, Scherer et al. (2013) suggest that 5 % of all deaths between 2001 and 2010 in Berlin can be related to increased air temperature, and Robine et al. (2008) estimate that the extremely hot summer of 2003 caused 70,000 heat-related deaths in southern and western Europe. To stay healthy, the human body needs to maintain an internal temperature of 37 °C, and it achieves this by sweating, increasing cardiac output and directing blood flow to the skin (Kovats & Hajat, 2008). If this is not possible, the body reacts with cramps, exhaustion, heat stroke and, in the worst case, death (Buchin et al., 2016).

The highest thermal load in urban areas occurs on summerly heat days (maximum air temperature $T_a > 30 \text{ °C}$) with high solar radiation and little wind. Heat stress reaches its maximum in the afternoon, when direct solar radiation hits the surfaces and the air is already heated up (Matzarakis et al., 2010; Parlow, 2003). Thus, this is the first priority to address. Humans also experience heat stress at night, when the UHI effect reduces nocturnal cooling and T_a remains high (Fenner et al., 2014; Santamouris, 2014). If T_a does not fall below 20 °C during the night, it is termed 'tropical' (DWD, 2015), and residents find it difficult to recover from the day (Harlan et al., 2006).

Vulnerability to heat is a function of personal sensitivity, which differs among social groups, and exposure, which differs from site to site. Age is a decisive factor for being negatively affected by heat. People aged over 65 have a limited capability to respond to high temperatures, and a higher probability of having pre-existing cardiovascular and pulmonary illnesses. Infants under three years old are also very sensitive, as their physiological capabilities are not yet fully developed (Loughnan et al., 2013). Finally, the extent to which an urban area overheats is a function of its spatial characteristics, and heat hotspots can be scattered around the city (Fenner et al., 2014; Harlan et al., 2006).

The above highlights that the urban population can be adapted to heat events either by reducing its sensitivity to heat or by reducing its exposure. Reducing sensitivity draws upon 'soft' adaptation measures, for example, improving the health of the population, or running campaigns to raise awareness of the need to drink sufficiently during heat events (EEA, 2012). Reducing exposure draws upon adaptation measures designed to improve the meteorological context, and hence reduce the likelihood that heat hotspots will develop (Bradford et al., 2015; EEA, 2012). This thesis focuses on the second strategy and, in particular, how it can be achieved by using ecosystem-based approaches with urban greening.

A first step is to be able to assess exposure to heat stress. For this, different methodological approaches can be applied. Some studies have analysed a single parameter, such as T_a , surface temperature, or mean radiant temperature (T_{mrt}), either by taking punctual measurements, or using remote-sensing or modelling-based approaches, which are spatially explicit (e.g. Alavipanah et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2014; Lindberg & Grimmond, 2011b; Loughnan et al., 2013). However, in reality, heat stress is determined by multiple parameters, the most important being T_a , T_{mrt} , wind patterns and humidity (from the meteorological perspective), and metabolic rate, activity, age and clothing (from the physiological perspective) (Höppe, 1999; VDI, 2008). Hence, various indices have been developed to describe outdoor and indoor thermal comfort that take into account the diverse factors that influence the human body (Jendritzky et al., 2012). The most popular outdoor indices are Predicted Mean Vote (PMV), Physiological Equivalent Temperature (PET), Universal Thermal Climate Index (UTCI) and Outdoor Standard Effective Temperature (OUTSET). All are based on the calculation of the human energy balance, but vary in terms of the field of application, the thermo-physiological heat balance model, and unit of measurement (Mukherjee & Mahanta, 2014). The PET and UTCI are measured in °C, which is thought to be more easily understood by practitioners (Matzarakis et al., 1999). The PET, in particular,

is described as the temperature experienced by a person outdoors, and is recommended in German guidelines for urban and regional planners (VDI, 2008). Therefore, it is used as the measure of heat stress in this thesis.

The PET index categorizes heat stress into classes of physiological stress. Humans experience thermal comfort at 18–23 °C PET. All values below this benchmark represent a form of cold stress, while values above 23 °C PET are experienced as heat stress. Heat stress increases as PET values rise – up to extreme heat stress levels at temperatures above 41 °C PET (Höppe, 1999; Matzarakis et al., 1999). The table below shows the classes of thermal comfort expressed by the PET.

PET in °C	Thermal perception	Grade of physiological stress
Below 4	Very cold	Extreme cold stress
4-8	Cold	Strong cold stress
8–13	Cool	Moderate cold stress
13–18	Slightly cool	Slight cold stress
18–23	Comfortable	No thermal stress
23–29	Slightly warm	Slight heat stress
29–35	Warm	Moderate heat stress
35–41	Hot	Strong heat stress
Above 41	Very hot	Extreme heat stress

 Table 1: Classes of thermal stress of the thermal comfort index Physiological Equivalent Temperature (PET) (own representation after Matzarakis et al. (1999))

2.1.2 Adapting to heavy rain

When a heavy rain event occurs over an urban area, the water infrastructure, part of the technical system of a city, must handle the stormwater volume. In a city, where built-up or sealed surfaces reduce natural drainage, humans have developed technical systems to take over this role, and drain rainwater directly. This is the conventional rainwater management system that most western cities rely on, and which has been optimised over the past century (Libbe et al., 2017; Loftus et al., 2011). Typically, drainage inlets, set into street canyons, catch surface water and funnel it into an underground sewage network, where it is finally processed outside the city boundaries (Endreny, 2008). The water balance in these systems differs considerably from the natural water balance, as the direct drainage of rainwater means that less water is available for evapotranspiration and infiltration processes (Endreny, 2008; Pataki et al., 2011). Figure 3 illustrates these effects, in particular, increased runoff, and decreased evapotranspiration and infiltration.



Figure 3: Difference between water balance processes in natural and urban areas (EPA, 2004)

Although conventional rainwater management has reduced the vulnerability of cities to flooding in general, at the same time, it has increased vulnerability to extreme precipitation events. Municipal sewage systems are designed to handle an exact amount of rainwater that occurs within a statistically-predicted return period (Willems et al., 2012). In Germany, the regulations DIN EN 752-2008 and DWA-A 118 state that drainage systems need to be capable of handling a heavy rain event that occurs with a one-year return period (for rural areas), and a two-year return period (for urban areas). These volumes are critical, as they represent the design limits of sewage systems. If the magnitude and frequency of extreme rain events increases (for example, due to climate change) these design criteria and, thus, sewage capacity can be exceeded (Willems et al., 2012). Similarly, the risk of urban flooding increases as surface water rapidly accumulates and travels down roads and other flow paths (EEA, 2012).

The collapse of the drainage system after a heavy rain event can have severe consequences for property, infrastructure, economic activities and human health (Reacher et al., 2004). Stormwater runoff can damage infrastructure, notably houses and the transport system, by entering basements and underground systems, creating severe disruption to everyday life. Flooding can also cause electricity blackouts, leading to economic losses because of production blackouts (EEA, 2012). The urban water system is often constructed as combined system, where stormwater and sewage systems are integrated. If these systems overflow, stormwater can be polluted by sewage, leading to contamination and a risk to public health (Loftus et al., 2011).

Effective adaptation to heavy rain events is important to ensure the correct functioning of the urban stormwater system. Here again, there are various ways to achieve this. On the one hand, the lack of capacity to manage future rain events can be addressed (Willems et al., 2012) – for example stormwater capacity can be increased by making technical adjustments. On the other hand, the overall water

infrastructure can be transformed into a system that corresponds more closely to the natural water balance. The latter system has greater capacity to store, evapotranspire and infiltrate rainwater before it is discharged (EPA, 2004). Several approaches have been developed, which are closely related, including: water sensitive urban design (WSUD), sustainable urban drainage systems (SUDS), and low impact development (LID). Another popular approach is integrated stormwater management (Fletcher et al., 2014), which is designed to decrease the exposure of the urban sewage system to runoff after a heavy rain event. This thesis focuses on the latter system, as it can be achieved using ecosystem-based approaches with urban greening.

Integrated stormwater management is a holistic approach with objectives that extend beyond adaptation to future heavy rain events. It sees the urban water cycle as an integral part of the urban system and takes environmental, sanitary, social and economic considerations into account (Fletcher et al., 2014; Johannessen & Wamsler, 2017). By extending the focus beyond technical solutions, which focus the problem of channelling stormwater, and directly incorporating natural processes such as infiltration and evapotranspiration, the conventional urban drainage system becomes both more resilient and provides benefits that include consistent water quality, water conservation and the promotion of multiple uses of the infrastructure, e.g., recreation facilities and habitats for urban flora and fauna (Lloyd et al., 2002). Several planning principles have been derived to achieve this. For instance, in the WSUD context, Hoyer et al. (2011) summarize them as: restoration of the natural water balance, design for improving quality of life, application of techniques and maintenance practices ensuring long-lasting functionality, multifunctional usage, and public acceptance. Measures to achieve integrated stormwater management include: the restoration of river beds, the conservation and enhancement of urban green spaces, and the installation of natural depressions or low-lying vegetated beds (also called rain gardens) along runoff flow paths. All of these measures are designed to increase rainwater retention and infiltration capacities (Ahiablame et al., 2012; Endreny, 2008; EEA, 2012).

Despite these multi-purpose, integrated stormwater management practices, surface runoff remains the critical parameter in deciding how to reduce urban water volumes, and it is assessed in further detail in this thesis.

2.2 Concepts for climate change adaptation by urban greening

The following paragraphs present the various concepts that are used in this thesis to discuss climate change adaptation by urban greening. It should be noted that they are both interrelated, and sometimes even used synonymously (Naumann et al., 2014).

2.2.1 Ecosystem-based adaptation (EbA)

The concept of EbA is defined as "the use of biodiversity and ecosystem services as part of an overall adaptation strategy to help people adapt to the adverse effects of climate change" (CBD 2009, p.41). It was included in the 2008 Bali Action Plan that was presented at the United Nations Framework Convention for Climate Change (UNFCCC) (IUCN 2008; Girot et al. 2012). Today, EbA is used internationally (Munang et al., 2013; Naumann et al., 2011). It focuses on sustainable management, and the conservation and restoration of ecosystems that aim to provide services that support human adaptation to climate change (Munang et al., 2013; CBD, 2009). Consequently, it is embedded into two other concepts: ecosystem services and climate change adaptation (Chong, 2014; Wamsler et al., 2014).

EbA is considered to be multifunctional, as it also takes other potential social, economic and cultural co-benefits for local communities into account. By aiming at multifunctionality different functions are combined into one action in order to use limited space and capacity more effectively (Ahern, 2011; Hansen & Pauleit, 2014). Co-benefits are defined as solutions to both climate change and other urban planning challenges, through the simultaneous implementation of policies and strategies (Jiang et al., 2016).

The European Climate Change Adaptation Strategy, for example, encourages the implementation of EbA (EC 2013a). So far, it has mainly been used in the sectors of agriculture and forestry (Doswald et al., 2014; Vignola et al., 2009). Nevertheless, urban planners are taking a greater interest in EbA as a cost-efficient, comprehensive and multifunctional approach (Brink et al., 2016). In cities, EbA refers to the design and improvement of green and blue infrastructure for adaptation purposes (Doswald & Osti, 2011).

2.2.2 Ecosystem services (ES)

The concept of ecosystem services constitutes a foundation for EbA as it defines the services of ecosystems humans can benefit from for adapting to climate change. It emerged in the late 1970s, when ecosystem functions that benefitted humans were renamed as 'services' in an attempt to raise public awareness for biodiversity conservation (Gómez-Baggethun et al., 2010). Since then, the discourse has broadened to include assessment and valuation methods, ethical issues and mainstreaming approaches into policy making (e.g. Cowling et al., 2008; Norgaard, 2010). The 2005 Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (MA) report, led by the United Nations, represented the first global assessment of

ecosystem services explicitly aimed at policymakers (MA, 2005). The concept is important in the urban sector, as its application can reduce the ecological footprint of cities and enhance their resilience (Gómez-Baggethun & Barton, 2013; TEEB DE, 2016).

Generally, ecosystem services are defined as the benefits humans obtain from ecosystems (MA, 2005). They are allocated into four broad categories: regulating, provisioning, cultural and habitat/ supporting (Figure 4). Each individual ecosystem service has direct effects on human wellbeing, while supporting services enable other services to be present and hence, have indirect effects (Gómez-Baggethun & Barton, 2013; MA, 2005; TEEB, 2011). Regulating services are especially relevant for climate adaptation as they can directly moderate the climate (Gaffin et al., 2012; Larondelle et al., 2014; Uy & Shaw, 2012).

Cities, seen as socio-ecological systems, depend on the smooth functioning of ecosystems to sustain good living conditions, security and the wellbeing of humans in the long-term. Although demand for ecosystem services is high, due to the density of the population, many services (e.g. food, energy and drinking water) are actually supplied from outside the city's boundaries. On the other hand, some ecosystem services are created within the city, notably the moderation of local microclimates, the promotion of biodiversity, and other aspects that directly affect human health (Gómez-Baggethun & Barton, 2013; TEEB DE, 2016).

The demand for different ecosystem services in urban planning leads to interactions and feedback among the services and systems that supply them. Synergies are created, as an increase in one ecosystem service leads to a mutual increase in another (Haase et al., 2012). This relates to the concept of multifunctionality, which is found when synergies between the provision of different ecosystem services are created (Hansen & Pauleit, 2014).



Figure 4: The concept of ecosystem services (adopted from Gómez-Baggethun & Barton, 2013; MA, 2005; TEEB, 2011)

2.2.3 Urban green infrastructure (UGI)

In urban areas, ecosystem services are provided by a network of natural and semi-natural, managed, green and blue spaces (Benedict & McMahon, 2006; Bolund & Hunhammar, 1999; BMUB, 2015; Gaffin et al., 2012; Kabisch & Haase, 2013; Noble et al., 2014). Urban green infrastructure (UGI) refers to vegetated areas within a city that are planned and maintained for the purpose of delivering a large amount of ecosystem services (Benedict & McMahon, 2006; Hansen et al., 2017).

UGI originated in the United States of America (USA), where it was intended to improve spatial planning and open space protection (Benedict & McMahon, 2002). In the USA, it is also applied to sustainable stormwater management and often used in conjunction with LID or SUDS approaches (Fletcher et al., 2014). At the local scale, the most commonly-implemented UGI for stormwater management are trees, green roofs, rain gardens or swale systems (EC, 2015; Jayasooriya & Ng, 2014). At European level, there is a policy aim to mainstream UGI into spatial planning and territorial development, in the context of the Biodiversity Strategy 2020 (EC, 2013b).

The concept is applied as planning approach that aims to develop coherent networks of green spaces and contributes to the resilience of urban ecosystems; the goal is to provide services to maintain or restore ecological functions (Pauleit et al., 2011). It understands vegetated areas of a city as essential urban infrastructure – equally as important as technical and social infrastructure (Hansen et al., 2017). UGI is a broader concept than EbA, and aims to improve human wellbeing in many ways, including the promotion of good health and social cohesion (Davies et al., 2015; EC, 2013b; Lafortezza et al., 2013; Lovell & Taylor, 2013). UGI principles such as multifunctionality, connectivity, integration, and a multi-scale and multi-object approach can be applied in spatial planning, and the concept has already found practical applications in urban planning (Pauleit et al., 2017a; Pauleit et al., 2017b).

2.2.4 Nature-based solutions (NBS)

Recently, the concept of nature-based solutions (NBS) aims to use nature to provide solutions to climate mitigation and adaptation challenges (Nesshöver et al., 2017). Originally, the concept was introduced by the World Bank and the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) to raise the profile of biodiversity conservation in tackling climate change (IUCN, 2009; MacKinnon et al., 2008). In Europe, it has been adopted into the Horizon 2020 framework programme for research and innovation (EC, 2015). NBS are defined as solutions that use nature and ecosystem services to provide economic, social and environmental benefits (EC, 2015; Maes & Jacobs, 2015). They include both natural ecosystems and novel ecosystems that are intentionally or unintentionally created by humans (Eggermont et al., 2015). Pauleit et al. (2017b) found many overlaps in the scope and definition of EbA, UGI and ecosystem services. At the same time, the latter authors found that the scope of the NBS concept is broader than EbA, more abstract (in terms of application to urban planning) than UGI, and

based on ecosystem services' approaches to the benefits of nature for human wellbeing. Thus, NBS could be said to be an umbrella term for other concepts that is receiving increased attention at the political and academic level (Nesshöver et al., 2017; Pauleit et al., 2017b).

2.3 Analytical framework

The concepts that are introduced above were used to derive the analytical framework that forms the basis for the analyses and assessments presented here. The focus lies on the concept of EbA that is understood as a way to achieve climate change adaptation in urban planning. Figure 5 presents the main components of the analytical framework.

The EbA concept assumes that ecosystems provide services that help people to adapt to the impacts of climate change (Chong, 2014; CBD, 2009; Uy & Shaw, 2012; Wamsler et al., 2014). In urban areas these ecosystems are provided by various forms of UGI (Gaffin et al., 2012). Bolund and Hunhammar (1999) developed a classification consisting of: trees, parks/ lawns, urban forests, cultivated land and lakes/ streams. For the present case, this list was extended to include greening of buildings, i.e., green roofs and facades, street and backyard vegetation and other strategic measures following later work and taking up additional types that are commonly referred to as climate adaptation options (Benedict & McMahon, 2006; EEA, 2012; Gaffin et al., 2012; Pauleit et al., 2011).

Ecosystem services have been sub-divided into four broad categories as presented in Section 2.2.2 and Figure 4 (MA, 2005; TEEB, 2011). Biodiversity is integral to the functioning of ecosystems, and falls into the category of supporting services that provide habitats and maintain species diversity (Gómez-Baggethun & Barton, 2013; CBD, 2009; TEEB, 2011). It is explicitly included in the Convention of Biological Diversity's (CBD) definition of EbA. All four categories of ecosystem services have adaptation benefits for urban planning. Regulating services (e.g. local temperature regulation) are considered to deliver most benefits, as they directly moderate the local climate and are thought to be effective ways to mitigate heat and runoff (Gaffin et al., 2012; Larondelle et al., 2014; Uy & Shaw, 2012). Other services have indirect benefits. For example, the provision of recreation facilities in green spaces is considered to be a cultural service that contributes positively to physical and mental health, while the supply of fresh water that is stored and purified by ecosystems is deemed a provisioning service (Foster et al., 2011; MA, 2005; TEEB, 2011).

Finally, EbA measures refer to actions that use different UGI types leading to the provision of adaptation benefits at different scales, from individual buildings (e.g. green roofs) to an entire city (e.g. green corridors) (Doswald et al., 2014; Geneletti & Zardo, 2016; Munroe et al., 2012; Zandersen et al., 2014). EbA measures are designed to support climate change adaptation (e.g. adaptation to heat or flooding) through the provision of at least one ecosystem service (Brink et al., 2016; Doswald et al., 2014; Doswald & Osti, 2011). If they provide more than one ecosystem service, synergies are created and the
action is multifunctional. Therefore, EbA measures rely on the presence of relevant UGI types, and concern the conservation, restoration, creation and/ or sustainable management of ecosystems (Doswald et al., 2014). They can be characterised in four ways:

- The aim and type of measure (e.g. the promotion of green roofs);
- The type of urban ecosystem or green infrastructure (e.g. a park);
- The ecosystem service that the measure is expected to provide for climate change adaptation, and the climate change impact it is designed to mitigate;
- The measure's multiple benefits, if mentioned.

In order to fully define the urban ecosystem that is affected or adopted by an EbA measure, the classification of UGI types is applicable and therewith, completes the presented analytical framework (Figure 5).

This framework illustrates the interrelations between the concepts of EbA, ecosystem services and UGI, and how they are used to assess the integration and effectiveness of EbA in urban adaptation to climate change.



Figure 5: The analytical framework for climate change adaptation by urban greening – EbA.

This section presents the methodology applied in this thesis. It begins with the overall approach and a presentation of the geographical focus area, then goes on to present details of the methodologies to: a) assess the integration of EbA into urban planning; and b) quantify the effectiveness of EbA for heat and flood mitigation.

3.1 Overall research approach

To achieve the different objectives presented for this research a mixed methods approach was applied. Each objective requires a different methodology, and addresses multiple disciplines (i.e. urban ecology, urban climatology and climate change governance). Paper 1 reviews EbA integration. Therefore, municipal adaptation strategies were evaluated at national level to provide an overall picture of the actions of different cities that are subject to the same regulatory conditions. Papers 2 and 3 examine the same study area. They take a computational approach, and model greening scenarios at the neighbourhood level to assess the effects of high-resolution vegetation. Modelling helps to simplify the real world, in this case urban climate and hydrology, without the need for resource-intensive empirical data acquisition. Furthermore, it makes it possible to assess future scenarios. Both approaches can be used to analyse single heat or heavy rain events. Finally, the results are compared and discussed to derive recommendations for urban planning.

3.2 Geographical focus

As multiple methods were adopted, assessments at different scales were necessary – the nationwide level for comparisons of cities within the same federal background, and the neighbourhood level, where urban adaptation measures are actually implemented.

Germany was selected as it is a pioneer in the domain of environmental and climate change governance: climate adaptation is a declared goal of the federal government (Deutsche Bundesregierung, 2011). German cities have been encouraged to develop municipal adaptation strategies, and several municipalities have already taken action. Assessing the EbA uptake in this context is particularly interesting as the political discourse has gained momentum in recent years. For example, the Federal Agency for Nature Conservation published a review on good ecosystem-based practices in various

sectors (Doswald & Osti, 2011), and funded a national project on ecosystem-based approaches for adaptation and mitigation in different sectors from 2012 to 2014 (BfN, 2012). Moreover, the use of multifunctional green spaces for climate change adaptation was an important part of the Federal Government's 2011 Action Plan for Climate Change Adaptation, which recommends actions at lower policy levels (Deutsche Bundesregierung, 2011).

Among the German cities that are involved in climate adaptation activities, the city of Munich is considered as a frontrunner because of its engagement in this field (Wamsler, 2017). It had just begun the process of developing its climate adaptation strategy when the work on this thesis started and, thus, was not included with its adaptation strategy in the sample of cities that are reviewed in Paper 1. However, its integrated climate mitigation strategy contains several sections on climate adaptation, and it was therefore included (RGU, 2012). EbA is given high priority in its integrated climate change mitigation strategy. The city aims to increase the proportion of green space, and support the implementation of EbA measures (RGU, 2012). Its climate adaptation strategy was finally published at the end of 2016, and includes a separate section proposing measures that aim at increasing the use of different UGI types for adaptation purposes (Schneider et al., 2016). At the same time, the city is experiencing high population growth, high population density and increasing pressure on open spaces due to infill development (Artmann, 2014). Therefore, finding EbA solutions that can be effective in a limited space is important.

3.3 Analysis of municipal adaptation strategies

The assessment of the integration of EbA in municipal adaptation strategies was based on a nationwide sample of strategy documents. The approach consisted of a quantitative and qualitative content analysis (Roe, 1994) that, on the one hand, expressed the current situation numerically and, on the other hand, offered a way to interpret the content of individual strategies. The criteria for the analysis were derived from the conceptual framework given in Section 2.3. Figure 6 summarizes the methodological approach.





3.3.1 Data collection

Larger cities are said to be especially vulnerable to climate change impacts, amongst other things due to the larger impact of the UHI effect (Zhou et al., 2013). Therefore, the analysis focused on municipal adaptation strategies in German cities with more than 100,000 inhabitants (Statistisches Bundesamt, 2014) that fulfilled the following criteria:

- The municipalities anticipated an increasing exposure to heat events and/ or flash floods in their adaptation strategies;
- The municipalities' adaptation strategies were either stand-alone strategies or an integrated part of their climate change mitigation or urban development programmes;
- These (stand-alone or integrated) adaptation strategies were publicly available as of January 2015.

Those criteria were chosen to ensure that the cities actually are affected by (a future increase of) climatic extreme events, hence need to undertake adaptation activities, as well as that their adaptation activities are documented and made accessible for the public.

On this basis, a total of 34 municipal adaptation strategies were finally identified and assessed. A list of the documents that were analysed is provided in Appendix A of Paper 1.

3.3.2 Data analysis

Data analysis began with a quantitative content analysis that identified passages of text that made reference to the EbA concept (Hansen et al., 2014; Roe, 1994). As the words used to describe EbA can differ within adaptation strategies, the following keywords were used in accordance with the developed framework and its integrative parts:

- Ecosystem-based
- Ecosystem service Environmental service
- Biodiversity Biological diversity
- Green infrastructure Green structure Natural balance Urban ecology.

Each document was analysed with regard to the presence of these keywords. The related context was filled into an inventory document and coded in relation to the framework for the analysis and research questions. Explicit references, such as the direct use of the term 'ecosystem-based', were understood as a conscious uptake of the concept, whereas implicit references (i.e. the use of terms describing the underlying concepts) were taken as an indicator of a conceptual understanding of related objectives and benefits (Hansen et al., 2014).

The next step was to supplement the context of keywords with additional coding categories, in order to assess the relevance of EbA in municipal strategies. Codes related to the thematic sections the keywords

were included in, or to which they referred. Following the work of Baker et al. (2012), five categories were selected that were also linked to the phases of developing adaptation strategies introduced in Section 1.1:

- 1) General background: what happens under climate change and definitions of terms;
- 2) Site-specific background: objectives and activities of the respective municipality;
- Climate change impacts on ecosystems: climate change impacts and priorities for adapting to them;
- 4) General adaptation options: general description of possible adaptation options;
- 5) Specific adaptation measures: description of planned on-the-ground measures.

The second qualitative content analysis focused on those sections of municipal adaptation strategies that addressed specific adaptation measures (fifth bullet point above). A qualitative content analysis was performed. First, all measures that fulfilled the criteria of an EbA measure derived from the presented analytical framework (Section 2.3) were identified, irrespective of whether they were explicitly described as an EbA measure. Second, the contextual notations describing the identified measures were noted to assess the characteristics of EbA measures as described. UGI types were assigned according to the list presented above. In addition, the four types of ecosystem services (provisioning, regulating, supporting and cultural) were divided into 21, individual services, as specified in Figure 4.

3.4 Modelling approaches

Based on evaluating the integration of EbA into municipal adaptation strategies, the core of this thesis is to assess the effectiveness of different EbA measures for climate change adaptation. In the second stage, the focus moved from the national scale to the micro scale – a densely built-up urban neighbourhood. Two climatic extremes, a heat and a heavy rain event, were examined. There are several software packages available that can be used to model urban climate and hydrological events at the micro-scale. In particular, ENVI-met is applied as microclimatic modelling tool, and MIKE SHE is used for hydrological modelling. These models were applied and configured to match the situation in the case study area. In the following sections, their differences and similarities are discussed, and greening scenarios are presented. The aim was to hypothetically implement different types and quantities of UGI in the form of EbA measures, and assess their effects on heat and runoff regulation.

3.4.1 Study area

Munich is located at 48° 8' 13" N, 11° 24' 31" E and lies at 519 m above sea level. Its climate is classified as humid continental with no dry season, and warm summers with highest precipitation rates occurring during this season. A climate function map was developed to simulate data on air temperature, bioclimatic situation and wind patterns for the city, to provide an insight into thermal conditions in hot, high-pressure weather conditions (Landeshauptstadt München, 2017). The grid resolution for this map was 50 m, making it possible to differentiate the thermal conditions of different types of urban morphology. Especially in the inner city the thermal conditions are unfavourable, mainly due to high building densities, high surface sealing and low green shares.

The predominant urban morphology is perimeter blocks, which are very common both in Germany and other European cities. These blocks are characterised by high building and population density, a high level of surface sealing, and a lack of green areas (Pauleit & Duhme, 2000). According to the standardised local climate zone (LCZ) classification used in many urban climate studies, perimeter blocks are typically compact mid-rises (LCZ 2). This class is characterised by a high proportion of shaded areas, high building heat storage capacity, low backyard air ventilation potential, and a high potential for wind channelling effects within street canyons (Grothues et al., 2013; Stewart & Oke, 2012; Stiles et al., 2014a). Consequently, they can be particularly vulnerable to overheating, the UHI effect and flooding, and therefore deserve special attention when planning and implementing urban adaptation measures.



Figure 7: Perimeter blocks in Munich and the location of the case study area

More specifically, an assessment by the city administration in 2011 found that 6.5 % of all buildings can be defined as perimeter blocks (Landeshauptstadt München, 2015). An analysis of these blocks revealed that, on average, they are 72 % sealed, 28 % vegetated, and the building density is 57 %.

The case study area concerns one of these blocks. It is characterised by an above-average level of surface sealing and a below-average level of green areas, thus representing the worst-case situation for heat stress and flooding after heavy rain events. It covers an area of 3.5 ha (150 x 180 m) and is located in the central district of Maxvorstadt (Figure 7). Approximately 50 % of the case area is built-up. The main buildings are 17–25 m high, while buildings surrounding courtyards reach heights of 3–10 m. The block is oriented NE–SW, and the height–width (H/W) ratios of the NW–SE-oriented street canyons on the short edge of the block are 1.2 and 1.5, while the NE–SW-oriented canyons have H/W ratios of 0.9 and 1.3. An analysis of the Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) and height classes based on aerial photos and field surveys found that 9.0 % of the area was covered with vegetation. This was further partitioned into 7.1 % tree cover (primarily along the streets and within courtyards), 1.6 % shrub and 0.3 % grass (in courtyards). The remaining 91.0 % was split into 44.2 % sealed and 46.8 % building surfaces. Figure 8 shows the spatial arrangement of the area, including the distribution of vegetation.



Figure 8: The case study area showing its current vegetation

3.4.2 Analysis of extreme weather events

Individual extreme heat and heavy rain events formed the primary input data for the quantitative analyses presented here and need to be analysed before the modelling work. Data on current climate conditions is drawn from weather stations and projections of future climate conditions from regional climate models.

For the analysis of the current climate conditions data for 2000 to 2010 was provided by the Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München (LMU) weather station. This was chosen due to its location in the city centre (urban climate conditions) and its proximity to the case area. Future climate conditions were determined from projections provided by the REMO model, which are available in hourly resolution. REMO data is available at 10 km resolution for the whole of Germany, up to the year 2100, and for all IPCC greenhouse gas emission scenarios (SRES). Twelve grid boxes, covering the region of Munich, were averaged for scenario A1B and the period 2030 to 2060. This scenario represents a moderate situation that is closest to current global trends of greenhouse gas concentration (Nakicenovic et al., 2000). The period 2030 to 2060 was chosen for three reasons: a) any trees planted today would reach their optimal potential to provide ecosystem services; b) the effect of long-term municipal strategies would be seen (e.g. RGU, 2012; Schneider et al., 2016; Steinrücke et al., 2012); and c) the following

time period (2060 to 2090) is too far in the future, as it is beyond the planning horizon of municipal administrations.

Selection of typical hot summer days in Munich

It is necessary to carry out a microclimatic assessment of heat days (maximum air temperature $T_{max} > 30$ °C; DWD, (2015)) because urban overheating and UHI effects are especially large due to high pressure, high solar radiation and low wind speeds (Parlow, 2003). Thus, for both datasets, diurnal cycles representing a typical heat day in Munich were selected. The selection of diurnal (24 hour) cycles was designed to focus on a particularly stressful situation.

The current average for heat days in Munich is T_{max} of 31.4 °C, reached in the late afternoon (4 pm), and occurs nine times per year. Under future climate T_{max} is 35.4 °C at 4 pm, occurring 14 times per year. As it is typical on heat days, wind speeds are relatively low (2.3 m/s and 1.9 m/s respectively from a south-easterly direction). On the basis of averaged T_{max} and diurnal cycles, two heat days (current and future) with comparable characteristics were selected. Figure 9 shows the diurnal cycle, and highlights that under future climate conditions T_a increases more steeply during the day, while at night they are more similar. Both curves have their lowest point around 20 °C, and hence can be called tropical nights ($T_{min} > 20$ °C).



Figure 9: Diurnal cycle of air temperature of the selected heat days under current and future climate conditions (Data source: LMU weather station, the REMO climate model)

Selection of typical heavy rain events in Munich

Heavy rain events are defined as more than 10 mm of precipitation per hour, while extreme rain is precipitation of more than 25 mm per hour, which can lead to quickly-rising water levels and flooding (DWD, 2016b). Both datasets were analysed to identify those events and determine typical events in the current and future climates. Values were drawn from rain event statistics for German cities published by the German Weather Service (DWD), which are the standard reference (KOSTRA-DWD, 2000).

On average, the LMU weather station registers four heavy rain events per year, with a magnitude of 17.0 mm per hour. Most occur in the summer months, and in the late afternoon, representing an annual

return period. As the design of drainage systems in urban areas is based on a two-year return period (24.7 mm/h; KOSTRA-DWD (2000)) an event representing this period was selected.

A typical extreme heavy rain event (i.e. 31.3 mm/h) of the weather station's dataset was chosen as the input to the model of future climate conditions, as the analysis of REMO data found that this value was similar to the average for the period of 2030 to 2060. The rain event reflects a five-year return period according to KOSTRA-DWD (2000). However, hourly precipitation projections for the coming decades are thought to be unreliable, as models still show significant errors, especially for highly variable, small-scale processes such as heavy rain events (IPCC, 2007; Pfeifer et al., 2015; Willems et al., 2012). Consequently, the REMO data was used as a reference point in the selection of an appropriate historical heavy rain event from the LMU dataset. Finally, both events were recorded between the months May and June, when vegetation is fully developed (Table 2).

	Heavy rain event [mm/h]	Date and time of occurrence	Return period determined from KOSTRA-DWD (2000) for Munich
1.	24.7	05-06-2003 17:00	2 years
2.	30.9	05-05-2001 17:00	5 years

Table 2: The two heavy rain events selected for the analysis

Not only does the diurnal, 24 hour, cycle needs to be considered, but also the soil moisture conditions and water storage capacity in the days surrounding the event. Therefore, a total period of two weeks (one week before and after the heavy rain event) formed the input to the hydrological model. In both cases these periods were dry, without any larger precipitation events than the heavy rain events (Figure 10). In this way, comparability is ensured.



Figure 10: Precipitation patterns of selected heavy rain events (Data source: LMU weather station)

3.4.3 Microclimatic modelling with ENVI-met

ENVI-met V4 is a three-dimensional micro-scale model based on computational fluid dynamics (CFD) that simulates surface-plant-air interactions in the urban environment. It employs the non-hydrostatic incompressible Navier-Strokes equations to calculate the wind field, the k-epsilon turbulence model and the Alternating Directly Implicit (ADI) solution technique to calculate the interaction of air flow and surfaces (Bruse & Environmental Modelling Group, 2015a; Bruse & Fleer, 1998). Further details of the physical basis of ENVI-met have been described in literature (e.g. Ali-Toudert & Mayer, 2006; Bruse & Fleer, 1998; Huttner, 2012; Simon, 2016; Taleghani et al., 2015). The model operates at the micro-scale with spatial resolutions of 0.5–10 m and time frames of 24–48 hours.

ENVI-met is currently the only available urban microclimate model that offers sophisticated possibilities to include the effects of vegetation in its simulations and therefore it was selected for this study. It also offers several other benefits compared to, for example, RayMan or Solweig (Lindberg & Grimmond, 2011a; Matzarakis et al., 2010). It has a high spatial resolution, includes major atmospheric processes, such as the wind field, temperature, humidity, radiation, and turbulence, takes into account physiological vegetation processes, and represents vegetation in great detail (Ali-Toudert & Mayer, 2006; Jänicke et al., 2014; Lobaccaro & Acero, 2015; Skelhorn et al., 2014). An integrated plant database makes it possible to include vegetation profiles drawn from empirical data, or using default data. Default data includes various plant species, but no specific vegetation types, such as green roofs or facades (Jänicke et al., 2014).

This model has been applied in various studies examining the effects of urban form, vegetation, and surface materials on the microclimate, and has been validated for European climatic conditions (Jänicke et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2016; Skelhorn et al., 2014; Stiles et al., 2014a). In its current version V4 the evolution of temperature during the diurnal cycle has been improved via forcing (Bruse & Environmental Modelling Group, 2015a).

To assess outdoor thermal comfort, an integrated tool (BioMet) calculates the physiologically equivalent temperature (PET). Its application is especially useful for assessing heat regulation as it is explicitly developed for outdoor conditions and is given in °C, which makes it easily understandable for urban planners. Moreover, it is recommended in official German guidelines (VDI, 2008). To be able to compare results, and calculate the human energy balance, most studies refer to a standard person aged 35, 1.75 m tall, weighing 75 kg (Jendritzky, 1990; Jendritzky et al., 1979) who is assumed to walk quickly.

This thesis assesses the thermal situation on the afternoon of heat days (> 30 °C) when the thermal load is highest (Matzarakis et al., 2010). Hence, the analyses refer to 3 pm on an average heat day, at a height of 1.4 m, which represents the centre of the standard human body described above.

Configuration of ENVI-met V4

Table 1 summarizes the meteorological input data used in the simulations (see Section 3.4.2). Simulations were launched at 6 am for a total simulation time of 48 hours. Output data from the second day were used in the analysis, to exclude any initial, transient conditions (Bruse & Environmental Modelling Group, 2015a). Input parameters (Table 3) were selected following extensive preliminary analyses that tested the influence of the main input parameters on the modelling results. This iterative process was designed to reconstruct the real situation in the study area by providing accurate input data and producing the most reliable results possible.

Configuration of ENVI-met V4							
	Current climate	Future climate					
Simulation time							
Start of simulation	06/18/2002, 6 am	06/01/2058, 6 am					
Duration of simulation	48	h h					
Meteorological conditions							
Wind speed (10 m above ground)	2.3 m/s	1.9 m/s					
Wind direction	160°	192°					
Roughness length at	0.0	1 m					
initialisation point of wind flow							
at model boundaries							
Mean air temperature	26.4 °C	27.4 °C					
Max. air temperature	32.1 °C	35.5 °C					
Specific humidity at model top at	7 g/kg						
2500 m							
Initial temperature atmosphere	26.4 °C	27.4 °C					
Relative humidity at 2 m	59 %						
Cloud cover	0						
Soil data							
Initial temperature at all levels	19.9 °C						
Relative humidity at all levels	60	%					

Tabl	e 3.	M	leteorol	logical	input	data_	for	EN	IV.	I-met	V4	
------	------	---	----------	---------	-------	-------	-----	----	-----	-------	----	--

The study area was divided into a grid of 87 x 100 x 25 cells, plus 10 nesting grids, with an equidistant horizontal and vertical resolution of 2 m. The horizontal resolution of 2 m is a good compromise between computational effort and accuracy according to Salata et al. (2016). In the vertical dimension, the lowest grid cell is split into five sub-boxes (0.2, 0.6, 1.0, 1.4 and 1.8 m high) to increase the accuracy of the calculation of surface processes (Bruse & Fleer, 1998). The grid was rotated 24° from north to rectify the block structure, which simplified digitising. Existing vegetation was represented by plant profiles drawn from the integrated Albero database and based on the dominant tree species (Table 4). The most influential parameter describing the effect of vegetation is leaf area density (LAD) measured in m^2/m^3 , representing one-sided foliage area per unit canopy volume.

	1	1			
Vegetation	Street tree	Large tree	Medium-sized	Shrubs	Grass
class			tree		
Type/ species	e.g. Robinia	e.g. Pterocarya	e.g. Betula	e.g. Ligustrum	e.g. Poa spec.,
	pseudo-	fraxinifolia,	pendula, Acer	spec.	Cyper spec.
	acacia, Acer	Fraxinus	campestre		
	platanoides	excelsior			
Plant height [m]	15.0	20.0	6.0	3.0	0.5
Plant width [m]	6.0	15.0	6.0	3.0	1.0
Root depth [m]	3.0	2.0	1.4	1.2	0.5
Leaf area	2.0	1.2	1.0	0.7	0.3
density [m ² /m ³]					
Leaf area index	6.1	5.1	4.0	3.3	3.0
[-]					
Dimension in	3D	3D	3D	3D	1D
ENVI-met					

Table 4: Vegetation classes used for the representation of current vegetation in the ENVI-met model

3.4.4 Hydrological modelling with MIKE SHE

Objective 3 requires the use of a physical-based hydrological model that can determine all of the hydrological processes making up the urban water balance. This model must be raster-based, run as a small-scale application and include a detailed representation of vegetation characteristics. MIKE SHE is an integrated hydrological model, which fulfils these requirements and has been proven be able to correctly interpret hydrological processes in various applications (DHI Water & Environment, 2016; Jaber & Shukla, 2012; Ma et al.).

MIKE SHE has several advantages over other approaches such as SWMM, iTree Hydro or the more simplified runoff curve number approach (Jayasooriya & Ng, 2014; USDA, 1986; EPA, 2017; Wang et al., 2008). None of these alternatives are able to process detailed input parameters of plant characteristics, explicitly take into account processes driven by vegetation, run stable micro-scale simulations, or simulate continuous time series and hence soil moisture storage (Ahiablame et al., 2012; Fletcher et al., 2013; Jayasooriya & Ng, 2014; Wang et al., 2008; Zhou, 2014). Hence, it was selected for application in this thesis. The MIKE SHE model has already been successfully applied in studies of the impact of greening and future climate change on surface runoff (e.g. Keilholz et al., 2015; Trinh & Chui, 2013).

The following paragraphs describe the technical background, and the calculation of the most important processes (DHI Water & Environment, 2016).

- Overland flow: When precipitation is falling on sealed surfaces, the water is routed as twodimensional overland flow. The shallow water equation (diffusive wave) is solved based on the finite difference method. The calculation of water flow depends on slopes defined by a digital elevation model (DEM). Furthermore, the roughness of surface materials is considered by the Manning-Strickler value (Perry, 1960). Additionally, if surface water can no longer infiltrate, or groundwater reaches the surface, this water contributes to overland flow (Butts & Graham, 2005). In urban areas, surface runoff is normally routed to a stormwater drainage system. The effects of these water processes can be calculated by coupling a one-dimensional hydraulic model such as MIKE 11 or MIKE Urban to MIKE SHE (e.g. City of Copenhagen, 2011). If detailed sewer data is not available, this calculation can be simplified by removing parts of the overland water automatically from the model using the paved area function.
- Unsaturated zone: Infiltration, soil moisture and recharge to the saturated zone are calculated with the unsaturated zone module. Input data are precipitation and soil data (pf-curves and saturated hydraulic conductivities). Soil data is presented in a soil map with multilayer soil types. The numerical approach is the Richards equation which is solved one-dimensionally (Richards, 1931), only considering vertical flow processes. Hydraulic conductivity changes with soil saturation. This effect is calculated by the van Genuchten formula (Van Genuchten, 1980) in combination with the Mualem function (Mualem, 1976). The representation of the lower boundary is the head of the saturated zone. By changing groundwater levels the length of the unsaturated zone is fitted automatically.
- Saturated zone: The calculation of three-dimensional groundwater flows is carried out by solving the Darcy equation using the finite difference method. Groundwater flows and heads are negligible for this study. However, the module is needed to define the lower boundary conditions for the unsaturated zone.
- Land use: To analyse the effects of vegetation, a land use module is integrated into the model. Inputs are potential evapotranspiration (ET₀), a land use map, and vegetation-specific data. MIKE SHE then calculates actual transpiration, soil evaporation and interception using the Kristensen & Jensen approach (Kristensen & Jensen, 1975). The equations (1), (2) and (3) include different functions for the leaf area index (LAI) and the distribution and depth of the roots.

• Evaporation from canopy [mm/dt]: $E_{can} = min(C_{int} \cdot LAI, ET_{ref} \cdot \Delta t)$ (1) $C_{int} = \text{interception coefficient} (\approx 0.05 \text{ mm})$ $ET_{ref} = \text{potential reference evapotranspiration [mm/dt]}$ $\Delta t = \text{Simulation time step [dt]}$

• Plant transpiration [mm/dt]:

$$ET_{aT} = f_1(LAI) \cdot f_2(\theta) \cdot RDF \cdot ET_{ref}$$
 (2)
 $f_i(LAI, \theta) =$ Functions for LAI or soil moisture (see Kristensen & Jensen, 1975)
 $RDF =$ Root distribution function (see Kristensen & Jensen, 1975)

• Soil evaporation [mm/dt]:

$$ET_{aS} = ET_{ref} \cdot f_3(\theta) + \left(ET_{ref} - ET_{aT} - \left(ET_{ref} \cdot f_3(\theta) \right) \right) \cdot f_4(\theta) \cdot \left(1 - f_1(LAI) \right)$$
(3)

The strong coupling to the unsaturated zone makes it possible to analyse the actual evapotranspiration in relation to the actual soil moisture. This function is directly integrated into the Kristensen & Jensen approach and makes it possible, for example, to analyse vegetation water stress.

The software is organised into modules, which means that all assessed processes can be directly linked to each other.

Surface runoff, calculated as overland flow, is the decisive factor in the evaluation of the impact of heavy rain events on the urban system. Nevertheless, the urban water balance is a complex and interlinked system of contributing processes. The results presented in this thesis are averaged for the whole study area over a period of three days (one day before and after a day of heavy rain). To evaluate the temporal occurrence of surface runoff, time series for the hours before and after the heavy rain event are presented.

Configuration of MIKE SHE

The model requires detailed inputs in the form of meteorological and spatial data. Precipitation rates (Section 3.4.2) and reference evapotranspiration (ET_0), calculated using the Penman-Monteith equation (Allen et al., 1998; Monteith, 1981; Penman, 1956) were extracted from the climate datasets. Following this method, ET_0 was calculated based on hourly global radiation, air temperature, air humidity and wind speed. MIKE SHE was run for a simulation period of two weeks (one week before and after the heavy rain event) to overcome initial transient conditions in, for example, soil moisture, with adaptive output time steps of one-hour resolution. In both cases, a small rain event precedes the heavy rain event, only the intensity differs.

MIKE SHE is a raster-based model. Spatial input data consists of different layers, each at a 1 m grid resolution. Topography was extracted from a DEM provided by the city of Munich showing the elevation of surfaces and buildings, and other information regarding the surface roughness of different materials (Holschemacher, 2015). A land use map was derived from aerial photos and field surveys. The final model represented impermeable and permeable surfaces, together with any vegetation canopy. To ensure the comparability of results, the vegetation classes used in the microclimatic model were adopted, i.e. leaf area density (LAD), plant geometry, root depth and location (see Table 4). For ENVImet simulations, LAD is pivotal in the calculation of the evapotranspirative behaviour of plants. In MIKE SHE, the leaf area index (LAI) is used instead. Both parameters describe the leaf area characteristics of the respective plant, and are related to each other. This relation can be expressed by empirical equations e.g. developed by Lalic and Mihailovic (2004). To generate the LAI values for the MIKE SHE simulations their approach was used as Bruse and Environmental Modelling Group (2015b) recommend. As vegetation is presented two-dimensionally in MIKE SHE, understorey vegetation could not be included. The final input parameters (Table 5) were selected following extensive preliminary analyses to test the influence of the main input parameters on the results.



Figure 11: Soil profiles for paved areas and tree pits (Henze, 2016)

Two soil profiles were created based on borehole data provided by the Munich Water Management Office, the Munich soil atlas, and the regulation ZTV-Vegtra-Mü for paved areas and open soil, for example in tree pits (Landeshauptstadt München, 2016a, 2016b). The profiles are vertically subdivided into three layers (Figure 11):

- Paved areas: Asphalt (impermeable, artificial deposition), gravel (Pararendzina, enriched with carbonates) and clay;
- Tree pits: Tree substrate (humus, organic matter, coarse grained sand), gravel (Pararendzina, enriched with carbonates), clay.

Surface water can infiltrate permeable areas, while in paved areas water is channelled and removed from the model by activating the paved area function, and coupling the one-dimensional hydrodynamic MIKE 11 model. Hence, processes within the saturated zone are no longer considered, and are simplified using a fixed groundwater head for the overall project area. Table 5 is a summary of the relevant parameters used in the MIKE SHE model.

Table 5: Parameter setup for the MIKE SHE model. Notes: * Saturated moisture content, ** Residual moisture content, *** Saturated hydraulic conductivity, **** Bulk density (adopted from i.e., Landeshauptstadt München, 2016b; Lösken et al., 2008; Twarakavi et al., 2010)

Parameter	Value	Unit
Vegetation		
Leaf area index (LAI)	3–6.1	-
Canopy interception	0.05	mm * LAI
Root distribution	0.5–3	m
2D surface water		
Paved runoff coefficient	0-0.5	-
Resistance value (K _{st})	40-85	$m^{1/3}/s$
Detention storage	1	mm
Initial water depth	0	m
Surface-subsurface leakage coefficient	0.0001	l/s
Unsaturated and saturated zone		
Asphalt: θs*; θr**; K _s ***; BD****	0.2; 0.001; 1e-009; 1700	-; -; -; kg/m ³
Substrate for trees: θs^* ; θr^{**} ; K_s^{***} ; BD^{****}	0.347; 0.055; 0.001; 1150	-; -; -; kg/m ³
Green roof substrate: θs*; θr**; K _s ***; BD****	0.347; 0.055; 0.0001; 1700	-; -; -; kg/m ³
Gravel: θs*; θr**; K _s ***; BD****	0.45; 0.05; 0.005; 1700	-; -; -; kg/m ³
Clay: θs*; θr**; K _s ***; BD****	0.475; 0.072; 1e-009; 1500	-; -; -; kg/m ³

3.4.5 Comparability of approaches

Figure 12 summarizes the characteristics of the two modelling approaches that are pivotal to enable the comparability of the results later on. Both take a physical approach. All calculations are based on physical equations describing natural processes and interactions within the urban microclimate and the urban water balance, for example, the calculation of evapotranspiration processes. In both models, spatial characteristics are represented as grid cells of variable resolution (2 and 1 m), which makes it possible to include small-scale information on the heterogeneous urban morphology and evaluate the results based on their spatial distribution. Concerning the temporal resolution, both approaches assess single events in hourly time steps. Although this requires very detailed meteorological input data, it provides detailed time series as output. As meteorological data for both heat and heavy rain events is available from the same sources (the LMU weather station and the regional climate model REMO), the quality and reliability of the data is comparable. Moreover, results can be derived for current and future climate conditions.

The most important factor in the quantitative assessment of EbA's regulating potential is how vegetation is represented. Both models allow for a very detailed characterisation of vegetation parameters, therefore the same vegetation profiles with the same parameters can be used as input data. To calculate the regulating effects of vegetation, the most influential parameter is the leaf area. This is considered in both models, but in different forms: ENVI-met uses the LAD, MIKE SHE uses the LAI. These parameters can be linked to each other via empirical equations (e.g. Lalic & Mihailovic, 2004). One major difference between the approaches is that ENVI-met operates in three dimensions, while MIKE SHE is limited to two. This is why the effects of facade greening can only be assessed with ENVI-met.



Figure 12: A comparison of the selected modelling approaches

3.5 Developing greening scenarios

Scenarios were developed to compare the regulating effects of EbA measures. Ideally, these should combine scenarios for different types and quantities of UGI, which can be implemented at micro-scale (Section 3.5.1). Quantities range from the extreme case of no vegetation cover to the highest possible percentage of green shares. Moreover, they should follow official planning guidelines to ensure transferability into practice. The greening scenarios presented in the following sections are the result of an iterative series of discussions with various experts from research and practice.

3.5.1 Selected types of urban green infrastructure

EbA measures can take the form of different types of urban greening from urban forests or parks at the city scale to green roofs and facades at the building scale (see list in Section 2.3). This thesis focuses on three types of UGI as those are the most feasible options for implementation at the micro-scale and within existing structures (e.g. Ahiablame et al., 2012). At the same time, the functions of the three types are different, which makes a comparison interesting. The following paragraphs introduce the selected UGI types in detail, with regard to their regulating functions and their implementation in cities.

Trees

Trees are an important element in urban ecosystems (Bolund & Hunhammar, 1999). They are planted along streets, in courtyards, in open spaces or in parks and gardens. To supply the trees with soil, water and root space they are planted in tree pits (FLL, 2015; Roloff, 2013). In addition to their aesthetic and ecological functions, urban trees provide regulating services for climate and stormwater management (Demuzere et al., 2014; Gaffin et al., 2012). The four main functions are: evapotranspiration, shading, interception and infiltration.

- Evapotranspiration is the combined process of evaporation from soils and surfaces and transpiration through leaf stomata. Both release water into the air and provide a cooling effect, as energy is needed to evaporate liquid water to water vapour (Taha, 1997).
- Shading reduces incoming solar radiation, which in turn lowers air and surface temperatures below the tree's crown (Armson et al., 2013).
- The storage of rain water in the canopy is called interception, and describes the fraction of precipitation that is held by the leaves of the canopy. The intercepted water then evaporates or, eventually, contributes to runoff with a time delay (Sanders, 1986; Xiao & McPherson, 2002).
- The surface of the tree pit is at least to a certain extent pervious and allows rainfall to infiltrate into the ground. From there, water is available for evaporation, transpiration or groundwater recharge (Konarska et al., 2016).

The functions of evapotranspiration, shading and interception are mainly determined by one factor – the density of the tree's leaves (e.g. Kristensen & Jensen, 1975; Moser et al., 2015). This is expressed by the leaf area index (LAI) or leaf area density (LAD). LAI expresses the one-sided green leaf area per unit surface area, and the LAD is the per unit canopy volume (Lalic & Mihailovic, 2004). The higher these values, the higher the transpiration rate, the less solar radiation is transmitted through the crown, and the more precipitation is retained (e.g. Fahmy et al., 2010; Rahman et al., 2011; Xiao et al., 2000). Infiltration depends on the permeability and size of the tree pit and its soil characteristics (e.g. Armson et al., 2013; Konarska et al., 2016).

In European cities, a wide range of tree species are typically planted (Roloff, 2013). However, in central and north-western European cities only a few genera predominate the species selection – among them *Platanus, Acer, Aesculus* and *Tilia* (Pauleit et al., 2002; Sæbø et al., 2005). Vital, healthy trees that can provide the above-mentioned services must be suitable for use in urban areas, and adapted to climate change. In Germany, two lists have been developed that evaluate the suitability of urban tree species – KLAM and GALK. KLAM was developed at the Technical University of Dresden, and evaluates tree species as a function of their resistance to drought stress and cold, with the aim of selecting trees that can be planted under future climate change conditions (Roloff, 2013). The GALK list was first introduced in 1976 by the Heads of the German Parks Departments Conference as a recommendation to municipal administrations, and has been updated regularly since then (GALK, 2012). Urban planners use these two lists to select tree species for new plantings, and are considered to ensure vital urban trees in the long term.

Green roofs

Green roofs are vegetated layers covering the rooftop. The construction is divided into four layers – a waterproof layer, a drainage layer, a filter layer and a substrate layer. The depth of the substrate layer depends on roof-carrying capacity, investment decisions and type of vegetation (Lösken et al., 2008). Generally, there are two types of green roofs, intensive or extensive. Intensive green roofs are designed as roof gardens with different types of vegetation and a thick substrate layer (> 0.2 m) (Lösken et al., 2008). This requires a complex construction, and the level of maintenance is high as irrigation is often needed. Extensive green roofs, on the other hand, are greened with undemanding vegetation and are suitable for large areas or sloped roofs, as their technical design and maintenance requirements are simple (Berardi et al., 2014; Getter & Rowe, 2006). For instance, roofs planted with low, dense and drought-resistant vegetation of little height are well-suited to residential buildings, and for retrofitting the existing building stock (Ahiablame et al., 2012). Like trees, green roofs provide regulating ecosystem services for cooling and rainfall retention by evapotranspiration, changes in surface albedo, interception and infiltration (Ansel et al., 2011; Pfoser et al., 2013). By greening rooftops their albedo changes, increasing reflection of incoming solar radiation, and reducing heat storage (Santamouris, 2014). Evapotranspiration, interception and infiltration vary as a function of the substrate's depth and

hydraulic characteristics, and the LAI of vegetation (e.g. Czemiel Berndtsson, 2010). In urban areas, where space for additional greening is limited, green roofs have the advantage of occupying space that is normally unused (Stovin, 2010). Hence, city administrations support their implementation through different programmes and incentives, for example, directly by providing financial incentives and making them a legally-binding part of master plans, or indirectly by reductions in sewage fees (Ansel et al., 2011).

Green facades

Green facades are plants growing on a vertical surface, typically the walls of buildings. There may or may not be any further infrastructure, and vegetation is rooted either in the ground or in planters installed on the ground or within the facade. Some systems need irrigation (Pfoser et al., 2013). Green facades can technically be attached to a large proportion of walls in a city, and the space required for their implementation is low compared to, for example, trees (Köhler, 2008; Manso & Castro-Gomes, 2015). The regulating ecosystem services provided by green facades are evapotranspiration, shading, changes in surface albedo and infiltration (if rooted in the ground) (Pfoser et al., 2013). Unlike trees, there is no shading of open spaces, but building walls covered by vegetation have lower surface albedo; consequently, they prevent incoming solar radiation from heating up the building materials, and decrease long-wave radiation into the open space (Cameron et al., 2014; Jänicke et al., 2014). Like trees and green roofs, the evapotranspiration and shading capacities of green facades are contingent on the plant's LAI, and infiltration capacity on the size and hydraulic characteristics of their planting pits (if rooted in the ground). As for green roofs, cities can support the implementation of green facades directly with financial incentives (Pfoser et al., 2013).

3.5.2 Development of scenarios

To assess the regulating effects of different UGI types, a comprehensive set of greening scenarios was developed. This novel approach integrates different types and quantities of UGI, under varying initial conditions, while at the same time taking into account the planning guidelines practitioners must follow (Figure 13). Municipal representatives were invited to stakeholder workshops during the development of the approach, and provided feedback on complex local requirements and practices. Their comments were taken into account when parameterising the different scenarios.



Figure 13: Green infrastructure scenarios tested with both modelling approaches. The Baseline scenario is highlighted. Facade greening was only simulated by the Microclimatic model, and the Combi scenario by the hydrological model. These scenarios are hatched.

The current greening situation (Section 3.4.1) forms the Baseline. The other scenarios range from the extreme cases of no vegetation ('0') to maximum greening for each proposed type of UGI (TreeM, RoofM, and FacadeM). The 'no green' scenario assumes the total loss of vegetation and completely sealed surfaces. The 'maximum greening' scenario assumes that vegetation is present in all available spaces except buildings. In this case, trees are planted in pits on pavements, on parking lots and courtyards, and all walls and roofs are greened. Between the Baseline and maximum scenarios, a set of presumably realistic scenarios (TreeR, RoofR and FacadeR) was created, representing greening interventions that are technically and spatially feasible. One objective was to place vegetation in areas that are most exposed to heat, notably those that are south-west oriented (e.g. Lee et al., 2016; Norton et al., 2015) as the location of the vegetation is assumed to have a large impact on heat mitigation. Other realistic interventions included planting trees on pavements and in courtyards at a minimum distance of 10 m from each other, only greening flat-roofed buildings (in courtyards) and greening two-thirds of facades. For individual trees, it was assumed that they would provide more cooling than tree stands per unit canopy area, because their canopies intercept light over a greater area (Ennos, 2010). Greening is most likely to be technically feasible on flat roofs, and approximately one third of a facade cannot be greened due to space requirements for windows (Pfoser et al., 2013). Facade greening was only tested in the microclimatic model, as the hydrological model is two-dimensional and cannot represent this situation. Finally, a combined, realistic scenario of green roofs and trees was developed ('Combi') and tested in the hydrologic model. For all scenarios, the existing Baseline vegetation was preserved (except for scenario '0'). In the case of overlapping vegetation types, priority was given to the type with the higher leaf area. To isolate the effects of vegetation from the effects of the urban form, the arrangement of streets, buildings and surface materials were kept constant in all scenarios. Figure 13 sums up the approach, and Figure 14 presents the location of the respective types of UGI in each scenario.

The extent of greening is 9.0 % in the Baseline scenario (see Section 3.4.1). Table 6 gives the respective percentages for all scenarios, and the percentage of permeable surfaces for scenarios tested in the hydrological model. Permeable surfaces are, to a certain extent, the same as greening (e.g. for green roofs). However, for trees the percentage of permeable surface is less than greening, as only the size of the tree pit is counted, while the crown is counted as green cover. For each modelling approach, these

percentages were calculated using the respective software or analysis tools (R for microclimatic modelling, MIKE SHE for hydrological modelling), and from a two-dimensional perspective. For this reason, the proportion of green facades is lower than if their vertical coverage is included. Due to the different sizes of grid cells (ENVI-met 2 m, MIKE SHE 1 m) and the rotation from the north (in ENVI-met) the calculated percentages vary for the same spatial setups.

Scenario	ENVI-met	MIKI	E SHE
	Green share %	Green share %	Permeable surfaces %
·0 ·	0.0	0.0	0.0
Baseline	9.0	6.4	1.7
TreeR	23.6	14.9	3.9
TreeM	35.6	25.3	6.5
RoofR	17.8	14.6	10.1
RoofM	55.8	54.3	50.0
Combi	-	22.7	12.2
FacadeR	12.3	-	-
FacadeM	19.3	-	-

Table 6: Green share and permeable surfaces of all scenarios calculated by the two models



Figure 14: Overview of all greening scenarios with location and distribution of the respective UGI type

3.5.3 Definition of vegetation profiles

To build the scenarios within the two modelling approaches vegetation profiles were defined for each UGI type. The ENVI-met package includes a database of common European vegetation profiles that defines species, geometry and leaf area characteristics. As it was not possible to collect empirical data regarding existing vegetation on the ground, these profiles were used and supplemented by information from the literature on, for example, facade greening. Table 7 presents the three vegetation profiles that were selected, namely a type of tree frequently found in Munich and rated as suitable for urban areas by GALK and KLAM (GALK, 2012; Roloff, 2013), an extensive green roof covered by grass and a typical way of facade greening with creeper.

 Table 7: Characteristics of the selected vegetation profiles used in greening scenarios. Adapted from ENVI-met Albero and Jänicke et al. (2014).

UGI type	Tree	Green roof	Green facade
Type/ species	Acer platanoides	Extensively greened	Parthenocissus
			tricuspidata
Plant height [m]	15.0	Max. 0.5	Depending on building
			height
Plant width [m]	6.0	1.0	1.0
Root depth [m]	3.0	0.5	1.0
Leaf area density	2.0	0.3	1.9
$[m^2/m^3]$			
Leaf area index	6.1	3.0	Depending on building
			height

Next to the leaf area other parameters regarding vegetation profiles were set. Consistent with municipal regulations of the city of Munich, the size of the trees' planting pits was set to 36 m³ with a diameter of 3 m (Landeshauptstadt München, 2016b). The technical construction of the green roof consisted of a 0.2 m thick substrate layer as recommended by Lösken et al. (2008). This made the creation of a third soil profile for the green roof substrate necessary (compare Section 3.4.4). It consists of the 0.2 m substrate layer made up of coarse-grained material such as lava, pumice and expanded slate and an impermeable clay layer representing the roof construction (Lösken et al., 2008).

3.6 Assessment of multiple ecosystem services

The final step was to compare the results of the two models, in order to draw some conclusions on the synergies of EbA measures implemented to regulate both heat and runoff. First, the reduction potential of each scenario was compared and ranked. Only scenarios that were assessed in both models were used. Reduction potential for heat and runoff mitigation was expressed as the relative change in either PET values, or runoff volume as a percentage of the overall precipitation volume, compared to the Baseline scenario. The regulating effects of single types of UGI (trees and green roofs) were compared by referring to their specific functions (Section 3.5.1). The results and their comparison offer a better understanding of the key vegetation parameters needed to provide certain functions, and make it possible to optimise vegetation characteristics.

4. RESULTS

This section summarises the results presented in Papers 1 to 3, and the evaluation of EbA synergies for heat and runoff mitigation (Objective 4).

4.1 Integration of EbA into urban adaptation strategies

The 34 climate change adaptation strategies included in this analysis (Appendix A of Paper 1) are significantly different in terms of their type, structure, scope and presentation. Nineteen are stand-alone policies, 14 are part of municipal mitigation strategies, and one is part of an urban development strategy (Figure 15). Overall, stand-alone adaptation strategies were more comprehensive and detailed than others.

The context analysis showed that almost half of the keywords (47 %) appeared in the section of the documentation focused on specific adaptation measures. With respect to individual keywords, in all cases, most references to EbA related to specific adaptation measures, while 'biodiversity' was frequently included in the context of climate change impacts. This gives a first insight into the importance of EbA and its related concepts. Following from the fact that EbA receives its main attention, when specific adaptation measures are presented, a high relevance, clear understanding of the purpose of EbA and high chances for an actual implementation of measures are indicated.



Figure 15: Large German cities with adaptation strategies, either as a stand-alone policy, or as part of municipal mitigation or urban development strategies (as of January 2015)

Furthermore, the analysis showed that 76 % of climate change adaptation strategies include adaptation measures that can be related to EbA according to the analytical framework. The percentage of EbA measures compared to conventional, engineering-based measures ranges from 15 to 100 %. In three cities, all adaptation measures can be linked to EbA: Munich (integrated into a mitigation strategy), and Bremen and Mülheim (stand-alone adaptation strategies). Many cities provide a comprehensive list of

planned adaptation measures (ranging from 0 to 157) together with more-or-less detailed explanations. The urban ecosystems used or created by EbA measures cover all classes of UGI from green buildings to urban forests. Parks/ lawns are the most frequent (93 instances) individual measures. In contrast, greening of buildings (19 instances) is least frequent. Typical EbA measures include: a) the creation of new ecosystems by planting trees, greening roofs and facades, or creating climate-regulating green spaces; b) measures that have an impact on parks/ lawns such as the conservation and extension of parks for fresh air exchange or the use of green areas as flood retention areas; and c) strategic and regulatory measures, for example, the implementation of a biodiversity strategy, the development of habitat connection plans, or the promotion of species diversity when planting trees.

Regarding the effectiveness of EbA measures, only Berlin and Köln had attempted to quantify their impact through microclimate simulations. These showed a reduction in air temperature as a result of implementing greening programmes (e.g. street trees or facade greening). No other evidence is available concerning the effectiveness of EbA (Grothues et al., 2013; Senatsverwaltung für Stadtentwicklung Berlin, 2011).

Regarding the expectations and reasons for integrating EbA measures into adaptation strategies, 14 of the 21 individual ecosystem service categories were mentioned. On average cities named 11 different ecosystem services as motivation for their EbA measures. Regulating services were cited most often (303 instances), which highlights the importance of local climate regulation as the main purpose of EbA measures. Except for Mühlheim, all cities that listed specific adaptation measures referred to regulating ecosystem services in their strategies. Among these services, 'urban temperature regulation' was used 121 times to refer to measures such as the conservation of fresh air corridors and greening facades. 'Run-off mitigation' was achieved by, for example, greening roofs and unsealing impermeable surfaces (54 instances), while 'moderation of extreme events' through, for example, climate-adapted species selection was used 59 times. With respect to individual adaptation strategies, 48 % included EbA measures with multiple objectives that aimed to provide more than one ecosystem service. In absolute terms, 25 % of descriptions of EbA measures refer to multiple objectives.

4.2 EbA potential to regulate heat events

On a hot summer day pedestrians experience moderate to extreme heat stress in all open spaces in the Baseline scenario. PET reaches 41.1 °C on average, with single values ranging from 34 °C to nearly 60 °C at 3 pm. Within the study area, thermal comfort varies. Highest discomfort occurs in the northeastern courtyard, where there is no ventilation, wind speeds are close to 0 m/s, and south-western oriented facades and asphalt surfaces reflect incoming solar radiation (Figure 16, left side). The coolest spots are found in street canyons and courtyards shaded by trees and buildings, with PET values between 34 and 39 °C. Where streets are not shaded, PET is higher as a high proportion of incoming solar radiation is re-radiated from the asphalt.

Under climate change, thermal discomfort for pedestrians increases by 6 %, to an average PET of 43.5 °C (ranging from 37–62 °C PET). Spatial variability is similar to today's climate, as the northeastern courtyard is still the area of highest discomfort, with PET values up to 62 °C. Even in shaded areas, PET increases to over 41 °C, leading to extreme heat stress. This is especially true for shaded courtyards, where there is little wind and hot air cannot escape (Figure 16, right side).



Figure 16: Simulated PET values for a height of 1.4 m at 3 p.m. for the Baseline scenario under current and future climate conditions.

Although all greening scenarios achieve an improvement in PET values compared to the current situation, thermal comfort remains low. Average PET values for all scenarios indicate strong (35–41 °C PET) to extreme (above 41 °C) heat stress. This shows that the regulating potential of the different scenarios varies as a function of the UGI type and quantity.



Figure 17: Simulated PET values for a height of 1.4 m at 3 p.m. for the TreeR and FacadeM scenarios. Although both show an average PET reduction of 10% compared to the Baseline, there are differences in local regulating effects.

Planting trees has the highest potential to mitigate thermal discomfort during heat days. Maximum tree planting (TreeM, 34 % tree cover) reduces PET by 13 % compared to the Baseline. TreeR has tree crown cover of only 24 %; however, it still achieves a PET reduction of 10 %. Most of this reduction comes from shading and evapotranspiration (e.g. Bowler et al., 2010; Konarska et al., 2014; Shashua-Bar & Hoffman, 2000). PET values reflect the pattern of solar radiation hitting surfaces, as expressed by T_{mrt}, which governs PET as a dominant factor during the daytime of calm and windless days (Lee et al., 2016). Local PET values under tree crowns decreased to a minimum of 31 °C in TreeM, representing moderate heat stress. The highest mitigating effect of trees occurred in the north-eastern courtyard, where PET was reduced up to 40 % compared to the Baseline (Figure 17, left side).

A comparison of green roofs and facades reveals significant differences in their heat mitigation capacity. Green roofs do not contribute to shading effects and are distant from street level. Their contribution to reducing PET at the 1.4 m level is small for RoofM (0.5 %) and zero for RoofR (no reduction). However, green facades achieve average PET reductions in the range of 10 % (for FacadeM) and 5 % (for FacadeR) under today's climate. Green facades decrease the heating of walls and the reflection of incoming solar radiation (Jänicke et al., 2014; Pfoser et al., 2013) leading to a reduction of T_{mrt} and PET in front of green facades. When facades are greened, minimum PET values in the study area dropped to 30 °C compared to 34 °C with current greening. However, this reduction is restricted to the immediate proximity of the green facades (Figure 17, right side). Further away (> 2 m), no effects were observed. Therefore, differences in thermal conditions between urban locations are closely related to the amount of solar radiation reaching the surface, i.e. the sky view and the proximity of vegetation (Oke, 1980).

The heat mitigating effects of trees, green roofs, and green facades are summarized in Table 9. Figure 17 compares the spatial cooling effects of trees and green facades. Both scenarios achieve a reduction

of 10 %, but the heat maps reveal that trees increase the fraction of shaded open spaces, while green facades provide cooling by hindering the re-radiation of heat from building walls.

4.3 EbA potential to regulate heavy rain events

In both current and future climate conditions, precipitation represents the main water inflow into the study area. These inflows are converted into an outflow (i.e. surface runoff that is discharged into the sewage system, evapotranspiration, or subsurface flows), or an increase in the water stored by the system. All of these components are shown in Table 8.

For the smaller heavy rain event with a two-year return period, 95.7 % of precipitation is discharged, whereas 2.7 % contributes to evapotranspiration, and 0.8 % to groundwater recharge. The evapotranspiration rate is an aggregation of plant transpiration, soil evaporation and evaporation from ponded water, either from surface runoff or canopy interception. As only 6.4 % of the study area is greened, evapotranspiration from interception remains relatively low. Moreover, only 2 % of surfaces are permeable. For example, tree pits infiltrate water through the topsoil and contribute to soil evaporation, plant transpiration, or groundwater recharge.

	Two-year	r return period	Five-year	return period
Hydrological process	m ³	%	m ³	%
Precipitation	-779.0	-100.0	-978.8	-100.0
Surface runoff	745.7	95.7	946.6	96.7
Evapotranspiration	20.8	2.7	15.7	1.6
Evaporation from interception	2.0	0.3	2.0	0.2
Soil evaporation	3.9	0.5	3.1	0.3
Plant transpiration	12.5	1.6	8.9	0.9
Evaporation from overland flow	2.5	0.3	1.6	0.2
Groundwater recharge	6.0	0.8	2.8	0.3
Storage change	-7.5	-1.0	-6.3	-0.6
Others*	14.0	-0.9	20.1	0.4

 Table 8: Hydrological processes in m³ and % for the Baseline scenario under current and future climate conditions.

 Note: * For example evaporation from detention storage, boundary outflows, model error.

Under future climate change scenarios, rainfall intensity is higher and 96.7 % is discharged. The relation between the precipitation event and amount of surface runoff remains relatively stable. The rate of surface runoff is higher compared to current climate conditions due to higher levels of precipitation in

the same time step, and immediate discharge from the surface. Figure 18 shows that most precipitation drains away within the hour of a heavy rain event. In return, water has proportionally less time to infiltrate, evapotranspire or be intercepted.



Figure 18: Surface runoff in the Baseline scenario in hourly time steps before and after heavy rain events (two- and fiveyear return period)

The addition of vegetation to the Baseline scenario decreases surface runoff and increases evapotranspiration. The biggest increase can be attributed to soil evaporation and plant transpiration. Another effect observed are the increased rates for water uptake from saturated and unsaturated zones needed for transpiration during dry summer months. This leads to a lack of storage in the unsaturated zone. This additional inflow means that increased evapotranspiration has more impact than reductions in surface runoff. Under future climate conditions (i.e. higher rainfall intensity), surface runoff reductions are slightly less than under current conditions, as less water is retained and made available for evapotranspiration and infiltration. The most effective runoff reduction scenario has the highest percentages of green cover and permeable surfaces (RoofM, 54.3 % greening). As for the other greening scenarios, a maximum difference of 2.4 % from the Baseline is reached in the Combi scenario (22.7 % greening). TreeR and RoofR have almost the same percentage of green cover (approximately 15%), while their surface runoff rates are 94.8 % and 94.2 % respectively for the two-year return period. Small differences are found in evapotranspiration, groundwater recharge and storage change due to the higher percentage of permeable surfaces in the RoofR scenario. On the other hand, the result of the Combi scenario is almost the sum of the two individual scenarios RoofR and TreeR. The difference can be explained by the presence of tree crowns over green roofs in courtyards, and the inclusion of only the tree layer in the two-dimensional simulation.

4.4 Synergetic effects for heat and flood mitigation

The results of Papers 2 and 3 clearly show that all UGI types reduce both heat stress and surface runoff, independent of the quantity of their implementation. Nevertheless, regulating potential varies within the scenarios, as a function of the UGI type and quantity (Table 9). Trees are most effective for heat mitigation with PET reductions of up to 13 %, due to their ability to provide both shading for open spaces and building surfaces and evapotranspirative cooling. Shading is the more influential parameter, as it reduces incoming solar radiation and consequently the heating of artificial surfaces, which reradiate heat (Akbari, 2002; Oke, 2011). With respect to runoff mitigation, increased evapotranspiration is beneficial, as is interception by the tree crown and infiltration into tree pits. Infiltration has the biggest impact on reducing runoff. However, the unsealed land available to plant trees and increase infiltration is limited, and the maximum reduction (2 %) is far less than that achieved by green roofs (14.8 %). This shows that in this case, permeable green roofs are the most effective UGI type due to their ability to provide large capacities for infiltration through their permeable surface. On the other hand, they are least effective for heat mitigation at pedestrian level due to their distance from the street.

Consequently, both trees and green roofs are complementary for achieving adaptation to extreme heat and heavy rain events, however their contribution differs as they provide two different functions: shading of open spaces and building surfaces (for heat mitigation) and infiltration capacity (for runoff mitigation).

Scenario	Heat re	gulation	Runoff regulation	
	Current climate	Future climate	Current climate	Future climate
'0' = No greening	+ 4.3	+ 10.7	+ 0.7	+ 1.6
Baseline = Current greening	0.0	+ 6.3	0.0	+ 1.0
TreeR = Realistic trees	-10.3	-4.0	-0.9	+ 0.2
RoofR = Realistic green roofs	0.0	+ 6.3	-1.5	-0.4
FacadeR = Realistic green facades	-5.1	+ 0.9	(Not assessed)	(Not assessed)
TreeM = Maximum trees	-13.0	-7.1	-2.0	-0.9
RoofM = Maximum green roofs	-0.5	+ 6.3	-14.8	-13.4
FacadeM = Maximum green facades	-9.8	-4.1	(Not assessed)	(Not assessed)
Combi = Realistic trees and green roofs	(Not assessed)	(Not assessed)	-2.4	-1.2

 Table 9: The potential for heat and runoff regulation expressed as relative change compared to the Baseline scenario under current climate for each greening scenario under current and future climate conditions

Furthermore, the results show that the strategic placement of vegetation in heat-exposed areas increases its heat mitigation effects and reduces the need for additional green cover, while for runoff mitigation in flat areas (like the study area) the extent of green and permeable surfaces is key, resulting in a need for extensive green cover. While the maximum tree crown cover (34 %) reduces PET by 13 %, just 22 % cover can reduce PET by 10 % if hotspots are prioritized. With respect to runoff mitigation, there is a clear relation between green cover and runoff reduction, as maximum green cover (54 %) achieves the maximum runoff reduction (15 %). This is confirmed by comparing RoofR and TreeR scenarios, which both have 15 % green cover and a similar runoff reduction potential. Hence, to regulate heat events, vegetation needs to shade heat exposed areas, while to regulate heavy rain events, green cover must enable infiltration (expressed as the extent of permeable surfaces).

As the greening scenarios can only take account of one vegetation profile per UGI type, Table 10 summarizes the vegetation characteristics that contribute to either heat or runoff regulating ecosystem services, and which should be considered when selecting plants. These parameters were found to be influential during sensitivity testing before the model setup. Optimizing one service can positively

influence the provision of other services, intensifying synergies. For instance, a tree with a high LAD not only has high shading potential, but also higher interception rates. Green roofs with deep substrate have a high capacity for retaining water, while also increasing the potential for evapotranspirative cooling.

	Heat mitigation	Runoff mitigation
Trees	High evapotranspiration rates	High leaf area density for interception
	High leaf area density for shading	Large crown volume for interception
	High crown volume for shading	High evapotranspiration rates
	Drought tolerance	Large tree pit for infiltration
Green roofs	High substrate depth for	High substrate depth for infiltration and
	evapotranspirative cooling	retention
	High evapotranspiration rates	High evapotranspiration rate
	Drought tolerance	
Green facades	High leaf area density for shading	(Not assessed)
	Drought tolerance	

Table 10: Vegetation characteristics for optimising heat and/or runoff mitigation

To summarise, all of the assessed UGI types can contribute to climate change adaptation by mitigating both heat and runoff, so being synergetic. However, urban planners and decision-makers need to establish their priorities when choosing the most effective type of UGI for their situation – trees for heat mitigation, and green roofs for runoff mitigation – and optimise the UGI type accordingly.
5. DISCUSSION

The first part of this section discusses the relevance and general limitations of the main findings, first in terms of the current integration of EbA, then for its regulating potential to extreme heat and rain events. The next part is dedicated to the multifunctionality of EbA, followed by a discussion of the methodological limitations of the modelling approach to improve the understanding of the underlying assumptions when interpreting the study's results. Finally, some practical implications for urban planning are discussed.

5.1 Current status of EbA in strategic urban planning

The results of Paper 1, presented in Section 4.1, show that the EbA concept and terminology have not yet been disseminated to the local policy level in Germany, as none of the strategies included in the analysis took a comprehensive approach to EbA. While the importance of EbA is acknowledged at federal level (BfN, 2012; Doswald & Osti, 2011), this has not led directly to a successful uptake at local level. Wamsler et al. (2017) suggest some pathways for effective EbA mainstreaming at local, institutional and interinstitutional level, meaning that integration could become a standard procedure. The latter study finds that power relations and conflicts of interests at all levels can hinder implementation. For example, municipalities see climate change mitigation and adaptation as separate issues and, hence, miss sharing experiences or exploiting potential synergies. This is consistent with the results of Pasquini and Cowling (2014) and Wamsler et al. (2016) for South Africa and Sweden, which suggest that a lack of knowledge transfer and institutional fragmentation underlie the lack of integration of EbA into urban adaptation planning.

Nevertheless, most strategies included indirect references to the underlying principles of EbA (ecosystem services, biodiversity and green infrastructure), indicating a general understanding of the concept. Interestingly, the term 'ecosystem service', even though more closely related to EbA, receives less attention than the term 'biodiversity'. This may be due to the fact that the term 'ecosystem services' was created by academia (MA, 2005). This is seen in Dresden's strategy, which is the product of a large research project and contains most references to the term compared to all other assessed strategies (REGKLAM, 2013). Other reasons that the concept is not further acknowledged could include that: a) it is a recent development; b) some aspects of it (e.g. monetarisation) have been criticised by municipal

staff (Wamsler, 2015) and c) 'older' concepts, such as 'landscape' or 'ecological functions' still exist in the German planning discourse (Albert et al., 2012). On the other hand, the importance given to biodiversity might in Germany be related to the fact that the country expects climate change to have severe impacts on biodiversity in the near future (Mosbrugger et al., 2013). It is interesting to note that in Sweden, biodiversity has been the driver of EbA approaches (Wamsler et al., 2016).

It is clear that in Germany, the EbA concept is more widely understood by the research community than by the municipal administrations or private companies who are the authors of the assessed adaptation strategies. The example of Dresden supports findings from studies in other regions, which reveal that progress in EbA integration is most often found in cities where climate change adaptation research is being carried out (Pasquini & Cowling, 2014; Wamsler, 2015). For instance, in South Africa, Pasquini and Cowling (2014) concluded that research activities facilitated collaboration for environmental goverance and consequently the mainstreaming of EbA in a city administration.

This raises the question of whether EbA is the best term to use (outside of academia) to promote climate change adaptation using ecosystems and biodiversity, given that it is not fully accepted by practitioners (Wamsler, 2015). Recently, the European Commission (EC) established the term nature-based solutions (NBS) as an alternative, and it is gaining increasing attention in research and practice (Nesshöver et al., 2017). NBS are defined as sustainable actions that help societies to tackle not only the challenge of climate change, but also other environmental, social and economic challenges (EC, 2015; EEA, 2015). It is possible that this term could be more easily accepted by a wider group of stakeholders than EbA is at the moment (Nesshöver et al., 2017).

The variation in the percentage and type of EbA measures presented in adaptation strategies suggests that a consistent and comprehensive approach to their selection and integration is lacking. In Germany, there is currently no legal requirement to develop an urban adaptation strategy, and various unofficial guidelines are available (e.g. ICLEI, 2010; Prutsch et al., 2014). Existing strategies are therefore the result of voluntary efforts. This has resulted in a wide array of approaches, different types of strategies and measures with different scopes, leading to a wide range of results. According to Geneletti and Zardo (2016), this is also the case for adaptation strategies adopted by large cities in other European countries.

The findings presented here suggest that clearer guidance for municipalities that are taking action in the area of climate change adaptation, together with increased emphasis on the importance of ecosystems for climate change adaptation might help to promote the integration of EbA into urban adaptation planning of German cities (Deutsche Bundesregierung, 2011; Hansen et al., 2014; Noble et al., 2014; Pramova et al., 2012). It should be noted that most of the adaptation strategies that were examined prioritised regulating ecosystem services. Moreover, almost half of the strategies emphasised the multiple functions of EbA. Unlike non-EbA measures that only have one adaptation benefit (e.g. mechanical shade devices or changing surface albedo), EbA measures can provide several benefits at

the same time (EEA, 2012). The results also underline the need for further studies that provide evidence of the multiple benefits for both adaptation and other areas of urban planning of EbA (Doswald et al., 2014; Pasquini & Cowling, 2014).

Finally, to strengthen the approach and the results of this study, it would be interesting to interview decision-makers and include other urban planning documents, such as urban land use plans and biodiversity strategies in the analysis, as this would provide a deeper insight on the integration of EbA into urban adaptation planning in Germany. Moreover, further research could assess both the benefits and the cost-effectiveness of EbA measures compared to other climate change adaptation options.

5.2 The regulating potential of EbA

A prerequisite for the implementation of EbA measures is to acknowledge the importance of ecosystem services for effective climate change adaptation, and ensure that it is disseminated into municipal adaptation strategies (TEEB DE, 2014). To support this, the results of Papers 2 and 3 provide empirical evidence on the positive effects of EbA in regulating extreme climatic events. All of the assessed types of UGI contribute to both reducing the outdoor thermal load and the volume of surface runoff after heavy rain events.

Under future climate change scenarios, all three types of UGI have the potential to decrease expected impacts to, or even below, today's level of heat stress and surface runoff. Both trees and green facades can provide climate-proofing against heat stress, assuming a minimum of 10 % of the surface is covered by either trees or green facades (i.e. scenarios TreeR, TreeM and FacadeM with 24, 36 and 19 % greening respectively, Figure 19). UGI types can also compensate for surface runoff due to climate change, as shown in scenarios TreeM, RoofR, RoofM and Combi. In this case, outcomes are related to the extent of both greening and permeable surfaces, which need to be larger than a minimum of 6 % (6.5, 15, 54 and 23 % permeable cover in TreeM, RoofR, RoofM and Combi respectively). The results presented here support the study of Gill et al. (2007), who suggest that heat climate-proofing is achievable with a 10 % increase in greening in the Greater Manchester city centre, where the current green cover is 20 %.



Figure 19: PET reduction potential for greening scenarios. The horizontal bar represents the PET Baseline scenario (the current climate). Under climate change, TreeR, TreeM, and FacadeM lead to a PET reduction of 4, 7, and 4 %, respectively, which is below the Baseline level.

There is often little space for additional vegetation in dense urban areas (such as the case study area), and thought needs to be given to how much green can be added. Also in Manchester, Hall et al. (2012) calculated that the potential increase in tree cover was only 5 %, given local regulations, which would fail to keep temperatures down to current levels under climate change. Consequently, a 10 % increase in green cover cannot be solely achieved by, for example, simply planting more trees. Another option is greening facades, because, although they do not contribute to shading of open space, they offer great cooling potential while requiring little space. Green roofs can regulate runoff, and offer the advantage of occupying space that is normally not used. This is relevant when there is a lack of space for greening, when the use of open space is controversial, or when radical changes to existing structures are not allowed.

At the same time, it is necessary to assess the effectiveness of combinations of different types of UGI, and when their joint implementation creates synergies and trade-offs. In the Combi scenario (tested for its runoff mitigation potential), the combination of trees and green roofs results in the summing of their regulating effects, while only the extent of green roofs overlaid by trees is missing. The combination leads to a greater reduction of runoff, as both measures increase storage capacity through interception, evapotranspiration and infiltration. Interception and evapotranspiration rates are higher with additional trees, which is the result of their higher LAI and larger root system. Green roofs, on the other hand, increase the percentage of permeable surface and increase infiltration. Consistent with the findings presented here, Trinh and Chui (2013) find a summing effect for runoff mitigation for green roofs and bio-retention systems tested first separately, and then in a combined scenario. Lobaccaro and Acero (2015) suggest that a similar positive correlation between different UGI types could also exist for heat

regulation: the combination of grass, trees and green roofs was found to have lowest PET values in all scenarios examined.

The results of the microclimatic model show that the effectiveness of EbA measures is a function of their location within the area. Placing vegetation in heat-exposed hotspots increases its mitigating effects. This may be because there is a nonlinear relationship between green cover and PET reduction. However, this is not shown to be the case in studies such as Middel et al. (2015), who found a linear reduction in air temperature as the tree crown cover increased in hot and arid climates. This may be because the latter study used air temperature, rather than PET, and distributed additional trees evenly within the study area. Furthermore, the Middel et al. study used an earlier version of ENVI-met (V3.1). In this version of the software, vegetation could not yet be displayed as an individual object, meaning that transpiration processes were calculated differently (Bruse & Environmental Modelling Group, 2015a; Simon, 2016). Moreover, the study area used in this thesis has a higher building density, and consequently higher heat storage capacity and more shaded areas. It is possible that these factors have an impact on cooling potential that is different to the open, low-rise residential area assessed by Middel et al. (2015).

The hydrological model found no direct relation between the magnitude of runoff and the location of greening. Nevertheless, it can be assumed that it may be important to place it in natural overland channels, as additional surface water can infiltrate into pits of trees or green facades. This needs further research, for example in urban areas with larger differences in elevation than the study area, and an evaluation of the problems that might occur when polluted surface runoff directly infiltrates into the ground.

The effectiveness of EbA measures for heat and runoff mitigation can be optimised by species selection. This thesis only assessed one species per UGI type, however, differences between species in the provision of heat und runoff mitigation functions (shading, evapotranspiration) have been reported by several studies. For example, tree shading is dependent on the crown volume, geometry and LAD, which influences solar transmissivity through the crown (e.g. Moser et al., 2015; Shashua-Bar & Hoffman, 2000). Konarska et al. (2014) showed that average transmissivity of direct solar radiation during summertime (foliated tree crowns) ranged from 1.3 to 5.3 % depending on the tree species, which positively correlated with LAD values. *Tilia cordata* had the lowest transmissivity and highest LAD, while *Prunus* has the highest transmissivity. With respect to transpiration, Moser et al. (2015) found higher rates for fully grown (> 40 years old) *Tilia cordata* than *Robinia pseudoacacia* during the summer months. Konarska et al. (2016) supports the idea of inter-species variability in transpiration rates, while at the same time establishing a positive relation between the transpiration rate and the fraction of permeable surfaces, which provide trees with water. This, in turn, suggests that more extensive permeable surfaces increase rainwater infiltration, which becomes available for evapotranspiration (compare Table 10).

This thesis focuses on the regulating potential of EbA measures with micro-scale benefits. EbA can also have positive effects on a larger scale – for example a district of a city, or the whole city. Studies using remote sensing approaches (e.g. Alavipanah et al., 2015) or meso-scale climate modelling (e.g. Fallmann et al., 2014; Li et al., 2014) show that the UHI effect can be significantly reduced by increasing the vegetative cover within a city, e.g. through green roofs or parks. Changes in albedo change the radiation balance of the urban environment, and lower surface temperatures. Finally, changes in runoff rates may reduce discharge into the sewage system, leading to a reduction in storage capacities sewer operators are required to provide.

5.3 Multifunctionality of EbA

The importance of EbA measures in providing co-benefits for urban planning go beyond the adaptation benefits assessed in this thesis. Almost half of the adaptation strategies that were examined for Paper 1 emphasise multiple functions. For instance, urban vegetation can support climate change mitigation by sequestering and storing carbon emissions. Similarly, biodiversity not only provides a habitat, but also has social and health benefits, for example by providing recreation areas, filtering air pollutants and reducing noise pollution (Coombes et al., 2010; Demuzere et al., 2014; Hansen et al., 2016; Klemm et al., 2015; Strohbach et al., 2013). Therefore, it is likely that other ecosystem services are provided when EbA measures are implemented to mitigate heat or heavy rain events, which increases their effectiveness in urban planning. This observation supports arguments for the use of EbA when multiple demands need to be balanced, for example if social or economic requirements take priority over climatic issues in urban planning, and needs to be given sufficient attention.

To make full use of EbA and its services, the trade-off between ecosystem services and potential disservices needs to be considered. A trade-off occurs when one service is lost as another is gained. Hence, if certain ecosystem services are increased, their relation to others must be understood, to avoid any unintended negative consequences (Hansen & Pauleit, 2014). An ecosystem disservice describes ecosystems functions that are perceived as negative for human well-being (Lyytimäki & Sipilä, 2009). In the context of EbA, this could include health problems arising from more or different vegetation, e.g., higher pollen concentrations, damage to infrastructure such as roads, and costs related to the implementation and management of different UGI types, e.g., maintenance costs. Ecosystem disservices are difficult to assess as data on costs is often lacking, and negative perceptions are highly subjective (Lyytimäki & Sipilä, 2009). For instance, Delshammar et al. (2015) evaluate citizens' complaints about urban greening recorded by a municipal park department, while Lyytimäki (2014) assess the representation of vegetation disservices in newspapers. Current and future work in this field will help to enhance the planning and management of EbA measures.

5.4 Limitations of the modelling approach

This thesis applies a novel, quantitative modelling approach to evaluating the effectiveness of different UGI types in mitigating heat and surface runoff. The novelty is the result of the integration of: a) two climate change impacts; b) the evaluation of three UGI types that can be implemented as EbA measures; c) different quantities of greening; d) current and future climate conditions; and e) the inclusion of current planning guidelines that practitioners have to consider during implementation.

The approach consisted of microclimatic modelling (with ENVI-met) and hydrological modelling (with MIKE SHE) and, although it proved to be well-suited to the purpose of this thesis, there are some methodological limitations that are discussed in the following paragraphs to increase the understanding for underlying assumptions when interpreting the presented results.

The study was designed as solely model-based without any opportunities to collect empirical input data or to validate the modelling approaches. The lack of empirical input meant that rough estimates and standard values taken from the literature or the integrated ENVI-met database were chosen to represent, for example, building and surface materials. Soil characteristics are a key factor in calculating, for example, hydraulic conductivity, and for this more detailed data was needed. Fortunately, the Munich Water Management Office could provide data on bore holes in the area that was used to generate sophisticated soil profiles (compare Section 3.4.4). As the research focused on the effects of UGI types, vegetation characteristics were chosen particularly carefully. After site visits to the area, suitable vegetation types were created based on data taken from the Albero database integrated into ENVI-met. This database draws upon empirical data from various studies (Bruse & Environmental Modelling Group, 2015b), including, but not limited to, studies of urban vegetation. However, it was found that LAD values were significantly higher than those reported in Moser et al. (2015) and Sjöman et al. (2016). Therefore, it is possible that the chosen values are overestimates when applied to trees in a dense urban environment, which in turn could lead to a slight overestimation of, for example, transpiration rates calculated from LAD values. Empirical measurements of LAD for trees in the study area would clarify this issue.

The modelling approaches could be improved by collecting empirical data on heat and runoff, which would increase the precision of input parameters and confirm the validity of the results. With respect to heat regulation, a simple approach using temperature loggers at reference points within the case area is a suitable validation method as presented by e.g. Skelhorn et al. (2014). For runoff regulation, one approach is to measure surface roughness and drain level, and hence the volume of inflow into the sewage system at reference points (Jaber & Shukla, 2012).

Both modelling techniques are complex tools that require detailed input data and demand significant computational resources. For instance, the ENVI-met model ran for five days on an eight-core, high-performance computer to simulate one scenario. The grid resolution and size of the study area are

determining factors for the running time. By increasing the grid resolution from 1 m to 2 m, it could be reduced from 11 to 5 days (compare Salata et al., 2016). Although this is not a problem for researchers, for practitioners, who need to quickly compare different scenarios before implementation, these approaches are too time-consuming. The initial test studies conducted at the beginning of this thesis may offer a solution, as some of the less-sensitive input parameters can be generalised, reducing the need to collect input data. Nevertheless, it is indispensable to develop new modelling approaches that are able to overcome these limitations, and work has already begun. The [UC]² project on 'Urban Climate Under Change', funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) aims to develop a new urban climate model that can provide detailed, high-resolution results, with a user-friendly interface and low computational requirements (Scherer, 2017). Although estimates of runoff mitigation could be based on surface and soil characteristics, which might be an easy way to establish rough trends (Konarska et al. (2016), this is not a suitable option for heat mitigation. For example, the heat regulating services provided by trees are closely related to the location of the tree in the open space as Rahman et al. (2017) found for *Tilia cordata* trees in different urban environments. These complex interrelations are difficult to account for in estimating approaches.

A scenario approach was adopted to enable comparisons between different UGI types, which created other limitations. On the one hand, scenarios require the determination of assumptions regarding additional greening, based on the available literature and applicable regulations. For example, the technical construction of green roofs is based on guidelines provided by Lösken et al. (2008), but it is likely that performance could be improved by additional drainage layers or deeper substrates. The required substrate volume for the root zone of a street tree in Munich is 36 m³ (Landeshauptstadt München, 2016b), which is high compared to other cities (for example, the standard set by the Research Society for Landscape Development and Construction (FLL) is 12 m³ (FLL, 2015)). Consequently, water availability and transpiration rates could be overestimates compared to other cities (compare Konarska et al., 2016). Moreover, for each UGI type only one typically used species was selected: Norway maple as the urban tree, extensive vegetation for the green roof, and a creeper for the green facade. All vegetation types are assumed to be fully developed and vital, and at the optimal stage to provide ecosystem services. In reality, this optimum is only reached for short time periods, as plants can suffer drought stress or are not yet fully grown (Gillner et al., 2015; Kjelgren & Clark, 1992; Moser et al., 2015; Sjöman et al., 2015). Both this, and the interspecies differences discussed in Section 5.2 may have influenced the results.

Finally, the scenario approach did not address all possible UGI types and quantities, but this was necessarily limited by the scope of the thesis and time constraints. Future research could extend the approach by covering more UGI types, vegetation dynamics, combinations of UGI types, and spatial setups.

5.5 Implications for urban planning

The results of the study are not directly applicable to the implementation of EbA measures on the ground, but serve as an estimation of the potential for heat and runoff reduction offered by different UGI types. They show that EbA is a valuable way to counteract projected urban climate change impacts and reduce the vulnerability of the population and the sewage system. This quantitative assessment may help urban planners, and others, to decide which UGI type used for EbA measures has the highest potential to regulate either the thermal load or surface runoff, or both, in dense urban areas, when implemented as EbA measure. Planners can select the most suitable measures that meet their strategic needs, and decide where to locate them within the area of interest. The following summarises the most important considerations regarding UGI types and their local implementation:

For heat mitigation, effective measures include:

- Concentrating on specific areas so called hotspots where pedestrians experience extreme heat stress during hot summer days.
- Prioritizing the planting of tress in these hotspots to reduce incoming solar radiation on artificial surfaces and increase evapotranspirative cooling in places that are frequented by pedestrians.
- Adding green facades, in particular on south-west-facing surfaces to reinforce mitigation effects through shading building surfaces and evapotranspiration, in particular in areas where additional trees are not an option due to building density and competing uses.
- Assessing options to increase (or protect existing) ventilation in heat-exposed areas to reduce overheating.
- Considering of the mitigating effects of green roofs on a larger, (e.g. city) scale, by changing roof albedo.

For runoff mitigation, effective measures include:

- Increasing stormwater storage capacity and possibilities for evapotranspiration within the area of interest.
- Prioritizing the planting of trees to increase interception and evapotranspiration capacities, if sufficient open space is available.
- Implementing green roofs for rainwater retention and evapotranspiration on rooftops, where competition for open spaces is lower than at street level.

For both heat and runoff mitigation, effective measures include:

- Prioritizing which extreme climatic event has the largest impact in the area of interest and implementing EbA measures accordingly.
- Planting trees in hotspots and along surface runoff channels.

- Increasing the extent of permeable surfaces and the soil volume available for rooting in tree pits to increase infiltration and evapotranspirative cooling.
- Adding green roofs to increase rainwater retention capacity, while at the same time providing rooftop cooling.
- Assessing all the options for the implementation of EbA measures in the area of interest, as the use of different UGI types is shown to be effective for climate change adaptation as well as having co-benefits for urban planning.

Figure 20 merges all of these recommendations for effective heat and runoff regulation, and indicates the most effective strategic locations for their implementation, assuming an urban morphology consisting of perimeter blocks. In cases where there is a trade-off between heat regulation (via shading) and ventilation (as is for example the case for the courtyard in the north-west corner of the perimeter block), priorities have to be set based on local conditions and the tree species suitable for local conditions.



Current greening



Actions for climate adaptation

	Shading of facades by trees or facade greening
//.	Shading of open space by trees
	Retention areas by green roofs
6	Securing sufficient ventilation
\longleftrightarrow	Maintaining fresh air corridors
2	0 10 20 40

Figure 20: Location of EbA measures for effective climate change adaptation in a dense urban structure

Some other issues, which are not directly derived from the results of this thesis, need to be assessed before deciding to use certain EbA measures:

- The identification of possible locations for multifunctional EbA measures, by assessing the availability of open space and possible competing uses (e.g. Stovin, 2010).
- The location of below-ground infrastructure (i.e. cables, sewage system, underground parking) (e.g. FLL, 2015).
- The selection of climate-adapted vegetation, i.e. drought-tolerant species (GALK, 2012; Roloff, 2013).
- The selection of vegetation types that are suited to the location, in terms of, for example, soil type, water availability, or exposure to stressors (FLL, 2015; Lösken et al., 2008; Roloff, 2013).
- Early decision-making, as the benefits of EbA are only seen when the vegetation is fully grown. For example, for urban trees this may be 30 years after they are planted (Sæbø et al., 2005).

The here presented recommendations for urban planning fulfil two objectives: first, they allow urban planners to prioritise different UGI types as EbA measures change depending on the local characteristics of their area of interest and expected climate change impacts; secondly, they are backed-up by scientific evidence, which serves as a proof of effectiveness in decision-making processes, when various interests have to be balanced.

However, urban planners still have to bear in mind that although understanding the effectiveness of EbA measures is a decisive factor in their implementation, it is not the only one. As the results of Paper 1 show, there is a great need to increase acceptance of EbA approaches and mainstream them into urban planning processes. It is hence important for urban planners to consider the following aspects when adaptation activities using EbA are planned and implemented:

- Increasing the emphasis on the importance of ecosystems and their multiple benefits for adaptation and other fields of urban planning.
- Assessing the adaptation strategies of other municipalities and using good practice as a guide for own development processes.
- Identifying and applying synergies and experience from other areas of urban planning.
- Increasing the acceptance of EbA among stakeholders, for example, by adopting the term NBS (Nesshöver et al., 2017).
- Using participatory approaches to involve all relevant stakeholders (Wamsler, 2017).
- Assessing institutional processes and power relations to improve mainstreaming of EbA (Wamsler et al., 2017).

Transdisciplinary research efforts can support the understanding of barriers and opportunities within municipal planning processes, and improve knowledge transfer between science and practice for successful climate change adaptation by using the benefits of urban greening.

6. CONCLUSION

6.1 Summary of key results

Effective climate change adaptation is indispensable for sustainable urban development and increased urban resilience to climate change (Revi et al., 2014). In cities, where the main expected impacts are increases in climatic extreme events like heat and heavy rain, it is particularly important to reduce the vulnerability of the population to extreme heat, and the urban water infrastructure to heavy rain (EEA, 2012). Therefore, the recent academic and political discussion has paid particular attention to the use of urban greening and its ecosystem services in the context of EbA at the international, European and national levels. This thesis provides several insights into the integration of EbA into the municipal adaptation strategies of selected German cities. This aims at increasing the understanding of the current role of EbA in urban adaptation planning. It concludes that while the term EbA is not referred to directly, references to the underlying components (i.e. ecosystem services, biodiversity and green infrastructure) could be identified. Different EbA measures are included in many of the assessed adaptation strategies, and many acknowledge the multiple benefits for urban planning. Nevertheless, the findings suggest, and therewith support the original hypothesis, that greater awareness of the effectiveness of EbA measures could improve decision-making and extend their integration into strategic adaptation planning of German cities.

Based on these results, scenarios were developed to quantify the performance of EbA measures in regulating extreme climatic events. It is the first time a study has been able to compare information on the regulating potential of different UGI types and quantities, and the synergistic effects of EbA measures on both heat and runoff mitigation. Under future climate conditions heat stress will reach extreme levels, and nearly all rainfall will be discharged as surface runoff in dense urban areas. Hence, it is imperative to enhance the implementation of EbA measures that are shown to effectively regulate both heat and runoff. The type and quantity of UGI affects its contribution to climate adaptation. For heat mitigation, the quality of greening has the largest effect, as trees are shown to be the most effective measure through the provision of shading (for open spaces and building surfaces) together with evapotranspirative cooling. Green facades can also maintain heat stress for pedestrians at current levels, and have the advantage of lower open space requirements than trees. With respect to runoff mitigation, increasing the quantity of green spaces and providing water storage capacities is most influential. Trees

CONCLUSION

can store water through interception, evapotranspiration and infiltration into pits, while the substrate of green roofs increases retention capacity. Compared to trees, green roofs require open space on often unused rooftops, and therefore have higher spatial potential for implementation.

The results presented here have practical implications for urban planning, notably the integration of EbA into strategic adaptation planning, together with the strategic selection and placement of UGI types to reduce both heat stress and surface runoff volumes. As they are backed by quantitative evidence, they provide urban planners with sound arguments that support climate adaptation using urban ecosystem services. Effective climate change adaptation is based on choosing the UGI type that is suited to the local situation, and the magnitude of services provided for heat and runoff regulation. Priority needs to be given to the type of UGI that can be implemented where it is needed. At the same time decision-makers need to continue to improve the mainstreaming and acceptance of EbA. The approach presented here helps to improve decision-making and the integration of EbA into urban climate adaptation planning.

6.2 Outlook and future research

This thesis presents a novel methodological approach that improves the integration of EbA measures into strategic urban adaptation planning by quantifying the effects of different UGI types for the regulation of heat and surface runoff. From the results some recommendations regarding how to implement EbA for climate adaptation are derived and discussed. The following paragraphs elaborate on possible extensions and amplifications of the methodological approach and assessment to further enhance the recommendations for urban planning.

Urban planners need information regarding the key factors that determine and influence the effectiveness of EbA measures for climate change adaptation. The scenario approach presented here offers the first comparative estimates of the adaptation potential of EbA. However, the study could be broadened to a larger scenario setup covering more types of UGI (e.g. rain gardens), and decentralised measures (e.g. the removal of impermeable surfaces for stormwater infiltration and changes to surface albedo), in order to assess combinations of types, understand interdependencies, and test different spatial preconditions (i.e. different morphology types, elevations and planting conditions). This could be extended to a larger-scale research programme that includes the collection of empirical data for model validation. In such a case, it would be interesting to include different species of one UGI type, and different climates (e.g. tropical or Mediterranean).

Furthermore, the focus of the analyses could be extended. For instance, nocturnal cooling rates are very important when studying the UHI effect and thermal comfort, as the thermal storage capacity of artificial materials prevents cooling especially at night (Oke, 2011), which in turn increases the population's exposure to tropical nights ($T_{min} > 20$ °C). In addition, transpiration due to vegetation

functions differs during the night (Konarska et al., 2016). Consequently, the nocturnal thermal load could be included in the assessment. With respect to runoff regulation, it would be interesting to provide information on spatial differences in surface runoff, and local flooding flashpoints. To achieve this, the models would need to be run with a shorter temporal resolution (e.g. 15 minutes), which requires rainfall data at this resolution. It also needs to be coupled in greater detail to the sewage system in order to be able to project system capacities at the same temporal resolution.

The assessment of heat and runoff mitigation synergies presented in this thesis is based on the application of two, comparable, modelling approaches that deliver comparable results on the regulating potential of EbA measures. Both the regulation of heat stress and the regulation of surface runoff are linked by evapotranspiration (compare Chen et al., 2011; Konarska et al., 2016). By taking a similar approach to the calculation of evapotranspirative processes, the simulations could be technically coupled and relevant parameters could be exchanged (i.e. evapotranspiration, soil moisture, water availability).

Moreover, there is increasing demand for research on the multifunctionality of EbA measures. An approach that integrates microclimatic modelling and a thermal building simulation, for example, could provide insights into how EbA measures that are implemented outdoors affect the inside of buildings (e.g. how indoor thermal comfort and energy demand for heating and cooling are affected by shading building surfaces and insulating the building). Such insights can, in turn, be used to calculate CO₂ emissions from buildings, and inform municipal climate mitigation efforts. Several studies have already begun to work on this topic, but are limited by the coverage of UGI types or seasonal differences in energy demand (e.g. Perini et al., 2017; Radhi et al., 2017; Skelhorn et al., 2016).

Finally, any scientific, or quantitative results on the climate change adaptation potential of EbA are insufficient if this knowledge is not transferred to practitioners and used for sustainable transformation in urban planning. There is an obvious need for greater exchange and communication with practitioners and decision-makers in cities to understand what kind of knowledge is actually needed, and at what point in urban planning processes. Changes to institutional frameworks could enable more inter- and transdisciplinary research, and improve mainstreaming pathways.

REFERENCES

- Adger, N. W., Arnell, N. W., Tompkins, E. L. (2005). Successful adaptation to climate change across scales. *Global Environmental Change*, *15*(2), 77-86. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2004.12.005
- Ahern, J. (2011). From fail-safe to safe-to-fail: Sustainability and resilience in the new urban world. *Landscape and Urban Planning, 100*(4), 341-343. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2011.02.021</u>
- Ahiablame, L. M., Engel, B. A., Chaubey, I. (2012). Effectiveness of Low Impact Development Practices: Literature Review and Suggestions for Future Research. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution,* 223(7), 4253-4273. doi: 10.1007/s11270-012-1189-2
- Akbari, H. (2002). Shade trees reduce building energy use and CO2 emissions from power plants. *Environmental Pollution*, 116(1), 119-126.
- Akbari, H., Pomerantz, M., Taha, H. (2001). Cool surfaces and shade trees to reduce energy use and improve air quality in urban areas. *Solar Energy*, 70(3), 295-310. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0038-092X(00)00089-X</u>
- Alavipanah, S., Wegmann, M., Qureshi, S., Weng, Q., Koellner, T. (2015). The Role of Vegetation in Mitigating Urban Land Surface Temperatures: A Case Study of Munich, Germany during the Warm Season. Sustainability, 7(4), 4689.
- Albert, C., von Haaren, C., Galler, C. (2012). Ökosystemdienstleistungen- Alter Wein in neuen Schläuchen oder ein Impuls für die Landschaftsplanung? *Naturschutz und Landschaftsplanung*, 44(5), 142-148.
- Ali-Toudert, F., Mayer, H. (2006). Numerical study on the effects of aspect ratio and orientation of an urban street canyon on outdoor thermal comfort in hot and dry climate. *Building and Environment*, 41(2), 94-108. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2005.01.013</u>
- Allen, R. G., Pereira, L. S., Raes, D., Smith, M. (1998). Crop evapotranspiration Guidelines for computing crop water requirements - FAO Irrigation and drainage paper 56. Rome: FAO - Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Ansel, W., Baumgarten, H., Dickhaut, W., Kruse, E., Meier, R. (2011). Leitfaden Dachbegrünung für Kommunen. Nutzen-Förderungsmöglichkeiten-Praxisbeispiele (Vol. 1. Auflage). Nürtingen: Detuscher Dachgärtner Verband e.V.
- Armson, D., Stringer, P., Ennos, A. R. (2013). The effect of street trees and amenity grass on urban surface water runoff in Manchester, UK. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 12(3), 282-286. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2013.04.001</u>
- Artmann, M. (2014). Assessment of Soil Sealing Management Responses, Strategies, and Targets Toward Ecologically Sustainable Urban Land Use Management. AMBIO, 43(4), 530-541. doi: 10.1007/s13280-014-0511-1
- Baker, I., Peterson, A., Brown, G., McAlpine, C. (2012). Local government response to the impacts of climate change: An evaluation of local climate adaptation plans. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 107(2), 127-136. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2012.05.009</u>
- Beckröge, W. (1990). Dreidimensionaler Aufbau der städtischen Wärmeinsel am Beispiel der Stadt Dortmund *Materialien Raumord 16*. Bochum.
- Benedict, M. E., McMahon, E. T. (2002). Green Infrastructure: Smart Conservation for the 21st Century: Sprawl Watch Clearinghouse Monograph Series.
- Benedict, M. E., McMahon, E. T. (2006). Green Infrastructure: Linking Landscapes and Communities. Landscape Ecology, 22(5), 797-798. doi: 10.1007/s10980-006-9045-7
- Berardi, U., Ghaffarian Hoseini, A. H., Ghaffarian Hoseini, A. (2014). State-of-the-art analysis of the environmental benefits of green roofs. *Applied Energy*, *115*, 411-428. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.10.047</u>
- Bolund, P., Hunhammar, S. (1999). Ecosystem services in urban areas. *Ecological Economics*, 29, 293-301.

- Bowler, D. E., Buyung-Ali, L., Knight, T. M., Pullin, A. S. (2010). Urban greening to cool towns and cities: A systematic review of the empirical evidence. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 97(3), 147-155. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2010.05.006</u>
- Bradford, K., Abrahams, L., Hegglin, M., Klima, K. (2015). A Heat Vulnerability Index and Adaptation Solutions for Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 49(19), 11303-11311. doi: 10.1021/acs.est.5b03127
- Bridgman, H., Warner, R., Dodsen, J. (1995). Urban Biophysical Environments. Melbourne and New York: Oxford University Press.
- Brink, E., Aalders, T., Ádám, D., Feller, R., Henselek, Y., Hoffmann, A., Ibe, K., Matthey-Doret, A., Meyer, M., Negrut, N. L., Rau, A.-L., Riewerts, B., von Schuckmann, L., Törnros, S., von Wehrden, H., Abson, D. J., Wamsler, C. (2016). Cascades of green: A review of ecosystembased adaptation in urban areas. *Global Environmental Change*, 36, 111-123. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2015.11.003</u>
- Bruse, M., Environmental Modelling Group. (2015a). ENVI-met. Retrieved 2015/02/01, from http://envi-met.info/
- Bruse, M., Environmental Modelling Group. (2015b). Obtaining leaf area density data the hitchhiker's guide to ENVI-met. Retrieved 2015/08/18, from <u>http://www.envi-met.info/hg2e/doku.php?id=kb:lad</u>
- Bruse, M., Fleer, H. (1998). Simulating surface-plant-air interactions inside urban environments with a three dimensional numerical model. *Environmental Modelling & Software, 13*(3–4), 373-384. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1364-8152(98)00042-5
- Buchin, O., Hoelscher, M.-T., Meier, F., Nehls, T., Ziegler, F. (2016). Evaluation of the health-risk reduction potential of countermeasures to urban heat islands. *Energy and Buildings*, 114, 27-37. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2015.06.038</u>
- Bundesamt für Naturschutz (BfN). (2012). Ökosystembasierte Ansätze zur Klimaanpassung und zum Klimaschutz im deutschsprachigen Raum BfN Projekt. Retrieved 29/06/2015, from <u>http://www.ecologic.eu/de/7545</u>
- Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz, Bau und Reaktorsicherheit (BMUB). (2015). Grün in der Stadt - Für eine lebenswerte Zukunft. Grünbuch Stadtgrün. Berlin, Germany: Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz, Bau und Reaktorsicherheit (BMUB).
- Butts, M. B., Graham, D. N. (2005). Flexible Integrated Watershed Modeling with MIKE SHE *Watershed Models* (pp. 245-271): CRC Press.
- Cameron, R. W. F., Taylor, J. E., Emmett, M. R. (2014). What's 'cool' in the world of green façades? How plant choice influences the cooling properties of green walls. *Building and Environment*, 73, 198-207. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2013.12.005</u>
- Chen, D., Wang, X., Thatcher, M., Barnett, G., Kachenko, A., Prince, R. (2014). Urban vegetation for reducing heat related mortality. *Environmental Pollution*, 192(0), 275-284. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2014.05.002</u>
- Chen, L., Zhang, Z., Li, Z., Tang, J., Caldwell, P., Zhang, W. (2011). Biophysical control of whole tree transpiration under an urban environment in Northern China. *Journal of Hydrology*, 402(3–4), 388-400. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2011.03.034</u>
- Chong, J. (2014). Ecosystem-based approaches to climate change adaptation: progress and challenges. International Environmental Agreements: Politics, Law and Economics, 14(4), 391-405. doi: 10.1007/s10784-014-9242-9
- City of Copenhagen. (2011). Copenhagen Climate Adaptation Plan. Copenhagen.
- Coombes, E., Jones, A. P., Hillsdon, M. (2010). The relationship of physical activity and overweight to objectively measured green space accessibility and use. *Social Science & Medicine*, 70(6), 816-822. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.11.020</u>
- Coumou, D., Robinson, A. (2013). Historic and future increase in the global land area affected by monthly heat extremes. *Environmental Research Letters*, 8(3), 034018.
- Cowling, R. M., Egoh, B., Knight, A. T., O'Farrell, P. J., Reyers, B., Rouget, M., Roux, D. J., Welz, A., Wilhelm-Rechman, A. (2008). An operational model for mainstreaming ecosystem services for implementation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(28), 9483-9488. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0706559105

- Czemiel Berndtsson, J. (2010). Green roof performance towards management of runoff water quantity and quality: A review. *Ecological Engineering*, 36(4), 351-360. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2009.12.014</u>
- Daanen, H. A., Jonkhoff, W., Bosch, P., ten Broeke, H. (2013). *The effect of global warming and urban heat islands on mortality, morbidity and productivity in the Netherlands*. Paper presented at the 15th International Conference on Environmental Ergonomics, 2013.
- Daily, G. C. (1997). *Nature's services. Societal dependence on natural ecosystems.* Washington, DC.: Island Press.
- Davies, C., Hansen, R., Rall, E., Pauleit, S., Lafortezza, R., De Bellis, Y., Santos, A., Tosics, I. (2015). The status of European green space planning and implementation based on an analysis of selected European city-regions. In E. F. p. G. SURGE (Ed.), *Green Infrastructure Planning And Implementation* (Vol. Deliverable D5.1).
- Davies, Z. G., Edmondson, J. L., Heinemeyer, A., Leake, J. R., Gaston, K. J. (2011). Mapping an urban ecosystem service: quantifying above-ground carbon storage at a city-wide scale. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 48(5), 1125-1134. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2664.2011.02021.x
- Delshammar, T., Östberg, J., Öxell, C. (2015). Urban Trees and Ecosystem Disservices A Pilot Study Using Complaints Records from Three Swedish Cities. *Arboriculture & Urban Forestry Online*, *41*(4), 187-193.
- Demuzere, M., Orru, K., Heidrich, O., Olazabal, E., Geneletti, D., Orru, H., Bhave, A. G., Mittal, N., Feliu, E., Faehnle, M. (2014). Mitigating and adapting to climate change: Multi-functional and multi-scale assessment of green urban infrastructure. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 146(0), 107-115. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2014.07.025
- Deutsche Bundesregierung. (2011). Aktionsplan Anpassung der Deutschen Anpassungsstrategie an den Klimawandel.
- Deutsche Gartenamtsleiterkonferenz e.V. (GALK). (2012). GALK Straßenbaumliste 2012. Retrieved 2017/03/02, from <u>http://www.galk.de/arbeitskreise/ak_stadtbaeume/webprojekte/sbliste/</u>
- Deutscher Wetterdienst (DWD). (2015). Klimatologische Kenntage. Retrieved 01.04.2015, from <u>http://www.deutscher-wetterdienst.de/lexikon/index.htm?ID=K&DAT=Klimatologische-Kenntage</u>
- Deutscher Wetterdienst (DWD). (2016a). Jahresrückblick des Deutschen Wetterdienstes: Deutschlandwetter im Jahr 2016. *Pressemitteilung*. Retrieved 17/03/2017, from <u>http://www.dwd.de/DE/presse/pressemitteilungen/DE/2016/20161229_deutschlandwetter_jahr2016.pdf?_blob=publicationFile&v=3</u>
- Deutscher Wetterdienst (DWD). (2016b). Starkregen. Retrieved 10/03/2017, from https://www.dwd.de/DE/service/lexikon/begriffe/S/Starkregen.html
- DHI Water & Environment. (2016). MIKE SHE User manual, Volume 2: Reference guide. Hørsholm: DHI Water & Environment.
- Doswald, N., Estrella, M. (2015). Promoting ecosystems for disaster risk reduction and climate change adaptation: opportunities for integration *UNEP discussion paper*: UNEP Post-Conflict and Disaster Management Branch.
- Doswald, N., Munroe, R., Roe, D., Giuliani, A., Castelli, I., Stephens, J., Moller, I., Spencer, T., Vira, B., Reid, H. (2014). Effectiveness of ecosystem-based approaches for adaptation: review of the evidence-base. *Climate and Development*, 6(2), 185-201. doi: 10.1080/17565529.2013.867247
- Doswald, N., Osti, M. (2011). Ecosystem-based approaches to adaptation and mitigation good practice examples and lessons learned in Europe *BfN-Skripten* (Vol. 306). Bonn: Bundesamt für Naturschutz.
- Douglas, I. (1983). The Urban Environment. London: Edward Arnold.
- Eggermont, H., Balian, E., Azevedo, J. M. N., Beumer, V., Brodin, T., Claudet, J., Fady, B., Grube, M., Keune, H., Lamarque, P., Reuter, K., Smith, M., van Ham, C., Weisser, W. W., Le Roux, X. (2015). Nature-based Solutions: New Influence for Environmental Management and Research in Europe. *Gaia-Ecological Perspectives for Science and Society*, 24(4), 243-248.
- Endreny, T. (2008). Naturalizing urban watershed hydrology to mitigate urban heat-island effects. *Hydrological Processes*, 22(3), 461-463. doi: 10.1002/hyp.6966
- Endreny, T. A. (2006). Land Use and Land Cover Effects on Runoff Processes: Urban and Suburban Development *Encyclopedia of Hydrological Sciences*: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Ennos, R. (2010). Urban cool. *Physics World*, 23(08), 22.

- European Commission (EC). (2009). White paper: Adapting to climate change: Towards a European framework for action. Brussels: European Commission.
- European Commission (EC). (2013a). An EU Strategy on adaptation to climate change COMMUNICATION FROM THE COMMISSION TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT, THE COUNCIL, THE EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COMMITTEE AND THE COMMITTEE OF THE REGIONS. Brussels: European Commission.
- European Commission (EC). (2013b). Green infrastructure Enhancing Europe's natural capital Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. Brussels: European Commission.
- European Commission (EC). (2015). Towards an EU Research and Innovation policy agenda for Nature-Based Solutions & Re-Naturing Cities. Final Report of the Horizon 2020 Expert Group on 'Nature-Based Solutions and Re-Naturing Cities' Directorate-General for Research and Innovation. Luxembourg: European Union.
- European Environment Agency (EEA). (2015). Exploring nature-based solutions. The role of green infrastructure in mitigating the impacts of weather- and climate change-related natural hazards. In EEA (Ed.), *Technical Report* (Vol. 12/2015). Copenhagen, Denmark: EEA.
- European Environmental Agency (EEA). (2012). Urban adaptation to climate change in Europe Challenges and opportunities for cities together with supportive national and European policies *EEA report* (Vol. 2/2012): EEA.
- Fahmy, M., Sharples, S., Yahiya, M. (2010). LAI based trees selection for mid latitude urban developments: A microclimatic study in Cairo, Egypt. *Building and Environment*, 45(2), 345-357. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2009.06.014</u>
- Fallmann, J., Emeis, S., Suppan, P. (2014). Mitigation of urban heat stress a modeling case study for the area of Stuttgart. *DIE ERDE J. Geogr. Soc. Berl.*, 144(3-4), 202-216. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.12854/erde.v144i3-4.75</u>
- Fenner, D., Meier, F., Scherer, D., Polze, A. (2014). Spatial and temporal air temperature variability in Berlin, Germany, during the years 2001–2010. Urban Climate, 10, Part 2, 308-331. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.uclim.2014.02.004</u>
- Fletcher, T. D., Andrieu, H., Hamel, P. (2013). Understanding, management and modelling of urban hydrology and its consequences for receiving waters: A state of the art. *Advances in Water Resources*, 51(0), 261-279. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.advwatres.2012.09.001</u>
- Fletcher, T. D., Shuster, W., Hunt, W. F., Ashley, R., Butler, D., Arthur, S., Trowsdale, S., Barraud, S., Semadeni-Davies, A., Bertrand-Krajewski, J.-L., Mikkelsen, P. S., Rivard, G., Uhl, M., Dagenais, D., Viklander, M. (2014). SUDS, LID, BMPs, WSUD and more – The evolution and application of terminology surrounding urban drainage. *Urban Water Journal*, 1-18. doi: 10.1080/1573062X.2014.916314
- Forschungsgesellschaft Landschaftsentwicklung Landschaftsbau e.V. (FLL). (2015). Empfehlungen für Baumpflanzungen - Teil 1: Planung, Pflanzarbeiten, Pflege (Vol. 2. Auflage). Bonn: Forschungsgesellschaft Landschaftsentwicklung Landschaftsbau e.V. (FLL).
- Foster, J., Lowe, A., Winkelman, S. (2011). The value of green infrastructure for urban climate adaptation. Washington, D.C., USA: Center for Clean Air Policy.
- Füssel, H. M. (2007). Adaptation planning for climate change: concepts, assessment approaches, and key lessons. *Sustainability Science*, 2(2), 265-275. doi: 10.1007/s11625-007-0032-y
- Gabriel, K. M. A., Endlicher, W. R. (2011). Urban and rural mortality rates during heat waves in Berlin and Brandenburg, Germany. *Environmental Pollution*, 159(8–9), 2044-2050. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2011.01.016</u>
- Gaffin, S. R., Rosenzweig, C., Kong, A. Y. Y. (2012). Adapting to climate change through urban green infrastructure. *Nature Clim. Change*, *2*(10), 704-704.
- Geneletti, D., Zardo, L. (2016). Ecosystem-based adaptation in cities: An analysis of European urban climate adaptation plans. *Land Use Policy*, 50, 38-47. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2015.09.003</u>
- Getter, K. L., Rowe, D. B. (2006). The Role of Extensive Green Roofs in Sustainable Development. *HortScience*, 41(5), 1276-1285.

- Gill, S. E., Handley, J. F., Ennos, A. R., Pauleit, S. (2007). Adapting cities for climate change: The role of green infrastructure. *Built Environment*, *33*(1), 115-133.
- Gill, S. E., Handley, J. F., Ennos, A. R., Pauleit, S., Theuray, N., Lindley, S. J. (2008). Characterising the urban environment of UK cities and towns: A template for landscape planning. *Landscape* and Urban Planning, 87(3), 210-222. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2008.06.008
- Gillner, S., Vogt, J., Tharang, A., Dettmann, S., Roloff, A. (2015). Role of street trees in mitigating effects of heat and drought at highly sealed urban sites. *Landscape and Urban Planning, 143*, 33-42. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2015.06.005
- Girot, P., Ehrhart, C., Oglethorpe, J. (2012). Integrating Community and Ecosystem-based Approaches in Climate Change Adaptation Responses. In ELAN (Ed.).
- Gómez-Baggethun, E., Barton, D. N. (2013). Classifying and valuing ecosystem services for urban
planning.*EcologicalEconomics*,
Beconomics,
86(0),*235-245*.doi:
doi:
doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2012.08.019
- Gómez-Baggethun, E., de Groot, R., Lomas, P. L., Montes, C. (2010). The history of ecosystem services in economic theory and practice: From early notions to markets and payment schemes. *Ecological Economics*, 69(6), 1209-1218. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2009.11.007
- Gregoire, B. G., Clausen, J. C. (2011). Effect of a modular extensive green roof on stormwater runoff and water quality. *Ecological Engineering*, 37(6), 963-969. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2011.02.004</u>
- Grothues, E., Köllner, B., Ptak, D., Dalelane, C., Deutschländer, T., Ertel, H., Hafer, M., Halbig, G., Kesseler-Lauterkorn, T., Koch, C., Koßmann, M., Malitz, G., Roll, O., Schmitt, A., Weigl, E., Winterrath, T., Hartwig, C., Wieczorrek, Y., Rüsing, F., Schwerdorf, I. (2013). Klimawandelgerechte Metropole Köln, Abschlussbericht *Fachbericht 50*. Recklinghausen: Landesamt für Natur, Umwelt und Verbraucherschutz Nordrhein-Westfalen.
- Haase, D., Schwarz, N., Strohbach, M. W., Kroll, F., Seppelt, R. (2012). Synergies, trade-offs, and losses of ecosystem services in urban regions: an integrated multiscale framework applied to the Leipzig-Halle region, Germany. *Ecology and Society*, 17(3), 22.
- Hall, J. M., Handley, J. F., Ennos, A. R. (2012). The potential of tree planting to climate-proof high density residential areas in Manchester, UK. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 104(3–4), 410-417. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2011.11.015</u>
- Hallegatte, S. (2009). Strategies to adapt to an uncertain climate change. *Global Environmental Change*, 19(2), 240-247. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2008.12.003
- Hallegatte, S., Lecocq, F., De Perthuis, C. (2011). *Designing climate change adaptation policies: An economic framework*.
- Hansen, R., Frantzeskaki, N., McPhearson, T., Rall, E., Kabisch, N., Kaczorowska, A., Kain, J.-H., Artmann, M., Pauleit, S. (2014). The uptake of the ecosystem services concept in planning discourses of European and American cities. *Ecosystem Services*. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2014.11.013</u>
- Hansen, R., Pauleit, S. (2014). From Multifunctionality to Multiple Ecosystem Services? A Conceptual Framework for Multifunctionality in Green Infrastructure Planning for Urban Areas. AMBIO, 43(4), 516-529. doi: 10.1007/s13280-014-0510-2
- Hansen, R., Rolf, W., Pauleit, S., Born, D., Bartz, R., Kowarik, I., Lindschulte, K., Becker, C. W., Schröder, A. (2017). Urbane grüne Infrastruktur: Grundlage für attraktive und zukunftsfähige Städte. Hinweise für die kommunale Praxis F+E-Vorhaben "Grüne Infrastruktur im urbanen Raum: Grundlagen, Planung und Umsetzung in der integrierten Stadtentwicklung" (FKZ 3515820800). Bonn: Bundesamt für Naturschutz (BfN).
- Hansen, R., Rolf, W., Santos, A., Luz, A., Szaraz, L., Tosics, I., Vierikko, K., Davies, C., Rall, E., Pauleit, S. (2016). Advanced urban green infrastructure planning and implementation. In EU FP7 project GREEN SURGE (Ed.), *Deliverable D5.2*.
- Harlan, S. L., Brazel, A. J., Prashad, L., Stefanov, W. L., Larsen, L. (2006). Neighborhood microclimates and vulnerability to heat stress. *Social Science & Medicine*, 63(11), 2847-2863. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2006.07.030</u>

- Henze, L. (2016). Assessing the potential of green infrastructure to control urban surface runoff Modelling a case scenario with MIKE SHE. (Master of Science Master thesis), Technical University of Munich, Freising.
- Hiemstra, J. A., Saaroni, H., Amorim, J. H. (2017). The Urban Heat Island: Thermal Comfort and the Role of Urban Greening. In D. Pearlmutter, C. Calfapietra, R. Samson, L. O'Brien, S. Krajter Ostoić, G. Sanesi, & R. Alonso del Amo (Eds.), *The Urban Forest: Cultivating Green Infrastructure for People and the Environment* (pp. 7-19). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Holschemacher, K. E. (2015). *Entwurfs- und Berechnungstafeln für Bauingenieure* (Vol. 7. Auflage). Berlin: Bauwerk Beuth.
- Höppe, P. (1999). The physiological equivalent temperature a universal index for the biometeorological assessment of the thermal environment. *International Journal of Biometeorology*, 43(2), 71-75. doi: 10.1007/s004840050118
- Hoyer, J., Dickhaut, W., Kronawitter, L., Weber, B. (2011). Water sensitive urban design. Principles and inspiration for sustainable stormwater management in the city of the future. Berlin.
- Huttner, S. (2012). Further development and application of the 3D microclimate simulation ENVI-met. Johannes Gutenberg-Universität, Mainz. Retrieved from <u>http://ubm.opus.hbz-nrw.de/volltexte/2012/3112</u>
- ICLEI. (2010). Changing climate, changing communities Guide and workbook for municipal climate adaptation. Canada: ICLEI Local Governments for Sustainability.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). (2007). Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. In S. Solomon, D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K. B. Averyt, M. Tignor, & H. L. Miller (Eds.). Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). (2012). Managing the risks of extreme events and disasters to advance climate change adaptation. A special report of Working Groups I and II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK, and New York, NY, USA: IPCC.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). (2014). Climate Change 2014 Synthesis Report Summary for Policy Makers: IPCC.
- International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN). (2009). No time to lose: Make full use of nature-based solutions in the post-2012 climate change regime. Position paper on the Fifteenth session of the Conference of the Parties to the Unit-ed Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (COP 15). Gland: IUCN.
- Jaber, F. H., Shukla, S. (2012). MIKE SHE: MODEL USE, CALIBRATION, AND VALIDATION. *Transactions of the Asabe, 55*(4), 1479-1489.
- Jacob, D. (2009). Regional Climate Models: Linking Global Climate Change to Local Impacts. In R. A. Meyers (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Complexity and Systems Science* (pp. 7591-7602). New York, NY: Springer New York.
- Jänicke, B., Meier, F., Hoelscher, M.-T., Scherer, D. (2014). Evaluating the Effects of Facade Greening on Human Bioclimate in a Complex Urban Environment. *Advances in Meteorology, vol. 2015* (Article ID 747259), 15 pages. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2015/747259</u>
- Jayasooriya, V. M., Ng, A. W. M. (2014). Tools for Modeling of Stormwater Management and Economics of Green Infrastructure Practices: a Review. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution, 225*(8), 1-20. doi: 10.1007/s11270-014-2055-1
- Jendritzky, G. (1990). Bioklimatische Bewertungsgrundlage der Räume am Beispiel von mesoskaligen Bioklimakarten. In G. Jendritzky, H. Schirmer, G. Menz, & W. Schmidt-Kessen (Eds.), Methode zur raumbezogenen Bewertung der thermischen Komponente im Bioklima des Menschen (Fortgeschriebenes Klima-Michel-Modell) (Vol. 114, pp. 7-69). Hannover: Akad. f. Raumforschung u. Landesplanung.
- Jendritzky, G., de Dear, R., Havenith, G. (2012). UTCI—Why another thermal index? International Journal of Biometeorology, 56(3), 421-428. doi: 10.1007/s00484-011-0513-7

- Jendritzky, G., Sönning, W., Swantes, H. J. (1979). Ein objektives Bewertungsverfahren zur Beschreibung des thermischen Milieus in der Stadt- und Landschaftsplanung ("Klima-Michel-Modell"). Akad. f. Raumforschung u. Landesplanung, 28, 85.
- Jiang, P., Xu, B., Geng, Y., Dong, W., Chen, Y., Xue, B. (2016). Assessing the environmental sustainability with a co-benefits approach: a study of industrial sector in Baoshan District in Shanghai. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *114*, 114-123. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.07.159
- Johannessen, Å., Wamsler, C. (2017). What does resilience mean for urban water services? *Ecology* and Society, 22(1). doi: 10.5751/ES-08870-220101
- Jones, H. P., Hole, D. G., Zavaleta, E. S. (2012). Harnessing nature to help people adapt to climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, *2*, 504-509. doi: 10.1038/nclimate1463
- Kabisch, N., Haase, D. (2013). Green spaces of European cities revisited for 1990–2006. Landscape and Urban Planning, 110(0), 113-122. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2012.10.017
- Keilholz, P., Disse, M., Halik, Ü. (2015). Effects of Land Use and Climate Change on Groundwater and Ecosystems at the Middle Reaches of the Tarim River Using the MIKE SHE Integrated Hydrological Model. *Water*, 7(6), 3040.
- Kjelgren, R. K., Clark, J. R. (1992). Microclimates and Tree Growth in Three Urban Spaces. *Journal* of Environmental Horticulture, 10 (3), 139-145.
- Klemm, W., Heusinkveld, B. G., Lenzholzer, S., van Hove, B. (2015). Street greenery and its physical and psychological impact on thermal comfort. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, *138*, 87-98. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2015.02.009
- Köhler, M. (2008). Green facades—a view back and some visions. Urban Ecosystems, 11(4), 423. doi: 10.1007/s11252-008-0063-x
- Konarska, J., Lindberg, F., Larsson, A., Thorsson, S., Holmer, B. (2014). Transmissivity of solar radiation through crowns of single urban trees—application for outdoor thermal comfort modelling. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, 117(3), 363-376. doi: 10.1007/s00704-013-1000-3
- Konarska, J., Uddling, J., Holmer, B., Lutz, M., Lindberg, F., Pleijel, H., Thorsson, S. (2016). Transpiration of urban trees and its cooling effect in a high latitude city. *International Journal* of Biometeorology, 60(1), 159-172. doi: 10.1007/s00484-015-1014-x
- KOSTRA-DWD. (2000). Niederschlagshöhen und -spenden nach KOSTRA-DWD 2000. In D. W. D.-. Hydrometeorologie (Ed.). Hannover: ITWH GmbH.
- Kovats, R. S., Hajat, S. (2008). Heat Stress and Public Health: A Critical Review. Annual Review of Public Health, 29(1), 41-55. doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.29.020907.090843
- Kristensen, K. J., Jensen, S. E. (1975). A MODEL FOR ESTIMATING ACTUAL EVAPOTRANSPIRATION FROM POTENTIAL EVAPOTRANSPIRATION. *Hydrology Research*, 6(3), 170-188.
- Kruse, E. (2016). Kopenhagen: Vorreiter beim Thema "Überflutungsvorsorge". Korrespondenz Wasserwirtschaft, 9 (Nr. 11).
- Kuttler, W. (2010). Urbanes Klima, Teil 1. Gefahrstoffe Reinhaltung der Luft, 70 (7/8), 329-340.
- Lafortezza, R., Carrus, G., Sanesi, G., Davies, C. (2009). Benefits and well-being perceived by people visiting green spaces in periods of heat stress. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, 8(2), 97-108. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2009.02.003</u>
- Lafortezza, R., Davies, C., Sanesi, G., Konijnendijk, C. (2013). Green Infrastructure as a tool to support spatial planning in European urban regions. *iForest Biogeosciences and Forestry, 6* (3), 102-108. doi: 10.3832ifor0723-006
- Lalic, B., Mihailovic, D. T. (2004). An Empirical Relation Describing Leaf-Area Density inside the Forest for Environmental Modeling. *Journal of Applied Meteorology*, 43(4), 641-645. doi: 10.1175/1520-0450(2004)043<0641:AERDLD>2.0.CO;2
- Landeshauptstadt München. (2015). Strukturtypenkartierungen 1998 und 2011. Retrieved 01/05/2015, from http://maps.muenchen.de/rgu/strukturtypen
- Landeshauptstadt München. (2016a). Standortkundliche Bodenkarte. Bodenkarte für den Großraum München. Retrieved 21/11/2016, from <u>http://maps.muenchen.de/rgu/bodenkarte</u>

- Landeshauptstadt München. (2016b). Zusätzliche Technische Vorschriften für die Herstellung und Anwendung verbesserter Vegetationstragschichten. ZTV-Vegtra-Mü. Ausgabe 2016. München: Landeshauptstadt München Baureferat Gartenamt.
- Landeshauptstadt München. (2017). Stadtklimaanalyse. Retrieved 11/03/2017, from <u>https://www.muenchen.de/rathaus/Stadtverwaltung/Referat-fuer-Gesundheit-und-</u> <u>Umwelt/Stadtklima/Stadtklimaanalyse.html</u>
- Larondelle, N., Haase, D., Kabisch, N. (2014). Mapping the diversity of regulating ecosystem services in European cities. *Global Environmental Change*, 26(0), 119-129. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2014.04.008
- Lee, H., Mayer, H., Chen, L. (2016). Contribution of trees and grasslands to the mitigation of human heat stress in a residential district of Freiburg, Southwest Germany. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, *148*, 37-50. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2015.12.004</u>
- Lee, J. G., Selvakumar, A., Alvi, K., Riverson, J., Zhen, J. X., Shoemaker, L., Lai, F.-h. (2012). A watershed-scale design optimization model for stormwater best management practices. *Environmental Modelling & Software, 37*, 6-18. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2012.04.011</u>
- Lehmann, P., Brenck, M., Gebhardt, O., Schaller, S., Süßbauer, E. (2015). Barriers and opportunities for urban adaptation planning: analytical framework and evidence from cities in Latin America and Germany. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, 20(1), 75-97. doi: 10.1007/s11027-013-9480-0
- Li, D., Bou-Zeid, E., Oppenheimer, M. (2014). The effectiveness of cool and green roofs as urban heat island mitigation strategies. *Environmental Research Letters*, 9(5), 055002.
- Libbe, J., Nickel, D., Bock, S., Langer, M., Wilhelm, C., Beißwenger, K.-D. (2017). Wasserinfrastrukturen für die zukunftsfähige Stadt - Beiträge aus der INIS Forschung: Deutsches Institut für Urbanistik gGmbH (Difu).
- Lindberg, F., Grimmond, C. S. B. (2011a). The influence of vegetation and building morphology on shadow patterns and mean radiant temperatures in urban areas: model development and evaluation. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, *105*(3), 311-323. doi: 10.1007/s00704-010-0382-8
- Lindberg, F., Grimmond, C. S. B. (2011b). Nature of vegetation and building morphology characteristics across a city: Influence on shadow patterns and mean radiant temperatures in London. *Urban Ecosystems*, 14(4), 617-634. doi: 10.1007/s11252-011-0184-5
- Lloyd, S. D., Wong, T. H. F., Chesterfield, C. J. (2002). Water sensitive urban design a stormwater management perspective *Industry Report* (Vol. 02/10). Melbourne: Cooperative Research Centre for Catchment Hydrology.
- Lobaccaro, G., Acero, J. A. (2015). Comparative analysis of green actions to improve outdoor thermal comfort inside typical urban street canyons. *Urban Climate, 14, Part 2*, 251-267. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.uclim.2015.10.002</u>
- Loftus, A. C., Howe, C., Anton, B., Philip, R., Morchain, D. (2011). Adapting urban waters to climate change a handbook for decision makers at the local level. Freiburg: ICLEI European Secretariat GmbH.
- Lösken, G., Bott, P., Fischer, P., Köhler, M., Krupka, B., Liesecke, H.-J., Mann, G., Raisch, W., Roth-Kleyer, S., Ruttensperger, S., Schenk, D., Schuhmann, V., Upmeier, M., Zühlke, H. (2008).
 Richtlinie für die Planung, Ausführung und Pflege von Dachbegrünungen Dachbegrünungsrichtlinie, Ausgabe 2008. Bonn: Forschungsgesellschaft Landschaftsentwicklung Landschaftsbau e.V. (FLL).
- Loughnan, M., Trapper, N., Phan, T., Lynch, K., McInnes, J. (2013). A spatial vulnerability analysis of urban populations during extreme heat events in Australian capital cities. Gold Coast: National Climate Change Adaptation Research Facility.
- Lovell, S., Taylor, J. (2013). Supplying urban ecosystem services through multifunctional green infrastructure in the United States. *Landscape Ecology*, 28(8), 1447-1463. doi: 10.1007/s10980-013-9912-y
- Lyytimäki, J. (2014). Bad nature: Newspaper representations of ecosystem disservices. *Urban Forestry* & *Urban Greening*, *13*(3), 418-424. doi: <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2014.04.005</u>

- Lyytimäki, J., Sipilä, M. (2009). Hopping on one leg The challenge of ecosystem disservices for urban green management. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 8(4), 309-315. doi: http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2009.09.003
- Ma, L., He, C., Bian, H., Sheng, L. MIKE SHE modeling of ecohydrological processes: Merits, applications, and challenges. *Ecological Engineering*. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2016.01.008
- MacKinnon, K., Sobrevila, C., Hickey, V. (2008). Biodiversity, climate change and adaptation: Naturebased solutions from the Word Bank portfolio. In T. W. B. The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (Ed.). Washington, DC.
- Maes, J., Jacobs, S. (2015). Nature-Based Solutions for Europe's Sustainable Development. *Conservation Letters*, n/a-n/a. doi: 10.1111/conl.12216
- Manso, M., Castro-Gomes, J. (2015). Green wall systems: A review of their characteristics. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 41, 863-871. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2014.07.203</u>
- Mathey, J., Rößler, S., Lehmann, I., Bräuer, A., Goldberg, V., Kurbjuhn, C., Westbeld, A. (2011). Noch wärmer, noch trockener? Stadtnatur und Freiraumstrukturen im Klimawandel *Naturschutz und Biologische Vielfalt, Heft 111*. Bonn - Bad Godesberg: Bundesamt für Naturschutz.
- Matthews, T., Lo, A. Y., Byrne, J. A. (2015). Reconceptualizing green infrastructure for climate change adaptation: Barriers to adoption and drivers for uptake by spatial planners. *Landscape and Urban Planning, 138*, 155-163. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2015.02.010</u>
- Matzarakis, A., Mayer, H., Iziomon, M. G. (1999). Applications of a universal thermal index: physiological equivalent temperature. *International Journal of Biometeorology*, 43, 76-84.
- Matzarakis, A., Rutz, F., Mayer, H. (2010). Modelling radiation fluxes in simple and complex environments Basics of the RayMan model. *International Journal of Biometerorology*, 54, 131-139.
- Middel, A., Chhetri, N., Quay, R. (2015). Urban forestry and cool roofs: Assessment of heat mitigation strategies in Phoenix residential neighborhoods. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 14*(1), 178-186. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2014.09.010</u>
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (MA). (2005). Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Synthesis. Washington, DC.
- Miller, J. D., Kim, H., Kjeldsen, T. R., Packman, J., Grebby, S., Dearden, R. (2014). Assessing the impact of urbanization on storm runoff in a peri-urban catchment using historical change in impervious cover. *Journal of Hydrology*, 515, 59-70. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2014.04.011</u>
- Monteith, J. L. (1981). Evaporation and surface temperature. *Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society*, 107(451), 1-27. doi: 10.1002/qj.49710745102
- Mosbrugger, V., Brasseur, G., Schaller, M., Stribryny, B. (2013). Klimawandel und Biodiversität. Folgen für Deutschland. Darmstadt: WBG.
- Moser, A., Rötzer, T., Pauleit, S., Pretzsch, H. (2015). Structure and ecosystem services of small-leaved lime (Tilia cordata Mill.) and black locust (Robinia pseudoacacia L.) in urban environments. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 14(4), 1110-1121. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2015.10.005
- Mualem, Y. (1976). A new model for predicting the hydraulic conductivity of unsaturated porous media. *Water Resources Research*, 12(3), 513-522. doi: 10.1029/WR012i003p00513
- Mukherjee, M., Mahanta, S. (2014). Outdoor thermal comfort a review on the concepts, parameters and methods to evaluate thermal comfort in outdoor spaces. *Architecture Time Space and People, April 2014*.
- Munang, R., Thiaw, I., Alverson, K., Mumba, M., Liu, J., Rivington, M. (2013). Climate change and Ecosystem-based Adaptation: a new pragmatic approach to buffering climate change impacts. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 5(1), 67 - 71. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2012.12.001</u>
- Munroe, R., Roe, D., Doswald, N., Spencer, T., Moller, I., Vira, B., Reid, H., Kontoleon, A., Giuliani, A., Castelli, I., Stephens, J. (2012). Review of the evidence base for ecosystem-based approaches for adaptation to climate change. *Environmental Evidence*, 1(1), 13.

- Nagase, A., Dunnett, N. (2012). Amount of water runoff from different vegetation types on extensive green roofs: Effects of plant species, diversity and plant structure. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 104(3–4), 356-363. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2011.11.001</u>
- Nakicenovic, N., Alcamo, J., Davis, J., de Vries, B., Fenhann, J., Gaffin, S., Gregory, K., Griibler, A., Jung, T., Kram, T., La Rovere, E., Michaelis, L., Mori, S., Morita, T., Pepper, W., Pitcher, H., Price, L., Riahi, K., Roehrl, A., Rogner, H., Sankovski, A., Schlesinger, M., Shukla, P., Smith, S., Swart, R., van Rooijen, S., Victor, N., Dadi, Z. (2000). Special Report on Emissions Scenarios. A Special Report of Working Group III of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. In Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (Ed.). Cambridge.
- Naturkapital Deutschland (TEEB DE). (2014). Naturkapital und Klimapolitik Synergien und Konflikte. Kurzbericht für Entscheidungsträger. Leipzig: Technische Universität Berlin, Helmholtz-Zentrum für Umweltforschung UFZ.
- Naturkapital Deutschland (TEEB DE). (2016). Ökosystemleistungen in der Stadt Gesundheit schützen und Lebensqualität erhöhen. (I. Kowarik, R. Bartz, & M. Brenck Eds.). Berlin, Leipzig: Technische Universität Berlin, Helmholtz-Zentrum für Umweltforschung (UFZ).
- Naumann, S., Anzaldua, G., Berry, P., Burch, S., Davis, M., Frelih Larsen, A., Gerdes, H., Sanders, M. (2011). Assessment of the potential of ecosystem-based approaches to climate change adaptation and mitigation in Europe. In D. E. Final report to the European Commission, Contract no. 070307/2010/580412/SER/B2, Ecologic Institute and Environmental Change Institute (Ed.): Oxford University Centre for the Environment.
- Naumann, S., Kaphengst, T., McFarland, K., Stadler, J. (2014). Nature-based approaches for climate change mitigation and adaptation. The challenges of climate change - partnering with nature. Bonn, Germany: German Federal Agency for Nature Conservation (BfN), Ecologic Institute.
- Nesshöver, C., Assmuth, T., Irvine, K. N., Rusch, G. M., Waylen, K. A., Delbaere, B., Haase, D., Jones-Walters, L., Keune, H., Kovacs, E., Krauze, K., Külvik, M., Rey, F., van Dijk, J., Vistad, O. I., Wilkinson, M. E., Wittmer, H. (2017). The science, policy and practice of nature-based solutions: An interdisciplinary perspective. *Science of The Total Environment*, *579*, 1215-1227. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.11.106</u>
- Ng, E., Chen, L., Wang, Y., Yuan, C. (2012). A study on the cooling effects of greening in a highdensity city: An experience from Hong Kong. *Building and Environment*, 47(0), 256-271. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2011.07.014</u>
- Noble, I. R., Huq, S., Anokhin, Y. A., Carmin, J., Goudou, D., Lansigan, F. P., Osman-Elasha, B., Villarmizar, A. (2014). Adaptation needs and options. In C. B. Field, V. R. Barros, D. J. Dokken, K. J. Mach, M. D. Mastrandrea, T. E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K. L. Ebi, Y. O. Estrada, R. C. Genova, B. Girma, E. S. Kissel, A. N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P. R. Mastrandrea, & L. L. White (Eds.), *Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.* Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- Norgaard, R. B. (2010). Ecosystem services: From eye-opening metaphor to complexity blinder. *Ecological Economics*, 69(6), 1219-1227.
- Norton, B. A., Coutts, A. M., Livesley, S. J., Harris, R. J., Hunter, A. M., Williams, N. S. G. (2015). Planning for cooler cities: A framework to prioritise green infrastructure to mitigate high temperatures in urban landscapes. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 134, 127-138. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2014.10.018</u>
- Ojea, E. (2015). Challenges for mainstreaming Ecosystem-based Adaptation into the international climate agenda. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 14(0), 41-48. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2015.03.006</u>
- Oke, T. R. (1980). Climatic Impacts of Urbanization. In W. Bach, J. Pankrath, & J. Williams (Eds.), Interactions of Energy and Climate: Proceedings of an International Workshop held in Münster, Germany, March 3–6, 1980 (pp. 339-361). Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.
- Oke, T. R. (1982). The energetic basis of the urban heat island. *Quaterly Journal of the Royal* Meteorological Society, 108, 1-24.
- Oke, T. R. (1987). Boundary Layer Climates (Vol. 2nd edition). London: Routeledge.
- Oke, T. R. (2011). Urban heat islands. The Routledge Handbook of Urban Ecology, 120-131.

- Parlow, E. (2003). The urban heat budget derived from satellite data. *Geographica Helvetica*, 58(2), 99-111.
- Pasquini, L., Cowling, R. (2014). Opportunities and challenges for mainstreaming ecosystem-based adaptation in local government: evidence from the Western Cape, South Africa. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 1-20. doi: 10.1007/s10668-014-9594-x
- Pataki, D. E., Carreiro, M. M., Cherrier, J., Grulke, N. E., Jennings, V., Pincetl, S., Pouyat, R. V., Whitlow, T. H., Zipperer, W. C. (2011). Coupling biogeochemical cycles in urban environments: ecosystem services, green solutions, and misconceptions. *Frontiers in Ecology* and the Environment, 9(1), 27-36. doi: 10.1890/090220
- Pauleit, S., Breuste, J. (2011). Land-Use and Surface-Cover as Urban Ecological Indicators. In J. Niemelä, J. Breuste, T. Elmqvist, G. Guntenspergen, P. James, & N. E. McIntyre (Eds.), Urban Ecology: Patterns, Processes, and Applications (pp. 19-30). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Pauleit, S., Duhme, F. (2000). Assessing the environmental performance of land cover types for urban planning. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 52(1), 1-20. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0169-2046(00)00109-2</u>
- Pauleit, S., Hansen, R., Rall, E., Zölch, T., Andersson, E., Luz, A., Szaraz, L., Tosics, I., Vierikko, K. (2017a). Urban Landscapes and Green Infrastructure Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Environmental Science. Oxford: 'Oxford University Press'.
- Pauleit, S., Jones, N., Garcia-Martin, G., Garcia-Valdecantos, J. L., Rivière, L. M., Vidal-Beaudet, L., Bodson, M., Randrup, T. B. (2002). Tree establishment practice in towns and cities – Results from a European survey. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 1(2), 83-96. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1078/1618-8667-00009
- Pauleit, S., Liu, L., Ahern, J., Kasmierczak, A. (2011). Multifunctional green infrastructure planning to promote ecological services in the city. In J. Niemela, J. Breuste, G. Guntenspergen, N. McIntyre, T. Elmqvist, & P. James (Eds.), Urban ecology: Patterns, processes, and applications (pp. 272-286). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Pauleit, S., Zölch, T., Hansen, R., Randrup, T. B., Konijnendijk van den Bosch, C. (2017b). Nature-based Solutions and Climate Change Four Shades of Green. In N. Kabisch, A. Bonn, H. Korn, & J. Stadler (Eds.), *Nature-based Solutions to Climate Change in Urban Areas Linkages of Science, Society and Policy*: Springer.
- Penman, H. L. (1956). Estimating evaporation. *Eos, Transactions American Geophysical Union, 37*(1), 43-50. doi: 10.1029/TR037i001p00043
- Perini, K., Bazzocchi, F., Croci, L., Magliocco, A., Cattaneo, E. (2017). The use of vertical greening systems to reduce the energy demand for air conditioning. Field monitoring in Mediterranean climate. *Energy and Buildings*, 143, 35-42. doi: <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2017.03.036</u>
- Perini, K., Magliocco, A. (2014). Effects of vegetation, urban density, building height, and atmospheric conditions on local temperatures and thermal comfort. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 13(3), 495-506. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2014.03.003</u>
- Perks, J. (2011). Adaptation Strategies for European Cities Final Report. In Ricardo-AEA (Ed.): European Commission Directorate General for Climate Action.
- Perry, B. (1960). Open-Channel Hydraulics. Ven Te Chow. McGraw-Hill, New York, 1959. xviii + 680 pp. Illus. \$17. *Science*, *131*(3408), 1215-1215. doi: 10.1126/science.131.3408.1215-a
- Pfeifer, S., Bülow, K., Gobiet, A., Hänsler, A., Mudelsee, M., Otto, J., Rechid, D., Teichmann, C., Jacob, D. (2015). Robustness of Ensemble Climate Projections Analyzed with Climate Signal Maps: Seasonal and Extreme Precipitation for Germany. *Atmosphere*, 6(5), 677.
- Pfoser, N., Jenner, N., Henrich, J., Heusinger, J., Weber, S. (2013). Gebäude, Begrünung und Energie: Potentiale und Wechselwirkungen. Interdisziplinärer Leitfaden als Planungshilfe zur Nutzung energetischer, klimatischer und gestalterischer Potentiale sowie zu den Wechselwirkungen von Gebäude, Bauwerksbegrünung und Gebäudeumfeld. Abschlussbericht August 2013. Darmstadt: Technische Universität Darmstadt.
- Pramova, E., Locatelli, B., Brockhaus, M., Fohlmeister, S. (2012). Ecosystem services in the National Adaptation Programmes of Action. *Climate Policy*, *12*(4), 393-409. doi: 10.1080/14693062.2011.647848

- Prutsch, A., Felderer, A., Balas, M., König, M., Clar, C., Steurer, R. (2014). Methods and Tools for Adaptation to Climate Change. A Handbook for Provinces, Regions and Cities. Wien: Environment Agency Austria.
- Radhi, H., Sharples, S., Taleb, H., Fahmy, M. (2017). Will cool roofs improve the thermal performance of our built environment? A study assessing roof systems in Bahrain. *Energy and Buildings*, 135, 324-337. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2016.11.048</u>
- Rahman, M. A., Moser, A., Rötzer, T., Pauleit, S. (2017). Microclimatic differences and their influence on transpirational cooling of Tilia cordata in two contrasting street canyons in Munich, Germany. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 232, 443-456. doi: <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2016.10.006</u>
- Rahman, M. A., Smith, J. G., Stringer, P., Ennos, A. R. (2011). Effect of rooting conditions on the growth and cooling ability of Pyrus calleryana. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, 10(3), 185-192. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2011.05.003</u>
- Reacher, M., McKenzie, K., Lane, C., Nichols, T., Kedge, I., Iversen, A., Hepple, P., Walter, T., Laxton, C., Simpson, J. (2004). Health impacts of flooding in Lewes: a comparison of reported gastrointestinal and other illness and mental health in flooded and non-flooded households. *Commun Dis Public Health*, 7(1), 39-46.
- Referat für Gesundheit und Umwelt der Landeshauptstadt München (RGU). (2012). IHKM -Integriertes Handlungsprogramm Klimaschutz in München. Klimaschutzprogramm 2013. Maßnahmenkatalog. München, Germany: Landeshauptstadt München.
- REGKLAM-Konsortium (Hrsg.). (2013). Integriertes Regionales Klimaanpassungsprogramm für die Region Dresden. Grundlagen, Ziele und Maßnahmen *REGKLAM-Publikationsreihe* (Vol. Heft 7). Berlin.
- Revi, A., Satterthwaite, D. E., Aragón-Durand, F., Corfee-Morlot, D., Kiunsi, R. B. R., Pelling, M., Roberts, D. C., Solecki, W. (2014). Urban areas. In C. B. Field, V. R. Barros, D. J. Dokken, K. J. Mach, M. D. Mastrandrea, T. E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K. L. Ebi, Y. O. Estrada, R. C. Genova, B. Girma, E. S. Kissel, A. N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P. R. Mastrandrea, & L. L. White (Eds.), *Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.* Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- Richards, L. A. (1931). Capillary conduction of liquids through porous mediums. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 1(5), 318-333. doi: doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.1745010
- Robine, J.-M., Cheung, S. L. K., Le Roy, S., Van Oyen, H., Griffiths, C., Michel, J.-P., Herrmann, F. R. (2008). Death toll exceeded 70,000 in Europe during the summer of 2003. *Comptes Rendus Biologies*, 331(2), 171-178. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.crvi.2007.12.001</u>
- Roe, E. (1994). Narrative Policy Analysis: Theory and Practice. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.
- Roloff, A. (2013). Bäume in der Stadt. Besonderheiten, Funktion, Nutzen, Arten, Risiken. Stuttgart: Verlag Eugen Ulmer.
- Roth, U. (1980). Wechselwirkungen zwischen der Siedlungsstruktur und Wärmeversorgungssystemen. Bonn: Bundesminister für Raumordnung, Bauwesen und Städtebau.
- Sæbø, A., Borzan, Ž., Ducatillion, C., Hatzistathis, A., Lagerström, T., Supuka, J., García-Valdecantos, J. L., Rego, F., Van Slycken, J. (2005). The Selection of Plant Materials for Street Trees, Park Trees and Urban Woodland. In C. Konijnendijk, K. Nilsson, T. Randrup, & J. Schipperijn (Eds.), Urban Forests and Trees: A Reference Book (pp. 257-280). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Salata, F., Golasi, I., de Lieto Vollaro, R., de Lieto Vollaro, A. (2016). Urban microclimate and outdoor thermal comfort. A proper procedure to fit ENVI-met simulation outputs to experimental data. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, 26, 318-343. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2016.07.005</u>
- Sanders, R. A. (1986). Urban vegetation impacts on the hydrology of Dayton, Ohio. Urban Ecology, 9(3), 361-376. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0304-4009(86)90009-4</u>
- Santamouris, M. (2014). Cooling the cities A review of reflective and green roof mitigation technologies to fight heat island and improve comfort in urban environments. *Solar Energy*, 103(0), 682-703. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.solener.2012.07.003

- Scherer, D. (2017). BMBF-Fördermaßnahme Stadtklima im Wandel. Retrieved 2017/04/13, from <u>http://www.uc2-program.org/index.php?page=start&lan=de</u>
- Scherer, D., Endlicher, W. (2013). Editorial: Urban climate and heat stress Part 1. *Die Erde, 144*(3-4), 175-180. doi: 10.12854/erde-144-13
- Scherer, D., Fehrenbach, U., Beha, H. D., Parlow, E. (1999). Improved concepts and methods in analysis and evaluation of the urban climate for optimizing urban planning processes. *Atmospheric Environment*, 33(24–25), 4185-4193. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1352-2310(99)00161-2</u>
- Scherer, D., Fehrenbach, U., Lakes, T., Lauf, S., Meier, F., Schuster, C. (2013). Quantification of heatstress related mortality hazard, vulnerability and risk in Berlin, Germany. *Die Erde*, 144(3-4), 238-259. doi: 10.12854/erde-144-17
- Schneider, M., Rupp, J., Wirth, V., Teichmann, U., Bründl, W., Kossmann, M., Mühlbacher, G. (2016). Konzept zur Anpassung an die Folgen des Klimawandels in der Landeshauptstadt München. München: Referat für Gesundheit und Umwelt der Landeshauptstadt München.
- Schroll, E., Lambrinos, J., Righetti, T., Sandrock, D. (2011). The role of vegetation in regulating stormwater runoff from green roofs in a winter rainfall climate. *Ecological Engineering*, 37(4), 595-600. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2010.12.020</u>
- Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD). (2009). Connecting Biodiversity and Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation: Report of the Second Ad Hoc Technical Expert Group on Biodiversity and Climate Change. *Technical Series No.41* (pp. 126). Montreal.
- Senatsverwaltung für Stadtentwicklung Berlin. (2011). Stadtentwicklungsplan Klima Urbane Lebensqualität im Klimawandel sichern. Berlin.
- Shashua-Bar, L., Hoffman, M. E. (2000). Vegetation as a climatic component in the design of an urban street: An empirical model for predicting the cooling effect of urban green areas with trees. *Energy and Buildings*, 31(3), 221-235. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0378-7788(99)00018-3</u>
- Simon, H. (2016). Modeling urban microclimate : development, implementation and evaluation of new
and improved calculation methods for the urban microclimate model ENVI-met. (Dissertation),
Mainz. Retrieved from http://unibibliografie.ub.uni-Mainz.Retrieved from http://unibibliografie.ub.uni-
- Sjöman, H., Hirons, A. D., Bassuk, N. L. (2015). Urban forest resilience through tree selection— Variation in drought tolerance in Acer. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, 14(4), 858-865. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2015.08.004
- Sjöman, J. D., Gill, S. E. (2014). Residential runoff The role of spatial density and surface cover, with a case study in the Höjeå river catchment, southern Sweden. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 13(2), 304-314. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2013.10.007
- Sjöman, J. D., Hirons, A., Sjöman, H. (2016). Branch Area Index of Solitary Trees: Understanding Its Significance in Regulating Ecosystem Services. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 45(1), 175-187. doi: 10.2134/jeq2015.02.0069
- Skelhorn, C., Levermore, G., Lindley, S. J. (2016). Impacts on cooling energy consumption due to the UHI and vegetation changes in Manchester, UK. *Energy and Buildings*, 122, 150-159. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2016.01.035</u>
- Skelhorn, C., Lindley, S., Levermore, G. (2014). The impact of vegetation types on air and surface temperatures in a temperate city: A fine scale assessment in Manchester, UK. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 121(0), 129-140. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2013.09.012</u>
- Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Marquis, M., Averyt, K. B., Tignor, M., Miller, H. L., Chen, Z. (2007). Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA: IPCC.
- Statistisches Bundesamt. (2014). Einwohnerzahlen der Großstädte Deutschlands, Stand 31.Dezember 2012. Retrieved 02.01.2015, from <u>http://de.statista.com/statistik/daten/studie/1353/umfrage/einwohnerzahlen-der-grossstaedte-</u> deutschlands/
- Steinrücke, M., Eimer, U., Eggenstein, J., Baumeister, A., Ahlemann, D., Rick, M. (2012). Klimaanpassungskonzept Bochum. Bochum: Geographisches Institut der Ruhr-Universität Bochum.

- Stewart, I. D., Oke, T. R. (2012). LOCAL CLIMATE ZONES FOR URBAN TEMPERATURE STUDIES. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, 93(12), 1879-1900. doi: 10.1175/bams-d-11-00019.1
- Stewart, I. D., Oke, T. R., Krayenhoff, E. S. (2014). Evaluation of the 'local climate zone' scheme using temperature observations and model simulations. *International Journal of Climatology*, 34(4), 1062-1080. doi: 10.1002/joc.3746
- Stiles, R., Gasienica-Wawrytko, B., Hagen, K., Trimmel, H., Loibl, W., Köstl, M., Tötzer, T., Pauleit, S., Schirmann, A., Feilmayr, W. (2014a). Urban Fabric Types and Microclimate Response -Assessment and Design Improvement. Final Report. Vienna.
- Stiles, R., Gasienica-Wawrytko, B., Hagen, K., Trimmel, H., Loibl, W., Köstl, M., Tötzer, T., Pauleit, S., Schirmann, A., Feilmayr, W. (2014b). Urban Fabric Types and Microclimate Response -Assessment and Design Improvement. Final Report. Summary Report. Vienna.
- Stovin, V. (2010). The potential of green roofs to manage Urban Stormwater. *Water and Environment Journal*, 24(3), 192-199. doi: 10.1111/j.1747-6593.2009.00174.x
- Strohbach, M. W., Haase, D. (2012). Above-ground carbon storage by urban trees in Leipzig, Germany: Analysis of patterns in a European city. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 104, 94-104. doi: 10.1016/j.landurbplan.2011.10.001
- Strohbach, M. W., Lerman, S. B., Warren, P. S. (2013). Are small greening areas enhancing bird diversity? Insights from community-driven greening projects in Boston. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 114, 69-79.
- Taha, H. (1997). Urban climates and heat islands: albedo, evapotranspiration, and anthropogenic heat. *Energy and Buildings*, 25(2), 99-103. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0378-7788(96)00999-1</u>
- Taleghani, M., Kleerekoper, L., Tenpierik, M., van den Dobbelsteen, A. (2015). Outdoor thermal comfort within five different urban forms in the Netherlands. *Building and Environment*, 83, 65-78. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2014.03.014</u>
- TEEB The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity. (2011). TEEB Manual for Cities: Ecosystem Services in Urban Management.
- Trinh, D. H., Chui, T. F. M. (2013). Assessing the hydrologic restoration of an urbanized area via an integrated distributed hydrological model. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 17(12), 4789-4801. doi: 10.5194/hess-17-4789-2013
- Twarakavi, N. K. C., Šimůnek, J., Schaap, M. G. (2010). Can texture-based classification optimally classify soils with respect to soil hydraulics? *Water Resources Research*, 46(1), n/a-n/a. doi: 10.1029/2009WR007939
- United States Department of Agriculture (USDA). (1986). Urban hydrology for small watersheds (Vol. Technical release 55). Washington, D.C.: United States Department of Agriculture (USDA).
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). (2004). The use of Best Management Practices (BMPs) in urban watersheds. Washington DC: United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), Office of Research and Development.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). (2017). Storm Water Management Model (SWMM) Version 5.1.012 with Low Impact Development Controls. Retrieved 20/06/2017, from <u>https://www.epa.gov/water-research/storm-water-management-model-swmm</u>
- Uy, N., Shaw, R. (2012). The Role of Ecosystems in Climate Change Adaptation and Disaster Risk Reduction *Ecosystem-Based Adaptation* (pp. 41-59).
- Van Genuchten, M. T. (1980). A closed-form equation for predicting the hydraulic conductivity of unsaturated soils. *Soil science society of America journal, 44*(5), 892-898.
- Vanuytrecht, E., Van Mechelen, C., Van Meerbeek, K., Willems, P., Hermy, M., Raes, D. (2014). Runoff and vegetation stress of green roofs under different climate change scenarios. *Landscape and Urban Planning, 122,* 68-77. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2013.11.001</u>
- Verein Deutscher Ingenieure (VDI). (2008). Environmental meteorology Methods for the human biometeorological evaluation of climate and air quality for urban and regional planning at regional level - Part I: Climate VDI 3787 Blatt 2:2008-11: Beuth Verlag GmbH.
- Vignola, R., Lacatelli, B., Martinez, C., Imbach, P. (2009). Ecosystem-based adaptation to climate change: what role for policy-makers, society and scientists? *Mitigation Adaptation Strategies Global Change*, *14*, 691-696. doi: 10.1007/s11027-009-9193-6

Wamsler, C. (2014). Cities, disaster risk and adaptation. London, UK: Routledge.

- Wamsler, C. (2015). Mainstreaming ecosystem-based adaptation: transformation toward sustainability in urban governance and planning. *Ecology and Society*, 20(2). doi: 10.5751/ES-07489-200230
- Wamsler, C. (2017). Stakeholder involvement in strategic adaptation planning: Transdisciplinarity and co-production at stake? *Environmental Science & Policy*, 75, 148-157. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2017.03.016</u>
- Wamsler, C., Brink, E., Rivera, C. (2013). Planning for climate change in urban areas: from theory to practice. Journal of Cleaner Production, 50(0), 68-81. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2012.12.008</u>
- Wamsler, C., Luederitz, C., Brink, E. (2014). Local levers for change: Mainstreaming ecosystem-based adaptation into municipal planning to foster sustainability transitions. *Global Environmental Change*, 29(0), 189 - 201. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2014.09.008</u>
- Wamsler, C., Niven, L., Beery, T. H., Bramryd, T., Ekelund, N., Jönsson, K. I., Osmani, A., Palo, T., Stålhammar, S. (2016). Operationalizing ecosystem-based adaptation: harnessing ecosystem services to buffer communities against climate change. *Ecology and Society*, 21(1). doi: 10.5751/ES-08266-210131
- Wamsler, C., Pauleit, S. (2016). Making headway in climate policy mainstreaming and ecosystembased adaptation: two pioneering countries, different pathways, one goal. *Climatic Change*, 1-17. doi: 10.1007/s10584-016-1660-y
- Wamsler, C., Pauleit, S., Zölch, T., Schetke, S., Mascharenas, A. (2017). Mainstreaming nature-based solutions for climate change adaptation in urban governance and planning. In N. Kabisch, A. Bonn, H. Korn, & J. Stadler (Eds.), *Nature-based Solutions to Climate Change in Urban Areas* - *Linkages of Science, Society and Policy*: Springer.
- Wang, J., Endreny, T. A., Nowak, D. J. (2008). Mechanistic Simulation of Tree Effects in an Urban Water Balance Model. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 44(1), 75-85. doi: 10.1111/j.1752-1688.2007.00139.x
- Willems, P., Arnbjerg-Nielsen, K., Olsson, J., Nguyen, V. T. V. (2012). Climate change impact assessment on urban rainfall extremes and urban drainage: Methods and shortcomings. *Atmospheric Research*, 103, 106-118. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosres.2011.04.003</u>
- World Meteorological Organization (WMO). (2017). WMO confirms 2016 as hottest year on record, about 1.1°C above pre-industrial era. Retrieved 17/03/2017, from <u>https://public.wmo.int/en/media/press-release/wmo-confirms-2016-hottest-year-record-about-11%C2%B0c-above-pre-industrial-era</u>
- Xiao, Q., McPherson, E. G. (2002). Rainfall interception by Santa Monica's municipal urban forest. *Urban Ecosystems*, 6(4), 291-302. doi: 10.1023/b:ueco.0000004828.05143.67
- Xiao, Q., McPherson, E. G., Ustin, S. L., Grismer, M. E., Simpson, J. R. (2000). Winter rainfall interception by two mature open-grown trees in Davis, California. *Hydrological Processes*, 14(4), 763-784. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1099-1085(200003)14:4<763::AID-HYP971>3.0.CO;2-7
- Zandersen, M., Jensen, A., Termansen, M., Buchholtz, G., Munter, B., Bruun, H. G., Andersen, A. H. (2014). Ecosystem based approaches to Climate Adaptation – Urban Prospects and Barriers (Vol. No. 83): Aarhus University.
- Zebisch, M., Grothmann, T., Schröter, D., Hasse, C., Fritsch, U., Cramer, W. (2005). Klimawandel in Deutschland - Vulnerabilität und Anpassungsstrategien klimasensitiver Systeme *Climate Change* (Vol. 08/05). Dessau: Umweltbundesamt.
- Zhou, B., Rybski, D., Kropp, J. P. (2013). On the statistics of urban heat island intensity. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 40(20), 5486-5491. doi: 10.1002/2013GL057320
- Zhou, Q. (2014). A Review of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems Considering the Climate Change and Urbanization Impacts. *Water*, *6*(4), 976.